
 

 

 

 
Meeting 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Date and Time 
 

Wednesday, 26th May, 2021 at 9.30 am. 

Venue 
 

Walton Suite, Guildhall, Winchester 

 
Note: This meeting is being held in person at the location specified above. In line 
with relevant legislation and public health guidance the following arrangements 
apply. Members of the public should note that a live audio feed of the meeting will be 
available from the councils website (www.winchester.gov.uk ) and the video 
recording will be available shortly after the meeting.  
 
For members of the public who are unable to utilise this facility, a limited number of 
seats will be made available at the above named location however attendance must 
be notified to the council at least 3 clear working days before the meeting.  Please 
note that priority will be given to those wishing to attend and address the meeting 
over those wishing to attend and observe. 
 

AGENDA 
 
PROCEDURAL ITEMS 
 

1.   Appointment of Vice-Chair for 2021/22  
 

2.   Apologies and Deputy Members  
  

To record the names of apologies given and Deputy Members who are attending 
the meeting in place of appointed Members. 
 

3.   Disclosures of Interests  
  

To receive any disclosure of interests from Members and Officers in matters to 
be discussed.  
 
Note: Councillors are reminded of their obligations to declare disclosable 
pecuniary interests, personal and/or prejudicial interests, and on 
Predetermination or Bias in accordance with legislation and the Council’s Code 
of Conduct.  
 
If you require advice, please contact the appropriate Democratic Services 
Officer, prior to the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.winchester.gov.uk/


4.   Membership of Sub-Committees etc  
  

To give consideration to the approval of alternative arrangements for 
appointments to bodies set up by the Committee or the making or terminating of 
such appointments. 
 

5.   Minutes (Pages 9 - 14) 
  

 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 22 April 2021 

 

Public speaking is allowed on individual planning applications, subject to 
certain restrictions – please contact the Public Speaking Co-ordinator as soon 
as possible, but prior to 4.30pm Thursday, 20 May 2021 on (01962) 848 
339 to register to speak and for further details. 

 
 

BUSINESS ITEMS   

  Report 
Number 
 

Ward 

6.   Where appropriate, to accept the Update 
Sheet as an addendum to the Report  
 

  

7.   Planning Applications (WCC Items 8-10) 
(PDC1184 and Update Sheet refers)  
 

PDC1184  

8.   Winnall Flats, Winnall Manor Road, 
Winchester, SO23 0LX  
(Case number: 20/02729/FUL)  
(Pages 15 - 68) 
 

 St 
Bartholomew 

9.   Rutland House, 11 Park Road, Winchester, 
SO22 6AA (Case number: 20/02543/FUL) 
(Pages 69 - 98) 
 

 St 
Bartholomew 

10.   1 Earlsdown, Northbrook Avenue, 
Winchester, SO23 0JW  
(Case number: 20/01581/HOU)  
(Pages 99 - 124) 
 

 St Michael 

11.   Planning Applications (WCC Items 12 - 14) 
(PDC1184 and Update Sheet refers)  

  

 The following items will not be considered 
before 2.00pm: 
 
 

  



(Depending on the Committee’s progress, 
some of the morning’s items may overrun 
into the afternoon session.  Nevertheless, the 
following items will not be considered before 
2.00pm). 
 

12.   Land Off New Road, Swanmore  
(Case number: 19/02421/FUL)  
(Pages 125 - 176) 
 

 Central Meon 
Valley 

13.   Straight Path Paddock, Pricketts Hill, 
Shedfield, Hampshire  
(Case number: 20/02243/FUL)  
(Pages 177 - 198) 
 

 Whiteley & 
Shedfield 

14.   Greenwood Manor, Greenwood Lane, 
Durley, SO32 2AP  
(Case number: 21/00471/HOU)  
(Pages 199 - 224) 
 

 Bishops 
Waltham 

15.   Confirmation of TPO 2294 - Hockley Golf 
Club, Winchester Road, Twyford   
(Pages 225 - 258) 
 

PDC1183 Colden 
Common & 
Twyford 

Lisa Kirkman 
Strategic Director: Resources and Monitoring Officer 

 
All of the Council’s publicly available agendas, reports and minutes are 
available to view and download from the Council’s Website and are also open 
to inspection at the offices of the council.  As part of our drive to minimise our 
use of paper we do not provide paper copies of the full agenda pack at 
meetings. We do however, provide a number of copies of the agenda front 
sheet at the meeting which contains the QR Code opposite. Scanning this 
code enables members of the public to easily access all of the meeting papers 
on their own electronic device. Please hold your device’s camera or QR code 
App over the QR Code so that it's clearly visible within your screen and you 

will be redirected to the agenda pack. 

 

 
18 May 2021 
 
Agenda Contact: Claire Buchanan, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01962 848 438   Email: cbuchanan@winchester.gov.uk 
 
*With the exception of exempt items, Agenda, reports and previous minutes are available on the 
Council’s Website www.winchester.gov.uk 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP – 2021/22 
 
Membership to be appointed at Annual Council on 19 May 2021.  
Quorum = 3 members 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


 
 
THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998: 
 

Please note that the Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for the Council to act 
in a way incompatible with any of the Convention rights protected by the Act unless it 
could not have acted otherwise.  
 
In arriving at the recommendations to grant or refuse permission, careful 
consideration has been given to the rights set out in the European Convention on 
Human Rights including Article 6 (right to a fair trial), Article 8 (right to respect for 
private and family life), Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination in enjoyment of 
convention rights) and Article 1 of the first Protocol (the right to peaceful enjoyment 
of possessions). 
 
The Council is of the opinion that either no such rights have been interfered with or 
where there is an interference with the rights of an applicant or objector, such 
interference is considered necessary for any of the following reasons:- 
 

 The protection of rights and freedoms 

of others 

 Public safety 

 The protection of health or morals 

 The prevention of crime or disorder 

 The economic well being of the 

country. 

 

 
It is also considered that such action is proportional to the legitimate aim and in the 
public interest. 

 
GENERAL GUIDANCE ON THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE: 
 
Background 
 
The Planning Committee meets on average once every four weeks.  The 
membership of the Committee is drawn from elected City Councillors. 
 
The Council’s Constitution states that the vast majority of applications will be 
determined by the Planning officers (which are sometimes known as “delegated 
decisions”).  However, if certain criteria are met from the Constitution, some 
applications (about 5%) are referred to Committee for determination, rather than 
officers. 
 
As part of the Winchester District includes the South Downs National Park (SDNP), 
the Committee can also determine applications from this area on behalf of the 
National Park Authority. 
 



At the meeting 
 
At the start of the Committee meeting, the Councillors and officers will be introduced.  
Any Councillor’s declarations of interest will also be announced at this point.  If the 
interest is considered by the Councillor to be significant, he/she will leave the 
meeting when it reaches that item on the agenda. 
 
Timing 
 
The Committee considers many applications and scrutinises each one thoroughly.  
However, to prevent waiting unnecessarily through other people’s applications, 
where work demands it, agendas will be split into morning and afternoon sessions.  
The morning session will usually start at 9.30am and, where applicable, the agenda 
will set out those items which the Committee will not consider before 2.00pm in the 
afternoon.  Further details are set out below. 
 
The Officer’s presentation 
 
On each item, the planning case officer will introduce the application to the 
Committee.  They will concentrate on showing details of the proposals with the aid of 
projected visual material, including photographs of the site and plans.  The length 
and details of the presentation at the meeting will be proportionate to the nature and 
scale of the proposal.  The officer will make a recommendation to the Committee to 
either approve or refuse the application and, in the latter case, will state the reasons 
for this. 
 
The officer is required to make a recommendation and the presentation will include 
material to explain why the scheme is being recommended for permission or refusal.  
However, officers will not restate the information set out in the report which relates to 
the assessment of the planning merits of the case.  Specialist officers dealing with 
issues such as landscape, design and historic environment may also be available at 
Committee to provide advice on such matters and a legal representative will attend 
all Planning Committee meetings. 
 
Public participation: 
 
There will be a period of public participation, as follows: 

Objectors (3 minutes in total), 

Parish Council representatives (3 minutes), 

Ward Members (local District Councillors)/Cabinet Members (5 minutes each), 

and supporters of the application (3 minutes in total). 
 
The process is controlled by procedures to ensure fairness to both objectors and 
supporters.  To register to speak at the meeting, please contact the Public Speaking 
Co-ordinator on 01962 848 339 by 4:30pm THREE clear working days before the 
meeting, in order to allow the meeting to be managed as efficiently as possible. 
 
For example, if a meeting is held on a Wednesday, the deadline for registering to 
speak would be 4:30pm on the Thursday the preceding week. 
 



Please keep to the time allocated. 
 
After each speaker’s category, there will be an opportunity for the Committee to ask 
questions of the speakers, if the Committee considers it necessary to clarify any 
matters of fact that arise. 
 
Aside from this, the Committee will not enter into any further discussion with 
members of the public. 
 
The names of members of the public etc who have registered to address committee 
meetings will appear in the minutes as part of the public record, which will be 
included on the Council’s website.  Those wishing to address a committee meeting 
who object to their names being made available in this way must notify the 
Democratic Services Officer either when registering to speak, or within 10 days of 
this meeting. 
 
The meeting will be audio streamed on the day and you will be able to listen to the 
meeting as it happens and at the conclusion of the meeting the recording can be 
accessed immediately and is then available for playback thereafter. The audio 
stream is accessed from the meetings page on the Council’s website. 
 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137 
 
Members’ Questions 
 
After the officers’ presentation and public participation there will be an opportunity for 
the Councillors on the Committee to ask questions of the officers and clarification, if 
necessary, of public speakers. 
 
The Councillors’ Debate 
 
The Councillors will then debate the application and may pick up any issues raised 
during public participation before a vote is taken to either; 
 

 permit, 

 refuse or 

 defer (usually for a site visit or for further information).  If a site visit is required 
then the item will usually be deferred to the next meeting of the Committee to 
allow it to be reconsidered after the site visit has been held. The item will be 
reconsidered in its entirety, including public participation where those 
registering to speak will be given the opportunity to address the Committee. 

If the Committee votes against the officer’s recommendation, the reasons for this will 
be discussed and explained.  Usually the precise wording for the reasons for refusal 
will be delegated to the Service Lead Built Environment in consultation with the 
Chair.  A summary of the Committee’s reasons will be included in the minutes. 
 
 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137


Voting: 
 
Every Member has one vote when a matter before the meeting requires a decision.  
In the event of an equality of votes, the Chair may exercise a casting vote and that 
vote may be cast in any way they wish. 
 
A Member may abstain from voting, or vote differently from how they may have 
indicated during the debate, without further explanation.  The way each Member 
voted will not be recorded in the minutes, unless a motion to have a Recorded Vote 
has been passed. 
 
After the meeting 
 
After the meeting, the minutes will be available from the Council’s website and a 
decision notice will be sent to the applicant/agent.  Applicants have a right of appeal 
against a Committee decision to refuse planning permission, or any conditions 
imposed on permission, and any appeal will be considered by an Inspector 
appointed by the Secretary of State.  Where an application has been permitted, there 
is no opportunity for objectors to appeal, other than to the Court by way of judicial 
review on a point of law. 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
 
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the Council’s website. The 
meeting may also be recorded and broadcast by the press and members of the 
public – please see the Access to Information Procedure Rules within the Council's 
Constitution for further information, which is available to view on the Council’s 
website. 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2032&info=1&Ver=4
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2032&info=1&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 22 April 2021 
Attendance: 
 

Councillors 
Evans (Chair) 

 
Rutter 
Clear 
Gordon-Smith 
Laming 
 

McLean 
Read 
Ruffell 
 

 
 
Other Members that addressed the meeting: 

 
Councillors Learney (Cabinet Member for Housing and Asset Management), 
Mather, Tod (Cabinet Member for Service Quality and Transformation) and Weir  

 
Full audio recording and video recording 
 
 

 
1.    APOLOGIES AND DEPUTY MEMBERS  

 
All members were present and in attendance. 
 

2.    DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS  
 
No disclosures of interest were declared. 
 

3.    MEMBERSHIP OF SUB-COMMITTEES ETC  
 
There was no action to report under this item. 
 

4.    MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 24 March 2021 

be approved and adopted. 
 

5.    WHERE APPROPRIATE, TO ACCEPT THE UPDATE SHEET AS AN 
ADDENDUM TO THE REPORT  
 
The committee agreed to receive the Update Sheet as an addendum to Report 
PDC1182. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2499&Ver=4


 
 

 
 

6.    PLANNING APPLICATIONS (WCC ITEMS 7-9) (PDC1182 AND UPDATE 
SHEET REFERS)  
 
A copy of each planning application decision is available to view on the council’s 
website under the respective planning application. 
 
The committee considered the following items: 
 
Applications outside the area of the South Downs National Park (WCC): 
 

7.    COVENTRY HOUSE, BARFIELD CLOSE, WINCHESTER, SO23 9SQ  
(CASE NUMBER: 21/00219/FUL)  
 
Item 7: The erection of a multi storey car park to provide 287 park and ride car 
parking spaces including 800m2 of photovoltaic panels, 16 Electric Vehicles (EV) 
charging bays with associated access, turning and landscape proposals.  
Coventry House, Barfield Close, Winchester, SO23 9SQ  
Case number: 21/00219/FUL 
 
The Service Lead – Built Environment referred Members to the Update Sheet 
which set out points of clarification regarding parking on site, outlined that 53 
objections had been received from 53 households and set out in full a 
typographical error and the acronyms referred to within the report.   
 
During public participation, Ian Ford and James Miller spoke in objection to the 
application and Catherine Bartlett (agent), Andy Hickman (on behalf of the 
applicant Winchester City Council), Sophie Moy (Middlemarch Environmental 
Ltd), Sarah Jones-Morris (Landsmith Associates), Michael O’Byrne (Goldbeck) 
and Jon Carlton (Wilmott Dixon) spoke in support of the application and 
answered Members’ questions thereon.  
 
During public participation, Councillor Mather spoke on this item as Ward 
Member and Councillor Tod spoke on this item as Cabinet Member for Service 
Quality and Transformation.  
 
In summary, Councillor Mather stated that this was a highly sensitive SSSI site 
(Site of Special Scientific Interest) with its ancient history and high quality 
countryside within the South Downs National Park which blended into this 
Winchester City Centre location. She made reference to the high number of 
objections submitted by residents expressing concerns regarding a multi-storey 
car park in this location and stated that this would result in a significant 
detrimental effect on residents of Domum Road and the surrounding area and 
considered that car parking spaces would be better placed in a less sensitive site 
where it did not have a massive dominance over the buildings below it.   
 
In conclusion, Councillor Mather stated that the concerns of residents had not 
been adequately addressed and that the noise and general business of cars 
arriving and leaving a multi-storey car park, the adverse impacts on air quality 
and the SSSI and excessive light spillage would all be unacceptable and highly 
intrusive in this location and she urged the committee to refuse this application. 
 

Page 10



 
 

 
 

In summary, Councillor Tod stated that a number of issues had been raised by 
objectors, primarily relating to the scale and the visual impact on the rural area, 
lighting and safety. He referred to the initial consultation proposals for a larger 
car park on site and stated that at that stage residents’ concerns were of lighting 
and visual impact and to address this, plans had been amended to reduce car 
parking to 287 spaces, improve headlight barriers and move its location nearer 
to Barfield Close, with most of the shielding now placed on the Domum Road 
side to try and mitigate concerns.  
 
Councillor Tod referred to the visual impact concerns raised by objectors and 
provided an illustrative presentation of the scale and height of the site and of the 
overall visual impact once built out. 
 
At the conclusion of debate, the committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report and 
the Update Sheet, subject to an addition to Condition 5 regarding the care of the 
green wall, with the exact wording of this to be delegated to the Service Lead- 
Built Environment. 
 

8.    BRAMBLE COTTAGE,  4 DEAN LANE, WINCHESTER, SO22 5LH  
(CASE NUMBER: 19/00391/FUL)  
 
Item 8: (AMENDED PLANS – 23/02/21 and 19/06/19), New dwelling in garden 
and single garage 
Bramble Cottage, 4 Dean Lane, Winchester, SO22 5LH    
Case number: 19/00391/FUL 
 
The Service Lead – Built Environment referred Members to the Update Sheet 
which set out that a further 19 letters of objection and five letters of support had 
been received and outlined in full amendments to conditions 6, 10 and 11.  
 
During public participation, Adrian Longdon spoke in objection to the application 
and Nathan Thomas (applicant) spoke in support of the application and 
answered Members’ questions thereon. 
 
During public participation, Councillor Learney spoke on this item as Ward 
Member. 
 
In summary, Councillor Learney stated that this resubmission still did not 
overcome the previous reasons for refusal on the December 2018 application 
and created new concerns with the small changes that had been made to it. She 
believed it was still contrary to Policy DM17 and did have an unacceptable 
adverse impact on the neighbouring properties amenity and had a greater impact 
on some of their windows and considered that the revised plans still failed to 
respond positively to the character and appearance of the local environment so 
was also contrary to policy DM16.  Residents did not believe the building was a 
positive addition and that its design and character did not reflect that of Bramble 
Cottage or the leafy semi-rural nature of the surrounding area. 
 
In addition, Councillor Learney stated that Bramble Cottage and the proposed 
new house would be left with small gardens for substantial dwellings and 

Page 11



 
 

 
 

arrangements for traffic movements on and off the site failed to respond 
positively to the committee’s previous concerns with increased traffic movements 
opposite the entrance to Teg Down Meads which already had an existing high 
volume of vehicle and pedestrians movements. 
 
In conclusion, Councillor Learney raised concerns regarding the replacement of 
the proposed car port and garage as it was unclear how the necessary 
foundations for this would impact on the surrounding trees. Furthermore, she 
drew Members’ attention to the quality of the information for the planning 
application which she suggested was inadequate and urged the committee to 
refuse the application. 
 
At the conclusion of debate, the committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report and 
the Update Sheet, subject to an additional condition that permitted development 
rights (Classes A to E of Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015) be removed due to the limited plot size and 
potential detrimental impact on neighbouring amenity. 
 

9.    36 DEAN LANE, WINCHESTER, SO22 5LS (CASE NUMBER: 20/02734/FUL)  
 
Item 9:  (AMENDED PLANS) Replacement dwelling  
36 Dean Lane, Winchester, SO22 5LS 
Case number: 20/02734/FUL 
 
The Service Lead – Built Environment referred Members to the Update Sheet 
which set out in full some amendments to the wording on pages 100 and 101 
and to condition 12.   
 
During public participation, Anna Morgan spoke in objection to the application 
and Ian Dighe (applicant) and Justin Nicholson (agent) spoke in support of the 
application and answered Members’ questions thereon.  
 
During public participation, Councillor Weir spoke on this item as Ward Member. 
 
In summary, Councillor Weir stated that this was a walking, cycling and 
recreational route connecting the Town Centre to the rural area of the Downs 
and the woods. She considered that the rural character of Dean Lane was 
rapidly disappearing with the volume of development in this area when it should 
be conserved. Residents had expressed concerns regarding the substantial 
increase in height of the dwelling and the bearing this would have on overlooking 
and loss of light. In addition, concerns had also been expressed regarding 
materials for surfacing the drive and it was requested that these should be highly 
permeable due to the existing flood risk in this area. 
 
In conclusion, Councillor Weir stated that her principal concerns in respect of 
development control in this location were in relation to traffic and on-site parking 
which were already problematic as a direct route into Winchester and that it was 
crucial that adequate traffic calming measures were put in place with the 
continued growth in development in this area. 
 

Page 12



 
 

 
 

At the conclusion of debate, the committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report and 
the Update Sheet. 
 

10.    PLANNING APPLICATIONS (WCC ITEMS 11 & 12) (PDC1182 AND UPDATE 
SHEET REFERS) 
  

11.    LAND OFF NEW ROAD, SWANMORE, HAMPSHIRE  
(CASE NUMBER: 19/02421/FUL)  
 
Item 11: Residential development comprising 60 no. dwellings and 4 no. flats 
with access from New Road together with car parking, landscaping, public open 
space and associated works   
Land off New Road, Swanmore 
Case number: 19/02421/FUL 
 
This application was deferred for consideration at a future meeting. 
 

12.    WALCOTE PLACE,  HIGH STREET, WINCHESTER, SO23 9AP  
(CASE NUMBER: 20/02714/HOU)  
 
Item 12: Retrospective application for works to courtyard garden 
Walcote Place, High Street, Winchester 
Case number: 20/02714/HOU 
 
The Service Lead – Built Environment referred Members to the Update Sheet 
which set out the dates of previous planning applications and an alternative map 
of the site.   
 
In addition, a verbal update was made at the meeting that the map set out on 
page 173 of the report was correct. 
 
During public participation, Professor Keith Baker spoke in objection to the 
application and Josh Mathias (applicant) spoke in support of the application and 
answered Members’ questions thereon. 
 
At the conclusion of debate, the committee refused permission for the following 
reason: the development is overbearing to neighbours’ residential amenity by 
reason of size and form contrary to policy DM17(vii) in that the proposal would 
result in an unacceptable loss of outlook that is harmful to neighbouring amenity.   
 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the decisions taken on the Planning Applications in relation to those 
applications outside the area of the South Downs National Park be agreed 
as set out in the decision relating to each item, subject to the following: 

 
(i) That in respect of item 7 (Coventry House, Barfield Close, 

Winchester: Case number:  21/00219/FUL) permission be granted 
for the reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set 

Page 13



 
 

 
 

out in the Report and the Update Sheet, subject to an addition to 
Condition 5 regarding the care of the green wall, with the exact 
wording of this addition to be agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority.   
 

(ii) That in respect of item 8 (Bramble Cottage, 4 Dean Lane, 
Winchester: Case number: 19/00391/FUL) permission be granted 
for the reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set 
out in the Report and the Update Sheet, subject to an additional 
condition that permitted development rights (Classes A to E of Part 
1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015) be removed due to the limited plot size 
and detrimental impact on neighbouring amenity. 

 
(iii) That in respect of item 12 (Walcote Place, High Street, Winchester: 

Case number: 20/02714/HOU) permission be refused for the 
following reason: the development is overbearing to neighbours’ 
residential amenity by reason of size and form contrary to policy 
DM17(vii) in that the proposal would result in an unacceptable loss 
of outlook that is harmful to neighbouring amenity.   

 
 
 
  
The virtual meeting commenced at 9:30am, adjourned between 1pm and 2:30pm 
and concluded at 3:45pm. 
 
 
 

Chair 
 
 
 
1.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

  
Case No: 20/02729/FUL  
Proposal Description: 1. Erection of additional residential accommodation comprising 

32 shared ownership apartments and 41 sub market rent 
apartments within two five storey apartment buildings and three 
shared ownership two storey dwellings. 2. Re-landscaping of 
site to provide pocket park and parking. 3. Upgrading of 
entrances to existing blocks. 

Address: Winnall Flats Winnall Manor Road Winchester Hampshire  
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City: 

 
St Bartholomew  

Applicants Name: Winchester City Council - Debbie Rhodes 
Case Officer: Mrs Megan Osborn 
Date Valid: 8 December 2020 

Recommendation: Application Permitted 
 

Link to Planning Documents : https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-
applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application 
 
Pre Application Advice: yes - 20/01844/PRE 
 

 
 
© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8

https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

General Comments 
 
Application reported to Committee as it is a major development, the application is 
made by Winchester City Council as owner of the site and there have been 
objections to the application.  
 
Site Description 
 
The application site is located at the very northern end of the existing housing estate 
known as Winnall.  The site has an industrial estate to the north (some recent 
permissions have been given for student accommodation in this area).  To the west of the 
site across the road are start-up business premises.  To the south is the start of the 
residential estate on Winnall. These are houses which are mainly two storeys, in a 
terrace or semi-detached format of typically 50’s built design.  To the north east of the site 
there is a parcel of land that is owned by Tesco which is currently vacant and overgrown.  
To the east of the site there is a footpath that runs along the eastern length of the site that 
links Tesco to the north and the Winnall housing estate to the south. Access to the site 
can be made from this footpath.  Beyond the footpath is the M3 and beyond this 
approximately 150m away from the site is the South Downs National Park.            
 
The existing site is occupied by 4 blocks of 156 flats.  These are Braxton House, 
Craddock House, Dennett House and Earle House. These blocks are 8 storeys in height 
and are mainly occupied by council tenants with about 28 flats having been sold under 
the right to buy. 
 
There is parking leading into the site on the road and there are two main parking areas 
within the site, one to the north of Craddock House and one in between the two blocks 
Earle House and Dennett House.  There is a line of trees to the east of these two blocks, 
which form a group Tree Preservation Order (TPO) and to the east of the trees there are 
existing garage blocks.       
 
Proposal 
 
The proposal is for the erection of 76 new homes.  32 of these will be shared ownership, 
in block A, which is 5 storeys in height. The apartments in Block A are split into 18 two 
bedroom apartments and 14 one bedroom apartments.  Block B is 5 storeys in height and 
will consist of 41 sub market rent all 1 bedroom units.  The proposals also include 3 two 
storey dwelling houses to the east of the site, these would all be two bedrooms.  The 
apartments and houses will be built to an AECB standard (Association for Environment 
Conscious Building).  AECB Building Standard allows a standard way of delivering 
sustainable low energy, low carbon buildings, which can then be certified as such.  
 
The proposal includes changes to the road layout and parking areas for the existing and 
proposed residents.  A total of 174 parking spaces will be provided with 18 disabled 
parking spaces and 20 Electric Vehicle charging points included within these parking 
spaces.  The parking spaces will be provided in various locations throughout the site with 
11 of the parking spaces under car ports under the line of TPO trees to the east of the 
site. These will have green roofs.   48 cycle parking visitor hoops are proposed on the 
site.  The total footprint of new development is approximately 1135m2 not including the 
relocated and extended substation and carport.   
 

Page 16



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

Changes are proposed to the landscaped area of the site by moving the location of the 
road running through the site. This will free up some space for a pocket park and a 
landscaped amenity area in the southern part of the site and retain the open grassed 
area to the west of the site for the walking of dogs etc. A pedestrian spine is proposed 
through the middle of the site linking all the existing buildings with the footpath to the east 
and creating a new link to Winnall Manor Road away from the vehicular access to the 
west.    
 
The amount of tarmac, mainly in the form of the road existing is 5089m2 and the 
proposed changes to the road layout will result in 3175m2 of proposed tarmac, which is a 
reduction of 1914m2.  
  
Further changes will be made to the existing blocks by updating the four entrance areas 
to these flats.          
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
There is no relevant planning history on this site.   
 
Recent planning permission was given to the neighbouring site directly to the north called 
the Cavendish Centre. This was given planning permission for the ‘Demolition of the 
existing office building, mixed-use redevelopment of the site comprising: 1,343sq.m 
(gross internal area) of B1(a) Office; purpose built  student accommodation consisting of 
3 no. 6 bed cluster flats, 3 no.4 bed cluster flats, 3 no. 5 bed cluster flats, 1no. 8 bed 
cluster flat, 35no. studios, including 5no. accessible studios   (total of 88 student beds) 
and a warden's flat, associated communal facilities, external works including landscaping, 
car parking, bin storage, cycle parking and associated infrastructure’ Application number 
19/01055/FUL. 
 
Consultations 
WCC Service Lead for the Built Environment: Building Control 
All of the proposed buildings will be the subject of a Building Regulation application.  
 
The proposed blocks of flats will be required to conform to the current Building Regulation 
Approved Document B – Means of Escape in Case of Fire effective from 26th November 
2020 for buildings with a floor in excess of 11m above external ground level, this will 
include (but is not limited to) the following: 
 

 A domestic sprinkler system within each flat 

 Fire compartmentation of a minimum 60 minutes fire resistance between flats, and 
between flats and the communal areas  

 Cavity barriers surrounding the windows and at the junctions of the compartment 
walls and floors with the external wall construction 

 A minimum of 60 minutes fire resistance to all structure 
 
The proposed elevations indicate external masonry, it is understood that a steel frame 
structure is proposed. Fire fighting measures to the proposed buildings and a consultation 
with Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service regarding the communal areas of the flats will 
be carried out as part of the Building Regulation application. 
 

Page 17



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

WCC Service Lead for Environmental Services: Drainage 
No objections, subject to compliance with the drainage details provided in condition 2 and 
11.   
 
Flood water management: HCC 
Sufficient information have been submitted and received by the Local Lead Flood 
Authority and therefore no objection is raised, subject to conditions 2 and 11.    
 
HCC Highways 
Concerns relating to the adoption of the road- this is to be covered in the S278 and S38 
agreement and secured under condition 12.      
 
WCC Service Lead Public Protection: Environmental Protection 
The submitted noise report is acceptable and no objections are raised subject to 
condition 2, which secures the findings and mitigation proposed by the noise report.  
 
WCC Service Lead Public Protection: Contamination 
Sufficient information has been given in the initial desk study report, however further 
ground investigation is needed.  This can only be done when the site is cleared because 
it involves work under the existing site. This approach has been agreed by the local 
planning authority as the best way forward.  Conditions 20, 21 and 22 are proposed to 
secure this.     
 
WCC Service Lead Environmental Services: Landscape 
No objection, subject to conditions on landscaping.  Further details have now been 
provided and they are acceptable and are conditioned under the plans condition 2 and 
further condition 3. The loss of open space is considered within the report.  In general, 
landscape officers are satisfied that the Landscape Visual Assessment (LVA) has 
assessed all relevant viewpoints adequately and that the impact on the wider landscape 
character has been considered and mitigated wherever possible. 
 
WCC Service Lead Environmental Services –Trees 
Concerns regarding detailing in relation to the pit details, information has now been 
provided and the tree officer is now satisfied with the additional information, subject to the 
information provided in the landscaping details in condition 2.   
 
Natural England 
Natural England are satisfied with the information provided and that the local planning 
authority are the competent authority and therefore able to decide what occupancy is 
appropriate in terms of nitrates.  This is covered in the nitrates section of this report.    
 
WCC Service Lead for Environmental Services: Ecology  
No objections, the relevant information has been provided and is conditioned (number 2)  
 
SDNP 
Comments received and no objections made.   
 
WCC Service Lead Built Environment: Urban Design  
No objections. 
 
Southern Water 

Page 18



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

No objections: Our initial investigations indicate that Southern Water can provide foul 
sewage disposal to service the proposed development. 
 
Fire and Rescue service HQ  
All fire safety regulations should be met for a development of this type.  All of the 
recommendations have been taken on board by the applicant.   
 
Designing out crime officer 
Various suggestions made under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (as 
amended).  The comments were taken on board by the applicant and some changes 
have been made. These include: Defensive planting next to ground floor flats; the 
clearing out the understorey to the land licensed from Tesco; and changes the boundary 
to metal railings to the path beyond the site (between Winnall and Tesco) to allow natural 
surveillance. 
 
HCC Education 
Contributions are not collected for 1-bedroomed properties and from the 21 2-bedroomed 
properties about seven primary age pupils (approximately one pupil per year group) 
would be expected. Winnall Primary School has space to accommodate this number of 
pupils and, therefore HCC will not be seeking a contribution from this development 
towards educational facilities. 
 
Representations: 
 
City of Winchester Trust: 
The density proposed is high, but appropriate for the Winnall Flats site.  Impressed with 
the improvements to the public domain and reducing the dominance of car parking on the 
site although the residents do still seem concerned about parking.  The Trust notes that 
the layout has been informed by crime prevention, anti-social behaviour and security 
issues.  The landscaping should have proper maintenance, it is also hoped that the 
houses proposed to the rear of the site (Avenue Houses) do not become surveillance for 
the whole site.   
 
10 letters received from different households objecting to the application for the following 
reasons:  

 Replacement windows in the existing flats is needed.   

 Increase vehicles 

 Lack of parking already 

 Need electric charging points 

 Concerns of parking in other areas of Winnall 

 There is not sufficient space for emergency vehicles 

 Impact on schools, GP surgeries, transport etc.   

 The area would be too overcrowded.   

 Concerns on Construction Traffic 

 This would result in more anti-social behaviour 

 Concerns about noise during construction  

 Ecological impacts 

 This area cannot cope with the additional people 

 The green space around the flats will be reduced.   

 Increase in noise which takes away from privacy  

Page 19



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

 Concerns regarding the small number of nearby businesses on residents.  

 The development would put a burden on existing parking in Winnall. 

 Concerns about anti-social behaviour  

 Concerns about construction traffic  
 
2 letters of support received. 

 This is an excellent initiative by the council to address the shortage of affordable 
housing.   

 The area of the build is rarely used.   
  
 
Relevant Planning Policy: 
 
 
Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy 
DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles 
WT1 – Development strategy for Winchester Town 
CP1 – Housing Provision 
CP2 – Housing Provision and Mix  
CP3 – Affordable Housing Provision on Market led Housing Sites 
CP7 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
CP11 – Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development 
CP13 – High Quality Design 
CP14 – Effective Uses of Land 
CP15 – Green Infrastructure 
CP16 – Biodiversity  
CP17 – Flooding, Flood risk and the Water Environment 
CP20 – Heritage and Landscape Character  
CP21 – Infrastructure and Community Benefit 
 
Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and site allocations 
WIN1 – Winchester Town 
WIN3 – Views and Roofscape 
DM1 – Location of New Development 
DM2 – Dwelling Sizes 
DM5 – Protecting Open Areas 
DM6 – Open Space Provision for New Developments 
DM15 – Local Distinctiveness 
DM16 – Site Design Criteria 
DM17 – Site Development Principles 
DM18 – Access and Parking 
DM24 – Special Trees, Important Hedgerows and Ancient Woodlands 
DM26 – Archaeology 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements: 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Winnall Planning Framework 
Winnall Community Plan  

Page 20



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

Car Parking Standards (2008) 
High Quality Places SPD 2015 
• Part 4 – Layout arrangement of buildings and creation of spaces 
• Part 5 – High quality spaces 
• Part 6 – High quality buildings 
• Part 7 – Materials and detailing 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Principle of development 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Paragraph 47 of 
the NPPF requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
The development does not fall under Schedule I or Schedule II of the 2017 Environmental 
Impact Assessment Regulations, therefore an Environmental Impact Assessment is not 
required. 
 
The application site is located approx. 50m from the South Downs National Park 
 
Government policy relating to National Parks is set out in English National Parks and the 
Broads: UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 and The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) updated February 2019. The Circular and NPPF confirm that National 
Parks have the highest status of protection, and the NPPF states at paragraph 172 that 
great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty 
in national parks and that the conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural 
heritage are also important considerations and should be given great weight in National 
Parks. 
 
The development will not adversely affect any land within the National Park and is in 
accordance with Section 11a of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949. 
 
Due to the nature of the development and the distance between the application site and 
the River Itchen SAC, an Appropriate Assessment under the Conservation of Habitats & 
Species (Amendment) Regulations 2011 is not required. 
 
The proposed application is for the erection of 76 new homes within two five storey 
apartment blocks and three, two storey houses together with associated car-port 
buildings and the re-landscaping of the site to provide for a new pocket park together with 
car parking. The entrances into the existing four blocks at Winnall Flats will also be 
upgraded as part of the proposals. 
 
The site is located within the built up area of Winchester, where the principle of 
development for housing is considered acceptable subject to an assessment of 
development control criteria, which is considered further below.  
 
Policy CP2 of the Local Plan Part 1 considers housing mix.  The policy requires that there 
should be a majority of 2 & 3 bed dwellings, unless local circumstances indicate an 
alternative approach should be taken. 
 

Page 21



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

The new units are a mix of 1 and 2 bedroom flats and 3 no two bedroom houses. The 
majority of the homes will be 1 and 2 bedroom flats with a small number of 2 bedroom 
houses.  This does not meet the requirements set out in policy CP2 that require the 
majority of dwellings to be 2 and 3 bedrooms.  The reason for this is that the requirement 
of this development it to build small, affordable homes that are economic to run, aimed at 
younger households earning lower incomes.  In addition to this, demand for this tenure 
shows that 1 and 2 bedroom homes are the most popular size needed.  Therefore it is 
considered that the development has taken into account local housing needs, which is 
acceptable in relation to policy CP2.   
 
In compliance with DM2, all the dwellings meet the nationally described space standards 
in that they should exceed 39sqm in internal floor area. The one bedroom / one person 
flats are 39sqm, the two bedroom flats are 61sqm and the two bedroom houses are 
79sqm. The dwellings are designed to meet the requirements of Building Regs M4 (2): 
accessible and adaptable dwellings.  
 
The proposal is a landscape-led development. The development potential of the site has 
been maximized (CP14) whilst providing a high quality design appropriate to the local 
setting and improving the remaining open spaces around the flats (CP20, DM14). 
 
Biodiversity will be maintained and enhanced by the improvements to the open spaces, 
the retention of trees and the addition of native planting, see ecology section. (CP15, 
CP16) 
 
The loss of some of the open space is mitigated by the significant improvements that will 
enhance the accessibility, usefulness and quality of the open space, along with the 
improvements to the area of land to the north east of the site, see open space section 
below (CP7). 
 
The Winnall Planning Framework and Winnall Community Plan includes the following 
objectives: 
 

 enhance the green spaces around the flats – with allotments, community gardens, 
provision of dog bins 

 note concerns about parking and access 
 
It is considered that this development covers the requirements as set out with the 
document.   
 
Policy CP21 of the LLP1 supports development proposals which provide or contribute 
towards the infrastructure and services needed to support them.  HCC Education 
services were consulted as part of this application and it concluded that no contributions 
would be required for a development of this type, therefore this is complaint with this 
policy.   
 
The principle of development is therefore acceptable. 
 
Affordable housing  
The proposed development includes a range of housing types and tenures to 
complement the housing currently existing on the site which will help to maintain and 

Page 22



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

develop a mixed, sustainable community. 
 
Of the existing 156 flats on site the majority are council tenancies with around 25 
leaseholder flats having been sold under the right to buy. 
 
The proposed new dwellings will be a mix of affordable home ownership (shared 
ownership) defined as affordable housing in the NPPF, and sub-market rent, as set out 
below. Whilst the sub-market rent is not defined as affordable in the NPPF, the rents will 
be set at a level which is affordable to the identified client group in need of housing in the 
District: low paid workers (including younger people) earning around and below median 
incomes, and keyworkers. 
 
The scheme comprises: 
14 x 1 bedroom/1 person flats @ 39sqm for shared ownership 
18 x 2 bedroom/3 person flats @ 61sqm for shared ownership 
3 x 2 bedroom/ 4 person houses @ 79sqm for shared ownership 
41 x 1 bedroom/1 person flats @ 39sqm for sub-market rent 
 
Evidence of need includes that 67% of applicants on the Help to Buy South register are 1 
and 2 person households, The Strategic Housing Market Assessment for Winchester 
District projects a growth of 23% of single households between 2016 and 2036.  
 
Therefore the proposal meets policy CP3 with regard to the proportion of affordable 
housing as 46% are affordable (shared ownership). 
 
Design/layout/ Impact on character of area 

The proposal is for a council owned housing scheme of two five-storey apartment 
blocks, to the northern side of the site, and three two-storey houses, to the eastern 
section of the site.  
 
Solar studies were carried out as part of the submission and these show the existing 
site layout and how it is affected by different light conditions at different times of the 
year. It demonstrates that many of the existing substantial external spaces are shaded 
by the existing blocks for much of the year, whilst the area of the current access road is 
predominantly in sun. 
 
Taking into consideration the conclusions of the solar studies, and the little benefit that 
existing residents get from this area, the new blocks are to be set within a substantially 
re-landscaped setting, which utilises the existing sunnier areas with more landscaped 
areas and proposes the buildings in the more underused areas of the site to the north of 
existing blocks.  It is considered that the revision to the layout will improve the 
functioning of the site, and make it a more enjoyable space to be within, for both 
existing and new residents. 
 
The access road within the site is also proposed to be re-routed to the north of the 
existing blocks therefore retaining land to the southern part of the site for a new ‘pocket 
park’.  A new pedestrian route is also proposed to link the existing blocks to this new 
park, and on to both the eastern and western ends of the site, where it connects with 
Winnall Manor Road and the Avenue, which also links with the new houses to the 
eastern part of the site.   
 

Page 23



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

The site parking has been relocated, with the majority being placed at the northern side 
of the site, between the new blocks and Dennett House. Other areas are arranged close 
to Braxton, Craddock, and Earle Houses, together with parking to the Avenue end of the 
site, which will include some car port structures to protect cars from the trees and birds 
above. 
 
This scheme proposes to make a better use of the existing external spaces in order to 
avoid anti-social behaviour and to promote a sense of ownership. These have been  
achieved by creating well-designed and well-built places that benefit people and 
communities  This scheme has followed good urban design principles, such as: 
 

 Designing Buildings to positively overlook and address the open space and 
provide better edges and enclosure; 

 Proposed pedestrian routes through the site to improve connectivity, straight as 
possible, wide and well overlooked; 

 Build a community park with opportunities for casual recreational use (rather than 
to just pass through it); 

 Proposed pockets of parking areas, related with each block of apartments, 
carefully designed with permeable material to reduce the amount of hard paving 
on site. 

 
Materials to the 5 storey blocks are mainly red brick with black brick detailing, the roofs 
are flat with parapets so will not  be seen apart from the high storeys of the adjacent 
blocks. These residents will see some PV panels. Windows are framed with dark grey 
frames and external louvres shade some windows made from aluminium.  
 
The Avenue Houses and Lodge are treated similarly with red brick, concrete roof tiles 
and dark grey window frames.  A small contemporary porch is provided to the front 
door.  The design of these links in with the proposed materials of the new flats whilst 
responding to the existing dwellings in Winnall.  The car port has a green roof and the 
substation is red brick with an asphalt roof.  The scale of these are in keeping with their 
neighbours on Longfield Road.    
 
Therefore it is considered that the proposed development will respond positively to its 
location by successfully integrating with the character of the area which enhances the 
appearance of the wider context. As such it accords with policy CP13 of the LPP1 and 
policies DM15-17 of the LPP2. 
 
Existing flats 
The four existing blocks consist of the same replicated ‘H’ shaped design. They are 
situated across the full width of the site, all oriented so that the flats enjoy views from 
main rooms in an east and west direction, with service rooms such as kitchens and 
bathrooms facing towards the inner space enclosed by the buildings. 
 
The entrances to the existing blocks of apartments will be improved to be in keeping 
with the architectural aesthetic and consistent throughout the development, which is 
considered acceptable. 

 
Impact on neighbouring amenities 
The new blocks are located to the north of the existing blocks and therefore would not 

Page 24



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

result in any adverse overshadowing to any existing residential amenities.  
 
The new apartments have single-aspect arrangements, orientated to the east or west, in 
common with the existing blocks. In this manner they do not look directly onto the existing 
residents, with the closest relationship being that between part of the eastern side of 
proposed Block B, and part of the western face of Dennett House. These are separated 
by approximately 23m. 
 
The proposed house, called Avenue Lodge, at the end of the avenue would not result in 
any overshadowing or overlooking towards any residential amenities.   
 
The Avenue houses to the south of this house, are to the north of existing dwellings on 
Longfield Road.  The only windows on the southern elevation would be for a stairwell and 
no other windows are proposed.  Therefore it is considered that there will be no material 
planning harm in terms of overlooking from a habitable room to the amenities of the 
dwellings on Longfield Road. 
 
The proposals therefore accord with Policy DM17 of LPP2.  
 
Landscape/Trees 
The application is very much landscape led with changes to the existing site layout to 
maximise the usable landscape areas around the current and proposed blocks. The 
majority of the onsite mature trees will be retained, whilst 131 new trees will be planted, 
with a net gain of 112 trees. The landscape proposals will also include new shrub, 
perennial and wildflower planting, a pedestrian link, and multi functional open space 
including growing area, seating and children’s play.  
 
The application included a Landscape Visual Assessment (LVA) that was carried out 
regarding the proposed development in November 2020, it concluded:  
 

 Overall there will be some limited impact on the landscape during the construction 
phase of the development. 

 New planting will soften both the existing and proposed development and provide 
landscape enhancement to the site.  

 Due to the location of the site, there will be no significant harm on the effects of the 
SDNP. 

 The site is generally well contained visually within the wider landscape.  

 The development will blend with the views of the existing taller buildings on the site 
and therefore would be insignificant with the context of the views of the surrounding 
built form.     

 
Overall, the LVA considers that the development proposed is acceptable in line with 
development plan policy for the reasons above.        
 
It is concluded that the LVA has assessed all relevant viewpoints adequately and that the 
impact on the wider landscape character has been considered and mitigated wherever 
possible.  Additionally the amount of trees to be removed is minimal and with a net gain of 
112 the overall loss is acceptable.  The development is therefore in line with LPP1 policy 
CP20, and LPP2 policy DM23 and DM24 by enhancing the setting of the built form and 
enhancing the character of this part of Winnall. 

Page 25



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

 
Open Space 
The external area of the estate is an important element of this scheme to encourage a 
stronger sense of ownership and designed to ensure that it is attractive, safe, accessible 
and well connected to its surroundings. 
 
The proposal will mean a loss of open space as stated in the Planning Statement. 
The loss of some of the open space is mitigated by the significant improvements that will 
enhance the accessibility, usefulness and quality of the open space. 
 
Policy CP7 says that new housing should make provision for public open space in 
accordance with the standards in Tables 1 and 2 ‘preferably through on site provision 
where feasible or by financial contributions towards off-site improvements’. This 
development is proposing that there be 76 new dwellings. The submitted accommodation 
schedule states that this will mean an additional 107 residents on the site. The open space 
standard would therefore expect there to be 0.43 ha or 4320 m² of new open space 
provided for this size of population.  
 
The application is proposing large area of landscaping with the area to the south of 
Craddock House to be used as a large landscaped amenity area.  There is a central spine 
running though the site linking the site from east to west, increasing the permeability of the 
site also.  On top of all this the area of land to the north east of the site, owned by Tesco, 
has been leased by the City Council and they are proposing to landscape this area as part 
of this proposal.  This area of land is approximately 1.88 hectares and therefore more than 
meets the requirements as set out in policy CP7.  The landscaping and ecology of this 
land has been assessed and it is found acceptable.    
 
It is acknowledged that a significant quantum of development is being proposed for this 
site. However, the raising of the overall quality of the built form, together with the 
landscape proposals and the proposed Tesco site, would compensate for the loss of the 
open space whilst strengthening the character and identity of the place. The proposals 
therefore comply with policy CP7. 
 
Highways/Parking 

The application proposes to move the main service road that runs through the site.  The 
works to the existing highway requires a S278 agreement and the extinguishment of the 
existing highway and adoption of the new access road will be via a S38 agreement.  
Condition 12 secures the S278 / S38 agreement.  The new road layout is considered 
acceptable and is in line with current Highways Standards.    
 
The proposals also include the demolition of the garages and provides parking spaces 
in small and larger parking courts near the existing four blocks of flats and car ports to 
the east of the line of beech trees behind Earle House. 
 
The site is located in a highly accessible location, with most key facilities being a 
reasonable walking distance away, and Winchester City Centre being accessible by 
cycle, public transport, or a longer walk. As such, the site is considered to be a 
‘walkable neighbourhood’ as defined by the Manual for Streets. 
 
The site is also situated near to employment, public open space, local schools, services 
and amenities. The National Cycle Route No.23 runs through the site, along Winnall 

Page 26



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

Manor Road and connects to the City Centre, and the Stagecoach Kings City 1 is a 
frequent service linking Winnall and Stanmore via the City Centre. 
 
174 parking spaces are to be provided in total over the whole site, that is 117 spaces 
provided for the existing flats calculated at a use of 0.75 vehicles per flat (this figure is 
taken from a number of parking surveys carried out by the applicant) and 57 spaces for 
the new units (this again is calculated at 0.75 vehicles per flat).  It is considered that this 
figure is reasonable given the current usage of the parking spaces, by existing 
residents, the location of the site in a sustainable location and the size of the units 
proposed.  It is acknowledged that there is a high number of non-residents using the 
site for parking and council are looking into ways of controlling this.    
 
The scheme provides sufficient parking especially for a scheme that is sustainable, 
such as this, and therefore not encouraging car use and at the same time enhancing 
green spaces and cycle provision.  Therefore this is acceptable in relation to Local Plan 
Part 2 Policy DM17 in that is provides a safe a secure accessible by all both on and off 
the site.    

 
Ecology: 
The application has been submitted with an Ecological Impact Assessment, which 
concluded that although there is a small amount of ecological features on the site, some 
mitigation has been proposed and should be carried out in accordance with the report.  
The landscape proposed provides a Biodiversity Net Gain overall through new planting 
on site comprising a variety of new trees, shrubs, perennials, bulbs and areas of 
wildflower meadow, including many native and pollinator species. In addition to this 131 
new trees will be added with only 19 existing trees removed, whilst the majority of on 
site mature trees will be retained. 
 
Further land has been provided to the north east of the in line with the requirements set 
out in LPP1 policy CP7 (see landscape section) and this has been assessed by ecology 
and no objections have been raised.      
 
As such it is considered that the proposals are in accordance with policy CP16 of the 
LPP1.   
  
Drainage  
This is in flood zone 1, which has lower probability of flooding, a Flood Risk Assessment 
FRA has been carried out, which concludes that the development of the site can be 
delivered in a safe and sustainable manner, the site has no history of flooding.  The 
proposed surface water drainage would provide suitable surface water management in 
terms of run off and quality therefore this is acceptable in accordance with development 
plan policy CP17 of the LPP1.   
 
Noise  
Although the existing site is residential, the site of the proposed new apartments means 
that residential accommodation will be located closer to the business units on Winnall 
Trading Estate to the north of the site and Tesco beyond.  Similarly, the residential 
dwellings to the east of the site would serve to bring development closer to the M3 
motorway, which has been identified as another potential noise source. 
 
A noise assessment has been undertaken to ensure a suitable noise mitigation strategy 

Page 27



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

is in place to protect the amenity of future occupants of the proposed apartments. The 
mitigation measures include façade treatment in the form of glazing and ventilator 
specifications with appropriate acoustic performance ratings, where required and these 
meet the relevant standards.  
 
In conjunction with the project architect, mechanical engineer and overheating 
consultant, consideration has been given to internal noise levels during overheating 
conditions. The resulting assessment provides a minimum acoustic performance 
specification for façade ventilation panels such that suitable internal noise levels can be 
achieved while providing additional ventilation rates to control overheating. 
 
The proposals therefore comply with policy DM20. 
 
Equality 
Due regard should be given to the Equality Act 2010: Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Public bodies need to consciously think about the three aims of the Equality Duty as 
part of the process of decision-making. The weight given to the Equality Duty, compared 
to the other factors, will depend on how much that function affects discrimination, 
equality of opportunity and good relations and the extent of any disadvantage that 
needs to be addressed. The Local Planning Authority has given due regard to this duty 
and the considerations do not outweigh any matters in the exercise of our duty as 
statutory planning authority for the council. 
 
Sustainability 
The Council declared a climate emergency in June 2019 and aims for the District to be 
carbon neutral by 2030. 
 
The scheme is designed to achieve the AECB levels (Association for Environment 
Conscious Building) which can be described as a Passivhaus Light standard.  This is 
significantly better than the LPP2 policy CP11 Policy requirement of Building 
Regulations part L +19%.  Design elements to achieve this standard include high 
insulation values, high levels of air tightness, mechanical ventilation heat recovery 
(MVHR), photo voltaic panels, electric heating and hot water and solar shading screens 
to minimize overheating.  Water consumption will comply with Building Regulations part 
L +19% by using kitchen and bathroom fittings to reduce water consumption. 
 
In regards to sustainability, the scheme is designed to be highly sustainable (AECB 
standards) and provide for a high quality living environment for new and existing 
residents.  Therefore it is compliant with the LPP2 policy CP11. 
 
Nitrates  
The project being assessed would result in a net increase of 76 additional units of 
residential accommodation within Winchester District, and would result in an additional 
nitrate contribution of 143.3 Kg/N/year.  
 
Natural England recommends a default occupancy rate of 2.4 is used, which is based 
on the Office for National Statistics average occupancy figure and is considered to be 
suitably precautionary.  For a bespoke calculation to be used Natural England 
recommend that Local Planning Authority, as competent authority, is satisfied that the 
evidence submitted is appropriately precautionary.  
 

Page 28



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

The nitrate budget has been calculated using an occupancy rate of 1 for the 41x1 
bedroom/1 person rented flats and an occupancy rate of 2 for the 14x1 bedroom/1 
person shared ownership flats and 2.4 for all other units of accommodation.   
 
This is considered an acceptable approach for two reasons. 
 
Firstly, the physical size constraints of the unit should result in its use as 1-person or 2-
person residences. The units this is proposed for are in blocks of flats, which are unable 
to be physically extended.  
 
Secondly, the proposal is to provide affordable housing units which will be managed by 
Winchester City Council as Housing Authority. The tenancy agreements for the units will 
provide for occupancy to be restricted to single and two person residences only and the 
Housing Authority will be able to inspect and enforce this under the tenancy 
agreements. The Local Planning Authority has received confirmation from the Housing 
Authority as applicant that suitable provisions will be included in the tenancy 
agreements to this effect and the Grampian condition being applied (discussed below) 
will provide for further confirmation of this control on occupancy to be secured by way of 
an appropriate planning obligation provided by the Housing Authority alongside the 
proposed mitigation. 
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that these residents may have guests visiting the property, the 
nitrate input from such guests is taken as being from their own residence. 
 
As a result, and following a precautionary approach, in this instance the Competent 
Authority is satisfied that the occupancy rate of 1 on some of the units is accurate and 
reflective of the future use of the unit. 
 
In line with Policy CP16 of the Winchester City Council Local Plan Part 1 Joint Core 
Strategy, and the WCC position statement on nitrate neutral development, a permanent 
significant effect on the Solent SPAs due to increase in eutrophication as a result of the 
new development, is likely. As such, in order to lawfully be permitted in accordance with 
the Habitats Regulations based, the development will need to include a package of 
avoidance and mitigation measures as described in order that the integrity of the 
European sites is not adversely affected. 
 
Conclusion  
In conclusion, it is considered that the proposed development will respond positively to 
its location by successfully integrating with the character of the area and enhancing the 
appearance of the wider context. The proposed development will further enhance the 
conditions present within its surroundings by improving the public realm, raising the 
quality of the buildings and improving natural surveillance. The proposed development 
makes more efficient use of land in a sustainable location while providing substantial, 
accessible and useable community spaces. 
 
Both the Appropriate Assessment (AA) and Natural England conclude that a Grampian 
condition is acceptable in this instance to mitigate against nitrates and the Construction, 
demolition and environmental management plan, which has also been conditioned has 
sufficient information to protect the surrounding environment and neighbouring uses.  
Therefore, the mitigation proposed along with the information submitted provides 
sufficient detail that it is considered that the proposed development of the housing and 

Page 29



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

landscaping is acceptable in relation to relevant planning policy. 
 
This development is therefore recommended for approval in relation to policies, DS1, 
WT1, CP1, CP2, CP3, CP7, CP11, CP13, CP14, CP15, CP16, CP17, CP20 and CP21 
of the LPP1 and policies WIN1, WIN3, DM1, DM2, DM5, DM6, DM15, DM16, DM17, 
DM18, DM24 and DM26 of LPP2. 
 

Recommendation 
Application Permitted subject to the following condition(s): 
 
Conditions 
 
1.   The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
2.   The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
and documents listed below unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority:  
 
Site location plan 01-101 Rev B 
Existing site plan 01-102 Rev B 
Block plan existing 01-103 
Proposed block plan 01-104 Rev C 
Proposed block plan 01-104 Rev C – showing the finished floor levels 
Block A – Floor plan 03-A100 Rev I 
Block A – Roof plans 03-A101 Rev B 
Block B – Floor plan 03-B100 Rev I 
Block B – Roof plan 03-B101 Rev B 
Avenue Houses – Ground floor plan 03-H100 Rev F 
Avenue Houses – First floor plan 03-H101 Rev B 
Avenue Lodge – Floor plans 03-L100 Rev F 
Avenue Lodge – Roof plan 03-L102 Rev A 
Site Section AA 05-100 Rev A 
Site section BB 05-101 Rev A 
Site section CC 05-102 Rev A 
Block A – North and east elevations 05-A100 Rev B 
Block A – South and west elevations 05-A101 Rev B 
Block B – North and east elevations 05-B100 Rev F 
Block B – South and west elevations 05-B101 Rev F 
Avenue Houses – Elevations 05-H100 Rev D 
Avenue Lodge – Elevations 05-L100 rev D 
Existing blocks – Existing plan and elevation 30a-100 Rev B 
Existing blocks – Proposed plan and elevation (type 1) 30a-101 Rev B 
Existing blocks – Proposed plan and elevation (type 2) 30a-102 Rev A 
Existing Blocks – Proposed visual 30a-103 Rev A 
Existing blocks – Entrance key plan 30a-104 Rev A 
Substation plans and elevations 30B-100 Rev B 
Car Port plans and elevation 30B-200 Rev B 

Page 30



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

Apartment type A 80-100 Rev B 
Apartment type B 80-102 Rev B 
Aerial view VS-100 Rev B 
Block A visual VS-101 Rev B 
Block B Visual VS-102 Rev B 
Pocket Park VS-103 Rev B 
The Avenue VS-104 Rev B 
Topographical survey 209419-2871 
 
Landscaping plans 
General arrangement plan - 100 C04 
General arrangement plan 01 – 101 C03 
General arrangement plan 02 – 102 C03 
General arrangement plan 03 – 103 C02 
General arrangement plan 04 – 104 C03 
General arrangement plan – Eclectic charging points – 100 Rev H 
GA Kerb plan and hard landscape 01 – 105 C02 
GA Kerb plan and hard landscape 02 – 106 C02 
GA kerb plan and hard landscape 03 – 107 C02 
GA Kerb plan and hard landscape 04 – 108 C02 
GA fencing and street furniture plan 01 – 109 C02 
GA fencing and street furniture plan 02 – 110 C02 
GA fencing and street furniture plan 03 – 111 C02 
GA fencing and street furniture plan 04 – 112 C02 
GA setting out plan 01 – 113 C02 
GA setting out plan 02 – 114 C02 
GA setting out plan 03 – 115 C02 
GA setting out plan 04 – 116 C02 
Landscape graphic plan – 117 
Hard landscape build up detail – 200 C01 
Kerb and edging detail – 201 C01 
Steps Detail – 202 C01  
Balustrade and retaining wall detail and section – 203 C01 
Typical tree and shrub planting detail – 204 C01 
Play equipment detail 205 
Close board, trellis and brick wall and metal rail and brick wall details – 206 C01 
Timber hit and miss fencing detail -207 C01 
Bike stands – 208 C01 
Retained steps section – 209 C01 
Tree pit to parking details – 210 C01 
General arrangement planting plan – 300 
Planting plan 01 – 301 
Planting plan 02 – 302 
Planting plan 03 – 303  
Planting plan 04 – 304  
Planting plan schedule – 305 
NBS Specification – 900 
Landscape management plan 1468-05-600 
Proposed landscape works –Tesco land 10001 Rev B  
Landscape appraisal - Dec 2020, revised Jan 2021 – 1468 LVApp rev B   
 

Page 31



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

Tree plans 
Arboricultural assessment and method statement 17375-AA-CA   
Tree constraints plan 17375-BT2  
Tree protection plan 17375-BT3  
Manual for managing trees on development sites -Barrell 
 
1637_Design and access statement 
Acoustic report prepared by RSK, titled ‘Winnall Flats’, report reference 298201-RSK-RP-
002-(01) dated April 2021 
 
Ecology  
External lighting layout WIN-WdA-00-ZZ-DR-E-0002 P3 
Ecological Impact Assessment - ECOSA March 2021 – ref 20.0545.0001.F1 
Technical note –ECOSA 2nd Dec 2020 
Biodiversity metric Assessment 20.0454.002.DO 
 
Drainage  
Micro Drainage Calculations; dated: 23/02/2021. 
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy ref: 5013400-RDG-XX-XX-DOC-C-0500; 
dated: 16/11/2020. 
EXISTING DRAINAGE SURFACE & FOUL & PROPOSED LAYOUT OVERLAY - 
SHEETS 1 & 2; ref: 5013400-RDG-XX-ST-PL-C-0104-0105; dated: SEPTEMBER 2020. 
PROPOSED BELOW GROUND DRAINAGE LAYOUT SHEET 1 & 2; ref: 5013400-RDG-
XX-ST-PL-C-0540-0541; dated: NOVEMBER 2020. 
EXISTING EXCEEDENCE FLOWS; ref: 5013400-RDG-XX-ST-PL-C-0560; dated: 
NOVEMBER 2020. 
Phase 1 Desk Study & Phase II Site Investigation Report; Report Reference: LP2285; 
dated: 17th September 2020. 
 
Construction, demolition and environmental management plan – Aug 2020  
Transport Statement – Stuart Michael Associate Ltd Nov 2020 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, to ensure that the proposed development is carried 
out in accordance with the plans and documents from which the permission relates to 
comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
3.   No development shall take place above DPC level until details and samples of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development 
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the development presents a satisfactory appearance in the 
interests of the amenities of the area. 
 
4.   All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details as listed in condition 2.  The works shall be carried out prior to the completion of the 
development herby permitted or in accordance with the programme agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority.  If within a period of five years after planting any tree or plant is 
removed, dies or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously 
damaged, defective or diseased another tree or plant of the same species and size as that 

Page 32



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

originally approved shall be planted at the same place, within the next planting season, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
 
Reason:  To improve the appearance of the site in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
5.   Prior to the commencement of the development above DPC level hereby permitted, 
detailed information demonstrating that the development will achieve AECB standards 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy. 
 
6.   Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted detailed information 
demonstrating that the development will achieve AECB standards shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy. 
 
7.   Details of the solar panels to be installed on the roof of the new blocks hereby 
permitted shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority 
before their installation.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the development presents a satisfactory appearance in the 
interests of the amenities of the area and the proposed building. 
 
8.   The parking areas including the garages shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved plans before the development hereby permitted is  first occupied and thereafter 
permanently retained and used only for the purpose of accommodating private motor 
vehicles or other storage purposes incidental to the use of the dwellings on the sites a 
residence. 
 
Reason:  To ensure adequate car parking provision within the site in accordance with the 
standards of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
9.   No development shall take place until all Protective measures, including fencing and 
ground protection, in accordance with the Arboricultural method statement (written by 
Barrell Tree consultancy dated 4rd Dec 2020 – ref 17375-AA-CA) and the submitted Tree 
protection plan ref. 17375-BT3 and submitted to the Local Planning Authority is installed  
and retained during construction. 
 
Reason: To ensure protection and long term viability of retained trees and to minimise 
impact of construction activity. 
 
10.   No development shall take place until the Local Planning Authority’s Arboricultural 
Officer is informed once protective measures have been installed so that the Construction 
Exclusion Zone (CEZ) can be inspected and deemed appropriate and in accordance with 

Page 33



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

the Arboricultural method statement (Arbtech written by Matthew Middle dated 10th May 
2018).  Such measures shall be retained during the construction period. 
 
Reason: To ensure protection and long term viability of retained trees and to minimise 
impact of construction activity. 
 
11.   The drainage system shall be constructed in accordance with the Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy ref: 5013400-RDG-XX-XX-DOC-C-0500. 
Any changes to the approved documentation must be submitted to and approved in writing 
by Local Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority. Any revised details submitted 
for approval must include a technical summary highlighting any changes, updated detailed 
drainage drawings and detailed drainage calculations. 
 
Reason:  To ensure satisfactory provision of foul and surface water drainage. 
 
12.   Notwithstanding the information provided within the application documentation, the 
detailed layout of the site shall comply with the Local Planning Authority's standards in 
respect of road and footpath design and vehicle parking and turning provision and the 
applicant shall enter into a S278/S38 Agreement for the adoption of the sites road and 
footpaths where required by the Highways Authority. 
 
These works to be agreed by the highway authority and completed prior to occupation of 
the dwellings herby permitted.   
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
13.   An Employment and Skills Plan shall be submitted and approved, in writing, by the 
Local Planning Authority before the use hereby permitted is commenced.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved report.    
 
Reason:  In the interests of the economy of the surrounding area.   
 
14.   The dwellings hereby permitted shall NOT BE OCCUPIED until:  
a) A water efficiency calculation which demonstrates that no more than 110 litres of 
water per person per day shall be consumed within the development, and this calculation 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority  
b) A mitigation package addressing the additional nutrient input arising from the 
development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such mitigation package shall address all of the additional nutrient load imposed 
on protected European sites by the development and be implemented in full prior to first 
occupation and shall allow the Local Planning Authority to ascertain on the basis of the 
best available scientific evidence that such additional nutrient loading will not have an 
adverse effect on the integrity of the protected European Sites, having regard to the 
conservation objectives for those sites; and 
c)  All measures forming part of that mitigation have been secured and submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To accord with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, and 
Policy CP11, CP16 and CP21 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1. 
 

Page 34



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

15.   Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (as amended), (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
order, with or without modification), no windows other than those expressly authorised by 
this permission shall, at any time, be constructed in the southern elevations of the Avenue 
houses hereby permitted. 
 
Reason:  To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining residential properties. 
 
16.   No arboricultural works other than those specified and in accordance with 
Arboricultural Method Statement (Barrell - 3rd Dec 202 17375-AA-CA) shall be carried out 
to trees. Any deviation from the works set out in the Method Statement shall be agreed in 
writing to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure protection and long term viability of retained trees and to minimise 
impact of construction activity. 
  
17.   No development, or site preparation prior to operations which has any effect on 
compacting, disturbing or altering the levels of the site, shall take place until a person 
suitably qualified in arboriculture, and approved as suitable by the Local Planning 
Authority, has been appointed to supervise construction activity  on the site.  The 
arboricultural supervisor will be responsible for the implementation of protective measures, 
special surfacing and all works deemed necessary by the approved arboricultural method 
statement.  Where ground measures are deemed necessary to protect root protection 
areas, the arboricultural supervisor shall ensure that these are installed prior to any vehicle 
movement, earth moving or construction activity occurring on the site and that all such 
measures to protect trees are inspected by the Local Planning Authority Arboricultural 
Officer prior to commencement of development work. 
  
Reason: To ensure protection and long term viability of retained trees and to minimise 
impact of construction activity. 
 
18.   No machinery shall be operated, no process shall be carried out and no deliveries 
shall be taken at or dispatched from the site during the construction stage except between 
the hours of 0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday and 0800 and 1300 on Saturdays and at no 
time on Sundays and recognised public holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties. 
 
19.   No materials shall be burnt on site at any time during the construction period. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of occupiers of nearby premises and in the interest of 
public health. 
 
20.   No development shall take place unless otherwise agreed in writing until a scheme to 
deal with contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
  
The scheme shall conform to current guidance and best practice as set out in 
BS10175:2011 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - code of practice; CLR 11 - 
Model procedures for the management of land contaminations; or other supplementary 

Page 35



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

guidance and include the following phases, unless identified as unnecessary by the 
preceding stage and agreed in writing by the LPA: 
 
a) A site investigation report documenting the ground conditions of the site and 
incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top study; 
  
b) A remedial strategy detailing the measures to be undertaken to avoid risk from 
contaminants and/or gases when the site is developed and proposals for future 
maintenance and monitoring.  Such scheme shall include nomination of a suitably qualified 
person to oversee the implementation of the works.  
  
Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety and 
amenity of future occupants 
 
21.   Where a potential for contamination to be present has been identified a site 
assessment is required to quantify risks to the developer during construction and to future 
occupants.  It is important this is undertaken prior to development commencing to enable 
appropriate remedial solutions to be incorporated into the final design stage of the 
development (such as the need for contamination removal or treatment, design and 
installation of gas protection measures, the use / re-use of materials on site or the need for 
cover systems and to ensure protection to workers and the general public during the 
development. 
 
Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety and 
amenity of future occupants 
 
22.   Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, written verification 
produced by the suitably qualified person nominated in the approved remedial strategy 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The report 
must demonstrate that the approved remedial strategy has been implemented fully, unless 
varied with the written agreement of the Local Planning Authority in advance. 
  
Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety and 
amenity of future occupants. 
 
23.   Development shall cease on site if, during any stage of the works, potential 
contamination is encountered which has not been previously identified, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Works shall not recommence before 
an assessment of the potential contamination has been undertaken and details of the 
findings along with details of any remedial action required (including timing provision for 
implementation), has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall not be completed other than in accordance with the 
approved details. 
  
Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety and 
amenity of future occupants. 
 
24.   Prior to Asbestos removal on site, Appendix 5 - Asbestos Management Plan of the 
Construction, Demolition & Environmental Management Plan must be completed prior to 
the commencement of any works to remove asbestos on site. 
 

Page 36



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety and 
amenity of future occupants. 
 
 
Informatives: 
 
1. In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (July 2018), Winchester City Council 

(WCC) take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, working 
with applicants and agents to achieve the best solution. To this end WCC: 

 - offer a pre-application advice service and, 
- update applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application, where possible suggesting alternative solutions. 

  
In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial site visit. 

  
2. This permission is granted for the following reasons: 

The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the 
Development Plan set out below, and other material considerations do not have 
sufficient weight to justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission 
should therefore be granted. 

  
3. The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan 

policies and proposals:- 
   
 Winchester Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy 
 DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles 

WT1 – Development strategy for Winchester Town 
CP1 – Housing Provision 
CP2 – Housing Provision and Mix  
CP3 – Affordable Housing Provision on Market led Housing Sites 
CP7 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
CP11 – Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development 
CP13 – High Quality Design 
CP14 – Effective Uses of Land 
CP15 – Green Infrastructure 
CP16 – Biodiversity  
CP17 – Flooding, Flood risk and the Water Environment 
CP20 – Heritage and Landscape Character  
CP21 – Infrastructure and Community Benefit 

 
Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and site allocations 
WIN1 – Winchester Town 
WIN3 – Views and roofscape 
DM1 – Location of New Development 
DM2 – Dwelling Sizes 
DM5 – Protecting Open Areas 
DM6 – Open Space Provision for New Developments 
DM15 – Local Distinctiveness 
DM16 – Site Design Criteria 
DM17 – Site Development Principles 

Page 37



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02729/FUL 
 

 

DM18 – Access and Parking 
DM24 – Special Trees, Important Hedgerows and Ancient Woodlands 
DM26 - Archaeology 

  
 National Planning Policy Framework 
  
 Other documents 
 Winnall Planning Framework 

Winnall Community Plan  
Car Parking Standards (2008) 
High Quality Places SPD 2015 
• Part 4 – Layout arrangement of buildings and creation of spaces 
• Part 5 – High quality spaces 
• Part 6 – High quality buildings 
• Part 7 – Materials and detailing  

  
4.  A formal application for connection to the water supply is required in order to 

service this development. Please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, 
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or 
www.southernwater.co.uk". 

 
Any works within highway/ access road will require to protect public apparatus and 
the protection details need to be submitted to, and approved by Southern Water 
under NRSWA enquiry. 

  
5.  The applicant is advised that one or more of the Conditions attached to this 

permission need to be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before 
works can commence on site. Details, plans or samples required by Conditions 
should be submitted to the Council at least 8 weeks in advance of the start date of 
works to give adequate time for these to be dealt with. If works commence on site 
before all of the pre-commencement conditions are discharged then this would 
constitute commencement of development without the benefit of planning 
permission and could result in Enforcement action being taken by the Council. 

  

 The submitted details should be clearly marked with the following 
information: 

 The name of the planning officer who dealt with application 

 The application case number 

 Your contact details 

 The appropriate fee 
  

Further information, application forms and guidance can be found on the Council's 
website  www.winchester.gov.uk  

Page 38

http://www.winchester.gov.uk/


20/02729/FUL – Erection of 76 units of 
accommodation over two, five storey blocks and 

three dwelling houses, re-landscaping of the 
whole site and upgrading entrances to existing 

blocks.  

At, Winnall Flats

Winnall Manor Road

P
age 39



P
age 40



P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



P
age 45



P
age 46



P
age 47



Block A – east and north elevations

P
age 48



Block A – west and south

P
age 49



Block B – west and south

P
age 50



Block B – East and north

P
age 51



Type A – 1 bedroom, 1 person

P
age 52



Type B – 2 bedroom, 3 person

P
age 53



Existing flats – proposed 

entrance

P
age 54



Avenue lodge

P
age 55



Avenue Houses – elevations 

P
age 56



Avenue 

Houses –

floor plans

P
age 57



Proposed car ports

P
age 58



P
age 59



P
age 60



P
age 61



P
age 62



P
age 63



P
age 64



Dennett House Earle House

P
age 65



Back of Cavendish
Braxton House

P
age 66



Braxton House
View from Craddock House

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

  
Case No: 20/02543/FUL  
Proposal Description: Erection of three dwelling houses, with associated landscaping, 

access and parking 
Address: Rutland House  11 Park Road Winchester SO22 6AA  
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City: 

St Bartholomew  

Applicants Name: Mr Chris Rees 
Case Officer: Verity Murphy 
Date Valid: 17 November 2020 

Recommendation: Application Permitted 
 

 
Link to Planning Documents : https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-
applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application 
 
Pre Application Advice:  
 

 
 
 
© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531 

 
  

Page 69

Agenda Item 9

https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

General Comments 
 
The application is reported to Planning Committee due to the number of objections 
received contrary to the Officer recommendation to approve the application. 
 
Amended plans were received on 29th April 2021. Plot 1 is amended in these plans; the 
two rear dormer windows have been removed and replaced with roof lights. 
 
This application follows an earlier submission 19/01912/FUL which proposed four 
dwellings on the site.  This scheme (20/02543/FUL) has reduced the number of dwellings 
to three, and has amended the design, architecture and positioning of the dwellings within 
the site.  
 
Site Description 
 
The application site is located to the rear of Rutland House, which will be retained in the 
development proposals.  Rutland House is large detached family dwelling which features 
distinctive Edwardian architecture and materials. The topography of the site falls from 
south to north. 
 
The application site is situated on the northern side of Park Road and the rear boundary of 
the site adjoins the residential development at Barton Farm. There is a development of 22 
dwellings immediately west of the application site, and to the east are large detached 
residential dwellings.   
 
Proposal 
 
Erection of three dwelling houses, with associated landscaping, access and parking 
 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
06/02676/FUL (Planning Committee approved this application 16.11.2006, however the 
S106 was not signed and a decision could not be issued). Erection of 2 no two bedroom 
and 2 no four bedroom terraced houses with parking. 
 
06/01867/FUL (WITHDRAWN 14.07.2006) Erection of 2 no. three bedroom and 3 no. two 
bedroom terraced dwellings with associated parking 
 
Consultations 
 
 WCC Service Lead – Environment (Drainage): 
 
The application site is not in a zone prone to flooding, the surface water will be going to a 
soakaway which is acceptable as that area of land does not have any flooding or drainage 
issues. There is a mains foul line going right past the property so foul disposal is very 
straightforward. As long as the plans meet building regulations, and the applicant obtains 
the appropriate permission to connect from SW and makes sure the soakaway is 
appropriately sized, there are no drainage concerns with the application.  
 
Hampshire County Council – Highways 

Page 70



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

 
No objection to application. Access to the site is acceptable and the level of additional 
vehicle movements is not considered to result in any significant impact on the local 
highway network.  
 
Natural England: 
 
The nutrient budget has been calculated in line with Natural England’s Advice on 
Achieving Nutrient Neutrality in the Solent (version 5 June 2020). Provided the competent 
authority is assured and satisfied that the site areas used in the calculation are correct and 
that the existing land uses are appropriately precautionary, then Natural England raises no 
concerns with regard to the nutrient budget. 
 
WCC Service Lead – Built Environment (Urban Design): 
 
The reduction in dwellings on site to three is an improvement to the previous scheme, the 
dwellings in their height reflect the topography of the site and the proposal now retains an 
increased degree of space around the buildings.  
 
 
Representations: 
 
City of Winchester Trust: Objects to this application because of inadequate information 
 
 
14 letters from 13 households received objecting to the application for the following 
reasons:  

 Overdevelopment of the site 

 Lack of open space 

 Highways safety issues 

 Dangerous access 

 Heights of dwellings 

 Impact on neighbouring properties 

 Lack of privacy for residents 

 Fire safety 

 Waste collection issues 

 Emergency vehicles cant access the site 

 Lack of visitor parking 

 Overlooking impact 
 

Reasons aside not material to planning and therefore not addressed in this report 

 Development is not needed because of 2000 homes at Barton Farm 

 Credibility of Alfred Homes  
 
 
Relevant Planning Policy: 
 
 
Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy 
 

Page 71



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

Policy DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles 
Policy CP13 – High Quality Design 
Policy CP11 – Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development 
Policy CP2 – Housing Provision and Mix 
 
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations 
 
Policy DM15 – Local Distinctiveness 
Policy DM16 – Site Design Criteria 
Policy DM17 – Site Development Principles 
Policy DM18 – Access and Parking 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements: 
 
Section 4 of National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
Planning Practice Guidance  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
High Quality Places SPD 2015 
National Design Guide 2019 
 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Principle of development  
 
Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The application site is located within the settlement boundary of 
Compton Down where the principle of new residential development is accepted provided it 
is in accordance with the relevant policies of the development plan. 
 
Policy CP2 of WDLPP1 seeks to ensure that new residential development should meet a 
range of community housing needs and deliver a wide choice of homes. The majority of 
homes should be in the form of 2 and 3 bedroom homes. This development is for 3 
dwellings comprised of 2 x 3 bedroom and 1 x 5 bedroom units. The majority of the homes 
will therefore be in the form of 3 bedroom properties. Whilst a 2 bedroom property is not 
proposed on the site, it is considered that the housing mix is consistent with the council’s 
approach to implementing CP2. It is considered to be acceptable in the local 
circumstances as the application site is located within an area which is characterised by 
larger detached dwellings. The proposal is considered to satisfy the requirements of this 
policy. There is no affordable housing proposed on site as it is under the threshold of 10 
dwellings as set out in paragraph 63 of the NPPF. 
 
The Government has announced (March 2015) updates to its policy on housing standards 
and zero carbon homes. These affect the Council's implementation of Policy CP11 of the 
adopted Local Plan Part 1.  While policy CP11 remains part of the Development Plan and 
the Council still aspires to achieve its standards for residential development (Code for 
Sustainable Homes Level 5 for energy and Level 4 for water), Government advice now 
sets a maximum standard of 110litres/day for water efficiency and the equivalent of Code 
Level 4 for energy. Therefore, for applications determined after 26 March 2015, Local Plan 

Page 72



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

policy CP11 will be applied in compliance with the maximum standards set out in 
Government. 
 
The development does not fall under Schedule I or Schedule II of the EIA Regulations, 
therefore an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required. 
 
The assessment of the application in relation to the Development Plan policies is set out 
below. 
 
Design/layout 
 
The proposed three dwellings will be located in a linear formation on a north to south axis 
within the rear garden of Rutland House. Plot 1 will be located nearest to Rutland House, 
and Plot 3 will be nearest to the development at Barton Farm. As the level of the land falls 
away to the north of the site, the height of the dwellings corresponds with the underlying 
topography with Plot 1 being the greatest in height, and Plot 3 being the lowest in height.  
 
The linear formation of the dwellings within the site imitates a previous scheme for 4 
dwellings, which was permitted by Planning Committee in 2006, but never implemented. 
The layout of the dwellings is also reflective of the linear blocks found within Wychwood 
Place to the west of the site. As these dwellings have been constructed to the rear of the 
large Edwardian properties which front onto Park Road, a development of new houses to 
rear of Rutland House is not considered to significantly or harmfully disrupt the existing 
pattern of development along Park Road.  
 
The proposed housing density on site would be approximately 22 dwellings per hectare 
which is significantly lower than the Wychwood development which is approximately 36 
dwellings per hectare. As suggested by WCC Urban Designer, the reduction in one 
dwelling proposed within this scheme allows for a greater space between the proposed 
dwellings and a greater private amenity area for each dwelling. The proposal is not 
considered to result in a cramped or overdeveloped form of development; and the 
proposed density on site is considered to be appropriate and reflective of that found within 
the surrounding area. 
 
Objections have been received in relation to the heights of the new dwellings. The 
surrounding area is characterised by 2.5 and 3 storey dwellings, this will be reproduced in 
the heights of the proposed dwellings with dormer windows serving the proposed living 
accommodation within the roof space. It is not considered that the proposed dwellings will 
appear unduly tall within the site or within the context of the surrounding properties.  
 
The design and architecture of the proposed dwellings has been significantly amended 
under this proposed scheme. The four dwellings proposed under 19/01912/FUL tried to 
replicate the Edwardian/Arts and Craft style design of the larger dwellings which address 
Park Road. It was considered that this design was too convoluted and would have resulted 
in an overly contrived form of development. Following detailed discussions with WCC 
Urban Designer, the applicant has simplified the design of the dwellings to a more 
contemporary form of Georgian architecture which is found throughout Winchester, and 
within the newer properties located within Old Gardens to the east of the application site. It 
is considered that rather than trying to arduously replicate the design and appearance of 
Rutland House, the proposed design, whilst respecting the existing property, is appropriate 
as it has been informed by the site specific constraints and opportunities.  

Page 73



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

 
The material palette to be used is high quality and results in the dwellings having a 
contemporary appearance. A materials condition will be attached to the consent to ensure 
this. The overall appearance of the dwellings in considered to result in an attractive and 
high quality development of three dwellings.  
 
There have been numerous iterations to the layout and design of the dwellings, which has 
resulted in their design responding carefully and uniquely to their specific context and site 
constraints and care has been taken to reflect the character, scale and form of surrounding 
development and limit adverse impacts on residential amenity. The design and layout of 
the scheme is therefore considered to be acceptable and in accordance with Policy CP13 
of Local Plan Part 1, DM15, DM16 of Local Plan Part 2 and The High Quality Places SPD 
 
 
Impact neighbouring property 
 
Objections have been received in relation to the impact of the proposed development on 
neighbouring amenity. The closest neighbouring property is number 22 Wychwood Place 
which is to the west of the application site. This property is orientated perpendicularly to 
the proposed new dwellings. In response to objections, the dormers on the front 
elevations of plots 1-3 will be obscured glazed which limits the potential for significantly 
harmful overlooking to this property. The eastern side elevation of Number 22 Wychwood 
Place is visible from the application site. There are no windows on this neighbouring 
elevation and the existing hedges/trees which form the western boundary of the 
application site will be reinforced through the landscaping of the scheme; the proposal is 
not considered to result in significant overlooking to this property.  
 
The nearest neighbouring property to the rear of Plots 1-3 is Beech Lodge. There is over 
20 metres between this property and the proposed dwellings which is considered a 
sufficient distance to limit any significant overlooking. Furthermore, there are mature trees 
which offer additional screening along the eastern boundary of the site. Notwithstanding 
this, in response to concerns from neighbours in relation to the overlooking from the rear 
of Plot 1, the applicant has agreed to remove the rear dormers and replace them with 
higher level roof lights.  
 
Of pertinence to this application is the proposed development at Barton Farm; the 
construction of these new houses has advanced throughout the process of this 
application. Plots 1 to 3 are not back to back with those within Barton Farm and will be 
located over 30 metres away from the nearest neighbouring property. There are no 
windows on the northern side elevation of Plot 1 and there is not considered to be any 
significant overlooking between these two sites.  
 
Objections have also been received in relation to the impact of the height of dwellings on 
the surrounding neighbouring properties. Given that the surrounding area is characterised 
by dwellings which are between 2-3 storeys, and the distance between the application 
site and the neighbouring properties, it is not considered that the proposal will result in 
any significant harm on residential amenity in terms of overlooking or overbearing impact. 
The proposal accords with Policy DM17 of LPP2.  
 
 
Landscape/Trees 

Page 74



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

 
There are a number of mature trees on site which are to be retained through this 
application. Some construction activity will be needed within the root protection areas of 
the retained trees. If adequate precautions to protect the retained trees are implemented in 
line with the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment, the development proposal will 
have no significant adverse impact on the contribution of trees to amenity or character in 
the wider setting.  

 
New hedgerows and tree planting is proposed to reinforce the boundaries of the site and 
improve habitat creation within the site. A detailed landscaping condition will be attached 
to the consent to ensure the level and type of landscaping proposed is appropriate for the 
site.  
 
Ecology 
 
The site has been assessed by a qualified ecologist. The site, including the garage, is 
considered to have a negligible potential for bat or dormice use. However, as a biodiversity 
enhancement to the site an Ibstock bat brick or Schwegler 1FR bat tube will be built into 
the south elevation of house 1 and the south elevation of house 2. This will be conditioned 
to the consent. 
 
Reptiles and amphibians were surveyed on the site. Prior to any development 
commencing on the site a detailed translocation method statement must be agreed with 
WCC Ecologist to ensure the correct translocation of amphibians and reptiles as part of a 
translocation methodology. This will be conditioned to the consent.  
 
There will be hedgehog enhancements within the development, and works to trees will be 
undertaken outside of nesting periods. Potential adverse impacts on these ecological 
features have been identified and suitable mitigation and compensation measures have 
been recommended. As the development will include biodiversity enhancements on site, it 
is considered that the proposal will result in an overall net gain for biodiversity at the site. 
The proposal accords with Policy CP16 of LPP1, Policy DM24 of LPP2 and the NPPF 
 
Highways/Parking 
 
Hampshire County Council highways team were consulted on the previous application for 
four houses on the site and raised no objection to the proposed development. There is no 
change to the proposed access with this application and the comments of HCC highways 
still stand. Access to the development is to be via a new private driveway utilising the 
existing vehicular crossing onto Park Road. Park Road is a classified road (C469) subject 
to a 30mph speed limit. Visibility at the access is adequate and the geometry of the 
driveway is suitable to serve the development. It is considered that the vehicle movements 
generated by the development can be safely accommodated at the access and will not 
result in a detrimental impact on the safety or operation of the local highway network. 
 
Objections have been received in relation to fire engines not being able to access the site. 
Hampshire County Council have assessed this impact and servicing by large delivery 
vehicles/refuse vehicles will be on street, which is considered to be acceptable in this 
location. Vans and other small delivery vehicles will be able to use the shared 
driveway/parking areas.  
 

Page 75



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

Car Parking is provided in accordance with Winchester Residential Car Parking Standards 
SPD, the two 3-bedroom properties will have 2 car parking spaces and Plot 1 will have 3 
spaces, with additional room within the driveway for visitor parking. The proposal accords 
with Policy DM18 of LPP2.  
 
Nitrates 
 
A separate appropriate assessment in relation to the nitrate issue has been completed and 
is attached to this case.  If Committee is minded to approve the application the applicant 
has agreed that a Grampian Condition can be attached to the consent to ensure that a 
mitigation strategy is submitted to and approved in writing by the Council prior to the 
occupation of the development.   
 
Equality 
 
Due regard should be given to the Equality Act 2010: Public Sector Equality Duty. Public 
bodies need to consciously think about the three aims of the Equality Duty as part of the 
process of decision-making. The weight given to the Equality Duty, compared to the other 
factors, will depend on how much that function affects discrimination, equality of 
opportunity and good relations and the extent of any disadvantage that needs to be 
addressed. The Local Planning Authority has given due regard to this duty and the 
considerations do not outweigh any matters in the exercise of our duty as statutory 
planning authority for the council. 
 
Conclusion  
 
The proposal accords with The Development Plan and the following policies: DS1, CP13, 
CP11, CP116 of LPP1, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18, DM24 of LPP2 and The High Quality 
Places SPD 
 
Recommendation 
Application Permitted subject to the following condition(s): 
 
Conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
2. The development hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the 
following plans: 
 
SKETCH PERSPECTIVE 
LOCATION PLAN RH-PSL-00 
LOCATION PLAN (FIGURE GROUND DRAWING) RH-PSL-00 (2) 
SITE PLAN RH-PSL-00 (3) REV 1 
STREET SCENE 
PLOT 1 FRONT ELEVATION RH-01-PL500 
PLOT 1 SIDE ELEVATION RH-01-PL501 

Page 76



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

PLOT 1 REAR ELEVATION RH-01-PL502 REV 1 
PLOT 1 SIDE ELEVATION RH-01-PL503 REV 1 
PLOT 1 GROUND FLOOR PLAN RH-01-PL200 REV 1 
PLOT 1 FIRST FLOOR PLAN RH-01-PL201 
PLOT 1 SECOND FLOOR PLAN RH-01-PL202 
PLOT 1 ROOF PLAN RH-01-PL203 REV 1 
PLOT 2 FRONT ELEVATION RH-02-PL500  
PLOT 2 SIDE ELEVATION RH-02-PL501 
PLOT 2 REAR ELEVATION RH-02-PL502 
PLOT 2 SIDE ELEVATION RH-02-PL503 
PLOT 2 GROUND FLOOR PLAN RH-02-PL200 
PLOT 2 FIRST FLOOR PLAN RH-02-PL201 
PLOT 2 SECOND FLOOR PLAN RH-02-PL202 
PLOT 2 ROOF PLAN RH-02-PL203 
PLOT 3 FRONT ELEVATION RH-03-PL500 
PLOT 3 SIDE ELEVATION RH-03-PL501 
PLOT 3 REAR ELEVATION RH-03-PL502 
PLOT 3 SIDE ELEVATION RH-03-PL503 
PLOT 3 GROUND FLOOR PLAN RH-03-PL200 
PLOT 3 FIRST FLOOR PLAN RH-03-PL201 
PLOT 3 SECOND FLOOR PLAN RH-03-PL202 
PLOT 3 ROOF PLAN RH-03-PL203 
PLOT 1 GARAGE ELEVATIONS RH-01-PL504 
PLOT 1 GARAGE PLANS RH-01-PL204 
 
Reason: In the interests of proper planning and for the avoidance of doubt and to ensure 
the development is carried out in accordance with the relevant policies of The 
Development Plan. 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 
 
3. No development above damp proof course shall take place until details and samples of 
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the new dwellings 
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the new development, the 
existing and the surrounding area in accordance with Policy DM15, DM16 of Winchester 
District Local Plan Part 2 (2017) and The High Quality Places SPD (2015). 
 
4. No development above damp proof course shall take place until details of both hard and 
soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved. These details shall 
include the following; 
 
- planting plans and schedules of plants, replacement trees, noting species, planting sizes, 
planting numbers/densities where appropriate. 
- details of areas of hard surfacing including access track 
- details of any means of enclosure (fencing/walling) and all boundary treatments. 
 

Page 77



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
The works shall be carried out before the use hereby permitted is commenced and prior to 
the completion of the development or in accordance with the programme agreed with the 
Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five years after planting any tree or plant is 
removed, dies or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously 
damaged, defective or diseased another tree or plant of the same species and size as that 
originally approved shall be planted at the same place, within the next planting season, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity of the area and to ensure the provision, 
establishment and maintenance of a reasonable standard of landscape in accordance with 
the approved designs 
 
5. No development shall take place until details, including plans and cross sections of the 
existing and proposed ground levels of the development and the boundaries of the site 
including any earthworks to be undertaken have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory relationship between the landscape and the new 
development. 
 
6. Prior to the commencement of the development above damp proof course, hereby 
permitted, detailed information (in the form of SAP design stage data and a BRE water 
calculator) demonstrating that the dwelling shall meet Code 4 or equivalent standard for 
energy and water (as defined by the ENE1 and WAT 1 in the Code for Sustainable 
Homes) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be built in accordance with these findings. 
 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy 
 
7. Prior to any development on site, a detailed reptile translocation method statement and 
translocation area will be agreed with the WCC Ecologist. During April to September, when 
reptiles are active and in suitable weather conditions, refugia (artificial cover objects 
(ACOs) will be put down to enable capture and translocation of reptiles as part of a 
translocation methodology. The work will be carried out by a qualified ecologist. 
 
Reason: To protect biodiversity on site in accordance with Policy CP16 of Winchester 
District Local Plan Part 1 (2013).  
 
8. Prior to any development on site, a detailed amphibian translocation method statement 
and translocation area will be agreed with the WCC Ecologist. During April to September, 
when amphibians are active and in suitable weather conditions, refugia (artificial cover 
objects (ACOs) will be put down to enable capture and translocation of amphibians as part 
of a translocation methodology. The work will be carried out by a qualified ecologist. 
 

Page 78



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

Reason: To protect biodiversity on site in accordance with Policy CP16 of Winchester 
District Local Plan Part 1 (2013).  
 
9. Prior to work commencing on the site, a Construction Management Plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction 
Management Plan shall include the following details: 
 
- Development contacts, roles and responsibilities 
- Public communication strategy, including a complaints procedure. 
- Details of parking and traffic management measures. 
- Details of measures to be taken to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during 
construction works being deposited on the public highway 
- Details of provisions to be made for the parking and turning on site of operative and 
construction vehicles during the period of development 
 
Reason: To ensure that all construction work in relation to the application does not cause 
materially harmful effects on nearby land, properties and businesses. 
 
 
PRIOR TO OCCUPATION CONDITIONS 
 
10. Prior to the occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted detailed information (in the 
form of SAP "as built" stage data and a BRE water calculator) demonstrating that the 
dwelling shall meet the Code 4 or equivalent standard for energy and water (as defined by 
the ENE1 and WAT 1 in the Code for Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be occupied in 
accordance with these findings. 
 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy 
 
11. Before the occupation of the development, areas for access, car parking and turning 
shall have been constructed and laid out within the site in accordance with the approved 
plans. Any final surfacing shall be laid post completion of the units, and shall be 
maintained thereafter. 
 
Reason: to ensure adequate on-site car parking provision for the approved development. 
 
12. The development hereby permitted shall NOT BE OCCUPIED until:  
 
a) A water efficiency calculation which demonstrates that no more than 110 litres of 
water per person per day shall be consumed within the development, and this calculation 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority  
 
b) A mitigation package addressing the additional nutrient input arising from the 
development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such mitigation package shall address all of the additional nutrient load imposed 
on protected European sites by the development and be implemented in full prior to first 
occupation and shall allow the Local Planning Authority to ascertain on the basis of the 
best available scientific evidence that such additional nutrient loading will not have an 

Page 79



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

adverse effect on the integrity of the protected European Sites, having regard to the 
conservation objectives for those sites; and 
 
c)  All measures forming part of that mitigation have been secured and submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To accord with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, and 
Policy CP11, CP16 and CP21 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 
 

13. No development shall be occupied until the access driveway, including the widening of 
the vehicle crossing to Park Road, has been constructed and laid out in accordance with 
the approved plans. 
 
Reason - To provide satisfactory access and in the interests of highway safety. 
 
14. The parking areas shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with the approved 
plans prior to the occupation of the dwellings to which they relate, and thereafter retained. 
 
Reason - To ensure adequate on-site car parking provision for the approved development. 
 

15.   Protective measures, including fencing and ground protection, in accordance with the 
Arboricultural Impact Appraisal and Method Statement reference AIA/AMS-
KC/AH/RUTLAND/001 written by Kevin Cloud of Technical Arboriculture and submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority shall be installed prior to any demolition, construction or 
groundwork commencing on the site. 
 
Reason: To prevent inappropriate work being undertaken to protected trees. 
 
16. No Arboricultural works shall be carried out to trees other than those specified and in 
accordance with the Arboricultural Impact Appraisal and Method Statement reference 
AIA/AMS-KC/AH/RUTLAND/001 written by Kevin Cloud of Technical Arboriculture 
 
Reason: To prevent inappropriate work being undertaken to protected trees 
 
17. If reptiles, amphibians, dormice or signs of dormice are found during the proposed 
development work, when the ecologist is not on site, work in the local vicinity will stop and 
a qualified ecologist contacted immediately for advice. 
 
Reason: To protect biodiversity on site in accordance with Policy CP16 of Winchester 
District Local Plan Part 1 (2013).  
 
18. The precautionary mitigation measures, recommendations and enhancements shall be 
provided on site in accordance with Section 6 of the submitted Biodiversity Survey by 
Lowans Ecology and Associates. 
 
Reason: To enhance biodiversity on site in accordance with Policy CP16 of Winchester 
District Local Plan Part 1 (2013).  
 
 
Informatives: 
 

Page 80



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02543/FUL 
 

 

1. This permission is granted for the following reasons: 
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out below, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted. 
 
2. The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan 
policies and proposals:- 
Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 (2013): DS1, CP2, CP11, CP13, CP16 
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 (2017): DM1, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18, DM24 
Winchester District High Quality Places Supplementary Planning Document 
 
3. In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (July 2018), Winchester City Council 
(WCC) take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, working with 
applicants and agents to achieve the best solution. To this end WCC: 
- offer a pre-application advice service and, 
- update applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application, where possible suggesting alternative solutions. 
 
4. All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant operation 
should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs Monday to Friday and 
0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 
Where allegations of noise from such works are substantiated by the Environmental 
Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of operation under The Control of Pollution 
Act 1974 may be served. 
 
5. During Construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of statutory 
nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an Abatement Notice 
may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. The applicant is reminded 
that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of materials is a direct offence under 
The Clean Air Act 1993. 
 
6. Please be respectful to your neighbours and the environment when carrying out your 
development. Ensure that the site is well organised, clean and tidy and that facilities, 
stored materials, vehicles and plant are located to minimise disruption. Please consider 
the impact on your neighbours by informing them of the works and minimising air, light and 
noise pollution and minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and working on public or 
private roads. Any damage to these areas should be remediated as soon as is practically 
possible. 
 
For further advice on this please refer the Construction Code of Practice 
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-
practice  
 
7. The applicant is advised that widening of the vehicle crossover (dropped kerb) will 
require the consent of the Highway Authority, Hampshire County Council. Licence 
applications can be made via the county council’s website: 
www.hants.gov.uk/transport/licencesandpermits/roadopening 
 
 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



20/02543/FUL – Rutland House, Park Road 

P
age 83



Satellite image of application site Photo of front elevation of Rutland House, 
taken from Park Road 

P
age 84



Previously permitted scheme for 4 houses 

Original plans submitted under 19/01912/FUL

P
age 85



Proposed site plan 

P
age 86



Proposed street perspective 

P
age 87



Photo of eastern boundary 

Proposed Street Scene 

P
age 88



Plot 1 Elevations 

P
age 89



Plot 1 – Floor Plans

P
age 90



Plot 2 – Elevations 

P
age 91



Plot 2 Floor Plans

P
age 92



Plot 3 - Elevations

P
age 93



Plot 3 – Floor plans

P
age 94



Photo taken looking back at 9 Park Road 

Photo of western boundary

P
age 95



Photo of neighbouring property to the west at 
Wychwood Place

Photo of eastern boundary

P
age 96



Photos looking north to Kings Barton

P
age 97



Photo of access to site Photo of Rutland House from Park Road

P
age 98



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

  
Case No: 20/01581/HOU  
Proposal Description: Single storey extension, internal alterations and partial 

demolition to the West of the property 
Address: 1 Earlsdown  Northbrook Avenue Winchester SO23 0JW  
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City: 

St Michael  

Applicants Name: Polly Lane 
Case Officer: Cameron Finch 
Date Valid: 23 July 2020 

Recommendation: Approve  
 

 
Link to Planning Documents : https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QDXCOYBPLPC00 
 
Pre Application Advice: Yes – Initial advice given from planning officer and historic 
environment officer on the constraints of the site.    
 
 

 
 
© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10

https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;


WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

 
General Comments 
 
The application is reported to Planning Committee due to the number of objections 
received contrary to the Officer recommendation to approve the application. 

 
Amended Plans received 03.12.2020. The proposed changes to the boundary treatment 
have been removed from the application. Also includes changes to the design of the 
roof to reduce the height and amendments to the windows.  
 
Amended Plans received 17.12.2020. Amendments to fenestration on the extension.  
 
Amended Plans received 01.03.2021. Minor amendment to door in the Western 
elevation.  
 
This application follows a previous submission (20/00668/HOU) which proposed a 
single storey extension on the Southern elevation of the building. This application was 
refused due to its impact upon the character of the dwelling, surrounding conservation 
area and harm caused to neighbouring amenity. The current submission 
(20/01581/HOU) proposes an extension on the Western elevation. The design and 
material palette have also been amended.   

 
Site Description 
 
 
Earlsdown is a large 3 storey brick built Victorian dwellinghouse which sits in a prominent 
position on the corner of Northbrook Avenue and Stratton Road. The property has been 
previously divided into five dwellinghouses (81/01093/OLD); No. 1is the largest of the five 
dwellings and forms the Western wing of the house. The dwelling overlooks the 
recreational ground to the West of the property with views to the City of Winchester 
beyond. The area is characterised by lush, tree lined avenues with boundaries formed of 
low level brick/flint walls and hedges; dwellinghouses are generally set back away from 
the highway with varying degrees of landscaping to the front.  
 
Earlsdown is a large Victorian villa which is characteristic of this area of Winchester. The 
dwelling is finished in red brick with sandstone coping and window frames. The two 
storey canted bay sandstone window of the Southern elevation is a key architectural 
feature of the building and is visible from the conservation area. Earlsdown is a significant 
building within the conservation area, and its design and form has influenced the 
appearance of more modern development which sits in close proximity. The dwelling has 
been identified as a non- designated heritage asset. The site is boarded by a brick and 
flint wall along its Northern and Western boundaries with much planting. A row of mature 
protected trees are sited along the side of Stratton Road adjacent to the Western 
boundary of the dwelling.  
 
Proposal 
 
The proposal seeks to construct a single storey extension on the Western elevation to 
create additional living space. The extension is in the ‘pavilion’ style, utilising a flat roof 
and low brick parapet. Materials have been selected to provide a similar visual 
appearance to the host dwelling, utilising red brick for the external walls and white 

Page 100



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

aluminium window frames for fenestration. Metal coping is utilised around the ridge of the 
parapet.  The proposal extends approximately 3.5 metres off of the Western elevation 
and has a total height of approximately 3.2 metres. The proposed extension is site 
approximately 4 metres away from the Western boundary.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
 
81/01093/OLD (PERMITTED) Conversion of dwelling into 5 residential units and erection 
of one detached dwelling and six garages 
 
20/00668/HOU (REFUSED) Single storey extension, internal alterations and partial 
demolition to the South of the property 
 
Consultations 
 
Service Lead Built Environment -  Historic Environment: No objection subject to 
conditions (03 and 04) 
 
Service Lead Built Environment – Archaeology: No objection subject to conditions (05 
and 06) 
 
Service Lead Environmental Services – Ecology: No objection subject to conditions (12 
and 13)  
 
 
Representations: 
 
City of Winchester Trust: 
 
Trust comments received 18.01.2021 
 
“The Trust feels that this further revised application is acceptable in terms of scale and 
welcomes the recognition that a wooden fence on top of the brick and flint wall is not 
appropriate. However, we still consider that it is vital that any extension does not diminish 
the characteristics which make Earlsdown such an important building. The proposal 
obscures the sandstone facings which are such a significant feature of the building, and 
leaves the top of one window floating above the extension. Although we do not normally 
have any objection in principle to modern “glass box” extensions, in this case the Trust 
did feel that a more traditional design would enable a more sympathetic treatment of the 
character of Earlsdown. 
 
We therefore object to the proposal.” 
 
34 letters from 20 households received objecting to the application for the following 
material planning reasons:  

 The proposed extension is out of keeping with Earlsdown due to its modern 
character and spoils the appearance of a non-designated heritage asset. 

 The size of the extension dominates the Western elevation and changes its 
appearance. 

Page 101



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

 Partial demolition and removal of the window constitutes the removal of key 
architectural features, diminishing the character of the dwelling. 

 Views of Earlsdown from the green to the West will be spoiled by the new 
extension as it obstructs key architectural features. 

 The proposal is harmful to the character and appearance of the conservation area 
as it does not regard the traditional character of surrounding buildings. 

 Proposed screening would block views of Earlsdown from the conservation area.   
 
 
Reasons aside not material to planning and therefore not addressed in this report 

 The proposed alteration to the boundary treatment is unacceptable and damages 
the appearance of Earlsdown from the conservation area. 

 
The proposed alteration to the boundary treatment was removed from the application 
as it was deemed harmful to the character and appearance of the conservation area 
and is not considered within this application.  

 
1 letter of support received for the following material planning reasons: 

 The proposal no longer overshadows neighbouring dwellings.  
 
Relevant Planning Policy: 
 
 
 
Winchester District Local Plan Review 
 
Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy: DM1, CP20 
 
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2: DM15, DM16, DM17, DM24, DM26, DM27, DM28 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements: 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
High Quality Places SPD (2015) 
Winchester – St Giles Hill Village Design Statement 
 
 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Principle of development 
Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The application site is located within the settlement boundary of 
Winchester where the principle of new residential development is accepted provided it is 
in accordance with the relevant policies of the development plan. The site is located with 
the St Giles Character Area of the Winchester Conservation Area. 
 
 

Page 102



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

Design/layout 
 
The proposed extension is subservient to the host dwelling. The scale, height and 
massing of the extension are modest and this is achieved through the use of a flat roof 
and low brick parapet. This ensures that the original house remains the dominant 
structure and that the extension does not appear unduly prominent on the Western 
elevation. The roofline of the extension lines up with the tops of the adjacent windows 
on the Southern elevation ensuring that it respects the angular proportions of the host 
dwelling and prevent the appearance of overdevelopment.  
 
A number of design features have been considered to ensure a sensitive relationship 
with the character and context of the host dwelling. The proposed fenestration on the 
Northern and Western elevations responds to that of the host dwelling, a significant 
character feature of Earlsdown. Traditional casement windows have been utilised with 
an equal degree of separation between each reflecting the windows f the host dwelling.  
The Southern elevation is glazed with a full height sliding door opening into the rear 
garden. This window respects the proportions of other full height windows on the 
Southern elevation whilst also making the extension appear lightweight. Window frames 
are white aluminium to present a similar visual appearance to the host dwelling. 
External walls are constructed with traditional red brick to match the host dwelling.  
 
It is considered that the ‘pavilion’ style extension presents a more contemporary in 
character through the use of a flat with brock parapet, metal coping and tall glazing. The 
High Quality Places SPD (2015) outlines that contrasting contemporary extensions area 
acceptable where they are related to the character and context of the host dwelling. It is 
considered that the factors outlined above provide an acceptable visual relationship 
which respond to the traditional character of the host dwelling whilst serving the more 
contemporary character of the extension. Overall, it is considered that the design and 
layout of the extension respects the character and context of Earlsdown. The proposal 
is compliant with policies DM15 and DM16 of WDLPP2 (2017) and the High Quality 
Places SPD (2015) 

 
Impact on character of area and neighbouring property 
 
The site lies within the conservation area of Winchester. Under Section 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act special attention should be paid 
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. 
Earlsdown is a non-designated heritage asset and this is also a material planning 
consideration.  
 
As the proposed extension is sited on the Western elevation it directly addresses the 
public realm Short range views of the proposal are possible when passing the site from 
the North or South along Baring Road. The Western site boundary is defined by a 
Victorian brick and flint wall. A number of protected trees sit along the interface with the 
public realm next to the roadside. The application also proposes screening along the 
boundary in the form of new planting. Planting close to the boundary to the fore of built 
form is characteristic of this part of the conservation area and the proposed extension 
does not erode this existing spatial relationship. It is considered that these elements on 
the boundary soften the appearance of the host dwelling within the conservations area.  
The modest scale of the extension and the set back from the boundary also ensures a 
suitable degree of separation between the extension and the public realm. The 

Page 103



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

combination of these factors ensures that the structure does not appear prominent within 
the street scene. It is not considered that the proposal would interrupt the most prominent 
view of Earlsdown from the corner of Northbrook Avenue and Stratton Road and has 
moderate impact upon the overall character of the street scene. 
 
It is noted that a window is demolished in order to accommodate the proposed extension 
and another window is altered to create a door within the Western elevation. Whilst this 
loss is unfortunate, it is considered that the extension relates well enough to the context 
of the building that this does not have a harmful impact on the character of the dwelling 
as viewed from the conservation area. The window is not the most significant window on 
this building nor the most visible. It is not considered that the proposed extension harms 
the integrity of the non-designated heritage asset and is acceptable. A number of 
dwellings within the surrounding area have utilised a contemporary design to extend and 
it is considered a part of the local vernacular. Considering the design features which have 
been utilised alongside screening at the boundary, it is not considered that this extension 
sits comfortably within its surroundings.  A glazing with a non-reflecting coating is utilised 
to ensure no excessive light spill out of the extension and into the conservation area. It is 
noted that larger extensions have been carried out to other properties within Earlsdown.  
 
Based upon the above assessment it is not considered that the proposed extension 
would have an unacceptable impact on the character or appearance of the host dwelling 
and would have a neutral effect on surrounding area and thus preserves the setting of the 
conservation area in accordance with Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and in compliance with DM27 of the WDLPP2 and 
paragraph 16 of the NPPF. 
 
As the proposal is sited on the Western elevation, it is kept away from the boundaries 
with neighbouring dwellings to the South and East. It is not considered that the proposed 
extension is harmful to neighbouring amenity and is compliant with policy DM17.  
 
Based upon the above assessment, it is not considered that the proposed development is 
of a size scale or character that the appearance of dwelling would be harmed from the 
public realm. Additionally, measures have been taken to ensure that the extension has as 
little impact upon the conservation as possible, taking into consideration character 
features of the surrounding area. The proposal is compliant with policies CP20 of LPP1 
(2013) and DM15, DM16, DM17, DM27 and DM28 of WDLPP2 (2017) and the High 
Quality Places SPD (2015).  
 
Landscape/Trees 

 
Much of the existing planting on site is overgrown and therefore is removed to 
accommodate the extension. A scheme of planting within the site alongside the Western 
boundary is proposed to improve views into the dwelling from the conservation area and 
to provide screening of the proposed extension. Planting close to the interface of the 
public realm is characteristic of this part of the conservation area. No work is proposed 
to protected trees close to the Western boundary, however a scheme of protection 
during construction has been provided to ensure the amenity of trees is protected.  

 
 
 
Other Matters 

Page 104



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

 
It is considered that there is potential for archaeological remains to be found at the site as 
the site lies within the within the area of a known Anglo-Saxon cemetery sited on the top of 
St Giles Hill. Pre-historic materials have also been found upon St Giles Hill and the site 
was also the location of a medieval fair. Whilst there are no overriding archaeological 
concerns, a programme of mitigation to investigate, record, analyse and subsequently 
report on the archaeological evidence that would otherwise be destroyed by the proposed 
development is required. 
 
A bat survey has been provided to support the application. No evidence of roosting bats 
was discovered within the area which accommodates the extension but conditions have 
been proposed to enhance the site for bat activity in the future.  
 
Due regard should be given to the Equality Act 2010: Public Sector Equality Duty. Public 
bodies need to consciously think about the three aims of the Equality Duty as part of the 
process of decision-making. The weight given to the Equality Duty, compared to the other 
factors, will depend on how much that function affects discrimination, equality of 
opportunity and good relations and the extent of any disadvantage that needs to be 
addressed. The Local Planning Authority has given due regard to this duty and the 
considerations do not outweigh any matters in the exercise of our duty as statutory 
planning authority for the council. 
 
Recommendation 
 Approve subject to the following condition(s): 
 
Conditions 
 
01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
02 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in accordance with the 
following plans: 
Location Plan received 23rd July 2020 drawing no. P001 
Proposed Site Plan received 18th December 2020 drawing no. P102 REV C  
Proposed Elevations received 01 March 2021 drawing no. P110 REV E  
Proposed Ground Floor Plan received 17th December 2020 drawing no. P103 REV A  
Proposed First Floor Plan received 23 November 2020 drawing no. P104 REV A    
Proposed Second Floor Plan received 23rd November 2020 drawing no. P105    
 
Reason: In the interests of proper planning and for the avoidance of doubt.  
 
03 The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension 
hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building. Images of the bricks, 
brick bonding and colour of  mortar shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to development commencing.  
 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the new development and 
the existing. 

Page 105



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

 
 
04 No development shall commence on-site until drawn sections and elevations the 
external windows and doors, including sill details (at a scale of 1:5), have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details must be 
referenced against the approved plans, and must show the relationship with the 
surrounding fabric. The development shall then proceed in strict accordance with 
the approved schedule unless agreed otherwise in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: Reason: To preserve the significance and setting of the host dwelling and 
conservation area , in accordance with Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990; NPPF (2019) Chapter 16 Local Plan Part 1 (2013), Policy 
CP20; Local Plan Part 2, Policy DM27. 
 
 
05 No development or any works of site preparation shall take place until the applicant or 
their agents or successors in title have implemented a programme of archaeological 
mitigation works, in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation that has been 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. No development or 
site preparation shall take place other than in accordance with the Written Scheme of 
Investigation approved by the LPA. The Written 
Scheme of Investigation shall include: 

 The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording 

 Provision for post investigation assessment, reporting and dissemination 

 Provision to be made for deposition of the analysis and records of the site 
investigation (archive) 

 Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works 
set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation. 

 
Reason: To mitigate the effect of the development upon any heritage assets and to ensure 
that information regarding these heritage assets is preserved by record for future 
generations Policy DM26 Winchester District Local Plan Part 2; Policy CP20 of the 
Winchester District Joint Core Strategy. 
 
06 Following completion of archaeological fieldwork, within 9 months (unless otherwise 
agreed in writing) a report will be produced in accordance with an approved programme 
including where appropriate post-excavation assessment, specialist analysis and reports 
and publication. The report shall be submitted to and approved by the local authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that evidence from the historic environment contributing to our 
knowledge and understanding of our past is captured and made publicly available. 
Policy DM26 Winchester District Local Plan Part 2; Policy CP20 of the Winchester District 
Joint Core Strategy. 
 
07 Protective measures, including ground protection, supervision, working procedures and 
special engineering solutions shall be carried out in accordance with the 
ARBORICULTURAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT IN RELATION TO PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT ON LAND AT; 1 EARLSDOWN, NORTHBROOK AVENUE, 

Page 106



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

WINCHESTER ,O23 0JW prepared by Bill Kowalczyk Dip.Arb(RFS), F.Arbor.A of 
Professional Tree Services Ltd. dated 14.07.2021 reference LANE/2249aia. 
 
Reason: Reason: To ensure that reasonable measures are taken to safeguard trees in the 
interests of local amenity and the enhancement of the development itself, in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (Feb 2019) and policy 
DM15 of the adopted Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 2017. 
 
08 No development, or site preparation prior to operations which has any effect on 
compacting, disturbing or altering the levels of the site, shall take place until a person 
suitably qualified in arboriculture, and approved as suitable by the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA), has been appointed to supervise construction activity occurring on 
the site. The arboricultural supervisor will be responsible for the implementation of 
protective measures, special surfacing and all works deemed necessary by the 
approved arboricultural method statement. Where ground measures are deemed 
necessary to protect root protection areas, the arboricultural supervisor shall ensure 
that these are installed prior to any vehicle movement, earth moving or construction 
activity occurring on the site and that all such measures to protect trees are inspected by 
the Local Planning Authority Arboricultural Officer prior to commencement of development 
work. 
 
Reason: To ensure protection and long term viability of retained trees and to 
minimise impact of construction activity. 
 
09 The Arboricultural Officer shall be informed prior to the commencement of construction 
of special surfacing under tree canopies, site clearance and construction works so that a 
pre commencement site visit can be carried out. This will be attended by the site manager, 
the Arboricultural consultant and the LPA tree officer. (Telephone 01962 848403). 
 
Reason To ensure protection and long term viability of retained trees and to minimise 
impact of construction activity. 
 
10 No arboricultural works shall be carried out to trees other than those specified and in 
accordance with ARBORICULTURAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT IN RELATION TO 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT ON LAND AT; 1 EARLSDOWN, NORTHBROOK AVENUE, 

WINCHESTER,ref: LANE/2249aia dated 14.07.2020. Any deviation from works 
prescribed or methods agreed in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment/Method Statement shall be agreed in writing to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the protection and long term viability of retained trees, to 
minimise impact of construction activity and to safeguard the amenity value that the 
identified trees have within the surrounding area. 
 
11 No development shall take place until details planting and landscape works have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall 
be carried out as approved. This should be submitted in the form of a landscaping plan.  
 
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
12 The recommendations within the Bat Survey Report (Hampshire Ecological Services 
Ltd, March 2020) shall be adhered to throughout all phases of the development and 

Page 107



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

enhancement features (including 1 bat box, 1 House Sparrow terrace and 1 Swift box) 
shall be sited prior to the development coming into its intended use and retained 
thereafter. 
 
Reason: To safeguard protected species and maintain biodiversity. 
 
13 Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development.  The 
lighting scheme should be in accordance with Guidance Note 08/18 produced by the Bat 
Conservation Trust and Institute of Lighting Professionals. This information shall include a 
layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of equipment in the design (luminaire 
type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles). The lighting shall be installed, 
maintained and operated in accordance with the approved details unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to the variation. 
 
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and protected species 
from light pollution. 
 
 
 
 
Informatives: 
 
01 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (July 2018) , Winchester City Council 
(WCC) take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, working with 
applicants and agents to achieve the best solution. To this end WCC: 
- offer a pre-application advice service and, 
- update applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application, where possible suggesting alternative solutions. 
In this instance a site meeting was carried out with the applicant. 
 
02 The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan 
policies and proposals:- 
Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy: DS1, CP20  
Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations: DM15, DM16, DM17, 
DM24, DM26, DM27, DM28 
High Quality Places Supplementary Planning Document (2015)  
St Giles Hill Village Design Statement  
 
03 This permission is granted for the following reasons: 
 
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out above, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted. 
 
04 All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant operation 
should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs Monday to Friday and 
0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 
Where allegations of noise from such works are substantiated by the Environmental 

Page 108



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of operation under The Control of Pollution 
Act 1974 may be served. 
 
05 During construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of 
statutory nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an Abatement 
Notice may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. The applicant is 
reminded that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of materials is a direct 
offence under The Clean Air Act 1993. 
 
06 Please be respectful to your neighbours and the environment when carrying out your 
development. Ensure that the site is well organised, clean and tidy and that facilities, 
stored materials, vehicles and plant are located to minimise disruption. Please consider 
the impact on your neighbours by informing them of the works and minimising air, light and 
noise pollution and minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and working on public or 
private roads. Any damage to these areas should be remediated as soon as is practically 
possible. 
 
For further advice, please refer to the Construction Code of Practise 
 
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-
practice  
 
07 Please be advised that Building Regulations approval may be required for this 
development. Please contact WCC Building Control Department for more information (T: 
01962 848176, E: buildingcontrol@winchester.gov.uk) 
 
08 The applicant is advised that one or more of the Conditions attached to this permission 
need to be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before works can 
commence on site.   Details, plans or samples required by Conditions should be submitted 
to the Council at least 8 weeks in advance of the start date of works to give adequate time 
for these to be dealt with.    If works commence on site before all of the pre-
commencement Conditions are discharged then this would constitute commencement of 
development without the benefit of planning permission and could result in Enforcement 
action being taken by the Council. 
 
The submitted details should be clearly marked with the following information: 
 
         The name of the planning officer who dealt with application 
         The application case number 
         Your contact details 
         The appropriate fee. 
 
Further information, application forms and guidance can be found on the Council's website 
- www.winchester.gov.uk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109

http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-practice
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-practice
mailto:buildingcontrol@winchester.gov.uk
http://www.winchester.gov.uk/


WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/01581/HOU 
 

 

 

Page 110



20/01581/HOU – 1 Earlsdown, 

Northbrook Avenue, Winchester, 

SO32 0JW

(Amended Plans) Single storey extension, internal 

alterations and partial demolition to the West of 

the property.  (Amended Description)

P
age 111



LOCATION PLAN 

P
age 112



AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH 

Site Boundary is 

hatched.

Shows positing of the 

dwelling in relation to 

neighboring dwellings 

and St Giles Hill green. 

P
age 113



PROPOSED SITE PLAN  

Position of proposed 

extension

Western boundary. Planting 

proposed. 

P
age 114



EXISTING & PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS 

Existing Proposed 

P
age 115



PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN 

Proposed first floor plans shows 

the flat roof of the proposed 

extension. 

P
age 116



PROPOSED NORTHERN ELEVATION

View from Northbrook Avenue to the 

North

Extension is sited here

P
age 117



Proposed Western Elevation

View from the Western boundary.

Extension sited here. 

P
age 118



Proposed Southern Elevation 

Views from within the rear and side  

gardens.

P
age 119



Site Photograph 

View of Earlsdown from the green on St Giles Hill to the West of the proposal 

site. 

P
age 120



Site Photographs 

View of Earlsdown from Stratton Road to the 

South

P
age 121



Site Photographs

View of Western elevation from Stratton 

Road 

P
age 122



Site Photographs 

View from the corner of Northbrook 

Avenue and Stratton Road 

P
age 123



CONCLUSION

Recommendation: PERMIT 

In conclusion, it is not considered that the 
proposed development is of a size scale or 

character that the appearance of dwelling would 
be harmed from the conservation area. The 
proposal is compliant with policies CP20 of 

LPP1 (2013) and DM15, DM16, DM17, DM27 
and DM28 of WDLPP2 (2017) and the High 

Quality Places SPD (2015). 

P
age 124



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

  
Case No: 19/02421/FUL  
Proposal Description: Residential development comprising 60 no. dwellings and 4 no. 

flats with access from New Road together with car parking, 
landscaping, public open space and associated works 

Address: Land Off New Road Swanmore Hampshire  
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City: 

 Swanmore 

Applicants Name: Mr G Allison 
Case Officer: Liz Marsden 
Date Valid: 13 November 2019 

Recommendation:  
 

 
Link to Planning Documents : https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-
applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application 
 
Pre Application Advice: Yes 
 
 

 

 
 
© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531 

 

Page 125

Agenda Item 12

https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

 
General Comments 
 
Parish Council’s request for application to be determined by Planning Committee, 
see Appendix 1 
 
Application is also reported to Committee due to the number of objections received, 
contrary to officer recommendation 
 

Amended plans were received on 13.11.2020, the principle differences being:  

 

 Reduction in number of units from 71 to 64  

 Change of house types to better suit Housing Association standards  

 Removal of block of flats to south of access road  

 Provision of pedestrian link to development immediately north  

 Removal of dwellings at edge of site, away from hedges  

 Amendments to layout in centre of site to provide area of green space and tree 
lined east-west link  

 Removal of visitor car parking spaces near site entrance  

 Reworked drainage scheme to include provision of SuDS basin  
 
Amended plans received 03.02.21 providing additional details of visibility splays and 
revised boundary treatments (introduction of solid brick screen walls in place of brick 
piers and fence panels) to address comments by the highways authority and Landscape 
officer.  
 
Amended plans received 17.03.21 showing alterations to: 
- Western edge of site to increase use of block paving in order to provide more 

distinction between primary and secondary roads 
- Detailed planting scheme and landscaping 
- Extension of turning head and footway at eastern end of site to meet the site 

boundary, to ensure that access available to adjacent site 
- Reduction to front garden of plot 57 to ensure adequate visibility as required by the 

highway authority.  
 
Amended plans received 26.03.21 with updated street scene plan and house types to 
address Urban Design officer comments, together with amendment to visibility splay 
required by Highways Authority.   

 
Site Description 
The site has a total area of around 2.4ha and forms the westernmost part of a wider area, 
extending from New Road to the west and Hill Pound to the east, which is allocated for 
housing (policy SW1 of Winchester Local Plan Part 2). The site is located on the edge of 
the settlement of Swanmore which, in the area adjacent to the allocation, is comprised of 
housing developments dating from the late 1960’s and early 1970’s. To the east of the site, 
there is a further parcel of land, within the same allocation, which contains a single 
detached residential property (Belmont Farm) and a collection of outbuildings. To the north 
and west, there is a field that is designated as a SINC and which is to be retained as such.  
To the south there is a narrow gravel track (The Lakes) which runs along the southern 
boundary of the allocation, from New Road to Hill Pound. 

Page 126



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

 
The site is comprised of two open fields, used for grazing, separated by a post and wire 
fence. There is little discernible change in land levels across the site, though the southern 
part, is in a flood zone. There are no significant natural features within the fields, which is 
rough pasture, but the boundaries are defined by mature hedges and trees, the tallest of 
which are located to the south of the site. There is an existing access to the site via a field 
gate from New Road.   
 
Notwithstanding the existing residential development to the north, the site and its 
immediate surroundings are predominantly rural in terms of their character and 
appearance.  
 
 
Proposal 
 
The proposal is for the development of 64 residential units (60 houses and 4 flats), nearly 
40% of which will be affordable units, together with a new access road from New Road 
and associated landscaping and drainage facilities. The proposed residential units are 
predominantly two-storey, some with rooms in the roof, and are a mixture of detached, 
semi-detached and short terraces.  
 
Bin and cycle storage will be provided for each unit together with parking provision in 
accordance with adopted standards and 13 visitors parking spaces scattered throughout 
the site.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
Site allocated for residential development in policy SW1 of LPP2.  
 
15/01693/FUL - Erection of 91 dwellings with associated parking, access, landscaping, 
and surface water drainage - application permitted 10.03.2016 (easternmost part of the 
allocated land with access onto Hill Pound, now constructed and called Horders 
View/Holywell Close/Hamble Rise) 

 
18/01598/OUT - Demolition of all existing buildings and outline planning permission with all 
matters reserved for x27 residential units - application withdrawn 03.10.2018 (site to east 
of current proposal – Belmont Farm)  
 
20/00970/FUL - Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to provide x32 
residential units (net additional x31) (Use Class C3). – refused 04.12.2020 (Belmont Farm)  
 
Consultations 
 
WCC Service Lead for Environmental Services: Drainage - No objection subject to 
confirmation of capacity from Southern Water and appropriate conditions. (conditions 13 
and 15) 
 
HCC Flood and Water Management team: No objection subject to conditions (condition 
13) 
 
HCC Highways: Initial objection to original submission on grounds of: 
- Lack of information re. personal injury accident data 

Page 127



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

- Lack of detail on visibility splays and uncontrolled pedestrian crossing points at main 
access to New Road 

- Lack of pedestrian links to adjacent sites 
- Issues with the layout of internal roads, including visibility at junctions, restricted 

swept path analysis, inadequate service margins.  
- Parking issues, including inadequate length and uneven distribution of visitor spaces, 

difficulty in manoeuvring for some plots 
- Lack of detail about cycle parking/storage 
- TRICS analysis provide reasonable estimate for traffic generation but Transport 

Statement does not appear to have considered the impact of the school traffic or the 
cumulative impact from the adjacent part of the allocated site.  

 
Following the submission of additional information and revised plans, the majority of the 
comments raised previously were addressed. The addendum to the Transport Statement 
takes into account school traffic and the cumulative impact of the adjacent allocated site 
and if is accepted that any increase in traffic as a result of the development is relatively 
small. Overall, the proposed development is unlikely to result in any capacity issues on 
the local highway network. The changes to the internal layout generally acceptable, 
though concerns about the location of a water storage tank under the highway and it is 
unlikely that the internal roads will be adopted if this is retained.  
 
Further plans and details have been submitted to address the remaining concerns and it 
has been confirmed by the highways authority that the proposal is acceptable in terms of 
its layout and impact on local highway network.  Note has been taken of the additional 
comments and speed survey data provided by the Parish Council to HCC and a 
recommendation to provide slightly higher visibility splays, capable of being 
accommodated, has been included as a condition (condition 5). In addition the concerns 
about on-street parking have been considered and it is requested that contributions are 
secured towards progressing a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to control on-street 
parking on New Road in the vicinity of the access and within the development. This would 
be included within the 106 Agreement.  
 
WCC Service Lead for Environment - Environmental Protection: No objection but would 
recommend a condition requiring the submission of an Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) (condition 3) 
 
WCC Service Lead for the Built Environment - Urban Design. Initial objections which 
could be overcome by further alterations.  
 
Initial amendments made to the proposal but don’t go far enough to accord with the 
requirements of policy SW1 and the original masterplan. Would expect a reduction in 
numbers to allow a looser grain along the urban edge and provision of continuous green 
corridor between SINCs.  
 
Following further amendments to address earlier comments, it is considered that, whilst 
the developer could go further to secure greater enhancements and visual 
distinctiveness, it would be difficult to object to the proposal.  
 
 
WCC Service Lead for the Built Environment – Archaeology: No objection 
 

Page 128



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

 
WCC Service Lead for Environmental Services –Trees: No objection subject to conditions 
(condition 8).  
 
WCC Service Lead for Environmental Services – Landscape: Soft and hard landscaping 
specifications are acceptable. The originally proposed boundaries of brick piers with close 
board fencing infill were not acceptable, but these have now been amended to solid walls 
which is acceptable.   
 
WCC Service Lead for Environmental Services - Ecology: Further information is required 
to ensure no construction or operational impacts on surrounding SINCs and ecological 
designations. This should include a drainage assessment/strategy, Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and a Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
assessment to inform a Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan (BMEP). European 
Protected Species Licences will be required from Natural England prior to the start of 
development or any preparatory works. (conditions 3, 21 and 22) 
 
WCC Service Lead for Housing - New Homes Team – No objection is raised in respect of 

the affordable housing proposed for this application subject to the appointment of an 

acceptable provider.  

WCC Service Lead for Built Environment - Strategic Planning: The development of the 
site for housing is acceptable in principle and allowed for under policy SW1. However, 
there are parts of the policy that the proposal does not comply with, including the 
provision of a masterplan which is necessary to ensure comprehensive planning of the 
area and suitable linkages across the sites. Masterplan subsequently provided.  
 
Environment Agency: No objection subject to conditions and informatives (condition 14, 
informative 6)  
 
Natural England:  
- Water Environment. Originally objection due to mitigation land not being in the same 

river catchment area as the site. Following agreement of developer to Grampian 
condition, objection withdrawn.  

- Protected landscapes. Potential impact on SDNP, due to proximity, should be 
assessed 

- Protected species and biodiversity. A biodiversity mitigation and enhancement plan 
should be submitted and measures secured as part of any application (condition 19) 

- New Road Meadow SINC. The submission of a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan welcomed and should be secured via an appropriately worded 
condition. (condition 3) 

 
Southern Water: Recognised that sewerage network reinforcement/upgrade is proposed 
and needs to be agreed via a separate application to Southern Water. A recent letter, 
dated 29.04.21, confirms that, following more detailed network modelling as part of a 
network growth review, the assessment indicates that the additional foul sewerage flows 
from the proposed development will not increase the risk of flooding in the existing public 
sewerage development. Southern Water can therefore facilitate foul sewerage disposal to 
service the proposed development. The occupation of the development is required to be 
phased to align with the delivery of the upgrade (condition 15).  

Page 129



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

 
In some circumstances SuDS will be adopted by Southern Water if requested by the 
developer. If the SuDS are not adoptable, there is a requirement for details to be provided 
of the responsibilities of each party involved in the implementation, a timetable for 
implementation and arrangements for the long-term maintenance of proposed SUDS 
facilities to ensure their effectiveness. (S.106 Agreement) 
 
Representations: 
 
Swanmore Parish Council – Objection. (full comments in appendix 1) 

 Density too high 

 Adverse impact on road safety, given location opposite Swanmore College and 
lack of masterplan means that they haven’t taken into account the development of 
the entire site. 

 Transport Plan does not make allowances for deliveries during peak school times 

 Contrary to Village Design Statement  

 Inadequate parking, provision should be made for some parking to be used in 
connection with the college. 

 Nitrate off-set has not been met.  

 There is no stated environmental standard for the houses to be built to. 

 No Master Plan has been submitted to take into account development on adjacent 
site. 

 Further CIL funding should be used for the redevelopment of the village hall. 

 Doors should not be fitted to garages in order to ensure they are used to provide 
space for car parking. 

 
Hampshire Swifts society – welcome the introduction of Swift boxes, but consider that 
may more are required.  
 
Letter on behalf of the proposed developers of the site to the east of the current proposal 
(Belmont Farm). Raises concerns that applicants have not acknowledged the proposed 
development of that site or provided defined phasing which will ensure that the access 
link to Belmont Farm will be provided as part of their first phase and enable that 
development to be brought forward in a timely manner.  
 
36 letters from 33 households received objecting to the application for the following 
material planning reasons:  

 Overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring properties 

 Noise disturbance and dust pollution  

 Density inappropriate and has no aesthetic merit 

 Loss of outlook 

 Exceeds housing requirement for the area 

 Increase traffic will be hazardous to users of the road, particularly given the close 
proximity of the access to the school where accidents have already occurred. 

 Lack of road safety measures 

 Lack of provision for footpaths and cycleways 

 Parking provision inadequate and will lead to residents parking in visitor spaces 

 Add to the significant congestion that already occurs on the roads in the vicinity 

 The existing infrastructure and services in Swanmore are inadequate and will not 

Page 130



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

be able to cope with increase in development.  

 Loss of village character of Swanmore 

 Erosion of the countryside, green gaps and natural corridors within the village 

 Site prone to flooding and the proposed SUDs system will not be able to cope 

 Proposed mitigation for nitrates not within the right catchment area 

 Net increase in biodiversity not demonstrated 

 Not obvious whether there is provision for affordable homes 

 Query over sustainability and efficiency of new houses 
 
Reasons aside not material to planning and therefore not addressed in this report 

 Loss of property value, inability to sell 
 
 
Relevant Planning Policy: 
Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy (LPP1): formally adopted by the Council on 20 
March 2013.  The following policies are particularly relevant to this application: 
 
DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles 
MTRA1 – Development Strategy for Market Towns and Rural Area 
MTRA2 – Market Towns and Larger Villages 
CP1 – Housing Provision 
CP2 – Housing Provision and Mix  
CP3 – Affordable Housing Provision on Market led Housing Sites 
CP7 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
CP11 – Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development 
CP13 – High Quality Design 
CP14 – Effective Uses of Land 
CP15 – Green Infrastructure 
CP16 – Biodiversity  
CP17 – Flooding, Flood risk and the Water Environment 
CP20 – Heritage and Landscape Character  
CP21 – Infrastructure and Community Benefit 
 
Local Plan Part 2: Development Management and Site Allocations (LPP2)  
Formally adopted by the Council on 5th April 2017.  The following policies are particularly 
relevant to this application: 
 
SW1 – The Lakes Swanmore 
DM1 – Location of New Development 
DM2 – Dwelling Sizes 
DM6 – Open Space Provision for New Developments 
DM15 – Local Distinctiveness 
DM16 – Site Design Criteria 
DM17 – Site Development Principles 
DM18 – Access and Parking 
DM24 – Special Trees, Important Hedgerows and Ancient Woodlands 
DM26 - Archaeology 
 
Hampshire Waste & Minerals Plan Adopted by HCC, October 2013.     
Policy 15 – Safeguarding Mineral Resources: 

Page 131



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

Part of the site lies within the Minerals Safeguarding Area for brick clay mineral as set out 
in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan.   
 
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents: 
Swanmore Village Design Statement (2019),  
Car Parking Standards (2008)  
High Quality Places SPD (2015). 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Principle of development 
Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The site forms part of a site allocation in the Winchester District Local 
Plan Part 2 - Development Management and Site Allocations (LPP2), covered by policy 
SW1 and its development for residential properties is therefore acceptable in principle. It 
is recognised that the number of dwellings referred to in the policy, across the entire site 
(about 140), does not preclude an increase in the number of dwellings as referred to by 
the Inspector in the examination of LPP2, with the caveats that density should be 
'generally consistent with the sites character and location'.  
 
The development of this site must also comply with the specific requirements of SW1 as 
well as the development plan as viewed as a whole. SW1 requires that a suitable 
masterplan be submitted with each application across the area, which establishes various 
principles. Individual applications should demonstrate how their proposals fit in with the 
overall plan. A masterplan formed part of the application for the first development 
approved on this site at Hillpound (now built out and called ‘Horders View’). It is 
recognised that such masterplans may vary with different developers and phases and the 
masterplan submitted with this proposal shows a considerable difference, in terms of both 
the layout and number of units to the original submission. It is necessary to assess 
whether these differences result in so significant a departure from the policy requirements 
of SW1, which include requirements for phasing, access, environmental measures and 
other infrastructure, so as to result in demonstrable harm that would warrant a refusal. Or 
whether the benefits to be derived from the development, that is acceptable in terms of 
other planning criteria, would outweigh policy considerations. These issues are assessed 
in subsequent sections of this report.  
 
It is recognised that the density of the proposal is higher than that envisaged at the time 
of the policy allocation and in the originally submitted masterplan, which showed fewer 
properties in larger gardens, leading to a more spacious pattern of development, 
appropriate to the site on the edge of the countryside. In this case the proposal would 
result in a total for the SW1 allocation of 155 units, across 2 sites, with the potential for 
further development on the Belmont Farm site which, whilst the previous scheme for 32 
houses (on half of the central site) was not considered to be acceptable, could be 
capable of accommodating more than shown on the masterplan. The overall number of 
houses across the allocation could therefore be in the region of 45-50% greater than the 
figure quoted in the policy.  

Page 132



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

 
The Council has an adequate supply of housing land for 6.7 years (under the current 
standard method of calculating the requirement) and therefore, whilst there is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, this does not justify a departure from 
policy. However, where it can be demonstrated that the development is acceptable in 
terms of its overall impact, then there is a benefit to be derived from providing additional 
dwellings, including affordable properties, within an existing allocation and would serve to 
strengthen the council’s ability to resist new development in less appropriate locations.  
 
Policy CP14 of LPP1 states that the development potential of all sites should be 
maximised and that higher densities will be supported on sites which have good access 
to facilities and public transport.  The primary determinant will be how well the design 
responds to the general character of the area, which is discussed in more detail in 
subsequent sections of this assessment. 
 
Policy CP2 states that new residential development should meet a range of community 
needs and deliver a wide choice of homes.  The provision of new affordable housing is 
set as a priority. The policy seeks a mixture of housing types, sizes and tenures 
appropriate to the site, size, location and characteristics, with the majority being in the 
form of 2 and 3 bed dwellings.  The application proposes 64 homes of which 4 will be 1 
bed, 13 x 2 bed, 41 x 3 bed and 6 x 4 bed. It therefore complies with the numerical 
requirement of the policy.   
 
Policy CP3 relates to the requirement for the provision of affordable homes as part of the 
development. In this case: 
 

- 25 homes are to be affordable which amounts to 39.06% of the overall number on 
the site,  Policy CP3 states that the expectation is that 40% of the homes will be 
affordable which would equate to 25.6 homes leaving 0.6 outstanding. The 
applicant has confirmed that this shortfall will be made up as a financial 
contribution.  

- In terms of tenure, 17 of the affordable units are to be for rent, with 8 for Shared 
Ownership. This is broadly in accordance with the 70/30 split required by the 
policy.   

- The proposal offers an acceptable range of types and sizes of affordable units.  
- The size of the individual units will be meet the Nationally Described Space 

Standards as required by LPP2 policy DM2.  
- The affordable homes are dispersed throughout the site and their location is 

acceptable.   
 

The housing development would also need to meet the requirements for sustainable 
construction required by policy CP11 of the LPP1, (as modified by Government 
announcements) which means all dwellings meet code 4 of the Code for Sustainable 
Homes. These details will be secured by conditions 9 and 19. 
 
Parking provision for the development is in accordance with standards for residential 
properties.  
 
Policies DM15 – DM18 set out the criteria for new development in order to ensure that it 
respects and responds positively to the qualities and characteristics of the surrounding 
area and that its layout, scale and design provide a satisfactory level of accommodation 

Page 133



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

for its residents without having an adverse impact on those of neighbouring properties. 
These aspects are assessed in more detail in subsequent sections of this report. 
 
Design/layout 

 
The layout has been designed in order to maximise the development potential of the 
useable part of the site, avoiding any encroachment into the area at risk of flood in the 
southern part of the site. The initial submission was considered to be unacceptable in 
terms of its overall density, leading to a cramped layout that failed to provide sufficient 
room around the perimeter of the site. Following discussions with the developers, the 
scheme was amended, removing 7 dwelling units, including the flats that were to have 
been located to the south of the access road, a dwelling in the northernmost corner. The 
reduction in numbers has enabled the creation of a centrally located open space as well 
as providing a wider area around the boundaries of the site, ensuring that there will be 
no necessity to reduce the width of the existing hedgerows, which provide important 
green links across the allocated sites, and to provide an acceptable relationship with 
existing adjacent properties.  
 
In addition, the gardens of the dwellings along the boundary with the New Road 
Meadow SINC (plots 1-8), where there is only a low fence and little hedging, have been 
off-set from the boundary in order to leave a buffer zone. This will protect the SINC from 
the residential activities, including the temptation to deposit garden clippings over the 
boundary and enable the provision of a more substantial hedge.  
 
The development comprises a variety of types of dwelling, including detached, semi-
detached and short terraces of houses, together with a small apartment block. The 
majority of the buildings are two-storey and traditionally designed with pitched roofs and 
it is considered that the design of these buildings responds sympathetically to the 
character and form of traditional development in the vicinity. Concern has been raised 
that some buildings are in excess of 2.5 storeys and would not be in accordance with 
the guidance of the Swanmore Village Design Statement, this is not in fact the case. 
The few (11) properties that have accommodation over 3 floors are centrally located 
within the site and the accommodation is provided by means of dormers in the roof 
slopes, with little (1m) increase in the overall height of the building.  
 
The materials to be used are also traditional, walls being a mixture of brick types, tile 
hanging and timber with roofs of natural slate and clay tiles. The materials and detailing 
of the dwellings vary across the site and it is considered that, notwithstanding the 
similarity in design across the range of dwellings the use of such detailing will provide 
sufficient distinction to ensure that the overall appearance of the development is of an 
appropriate standard.  
 

Car parking is dispersed across the development by having some to the front of houses 
or some to the sides or in garages with a small parking court serving the flats and 
adjacent property, ensuring that vehicles will not be a dominant feature in the street 
scene. The use of hard surfacing materials also reflects and provides clarity to the 
hierarchy of roads through the site.  
 
The road layout shows the primary access road extending to the red line, which forms 
the eastern boundary of the site and the land over which the applicant has an option. It 
has become apparent however, following representations made by the potential 

Page 134



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

developers of the adjacent site, Belmont Farm, that this falls short of the actual 
boundary of Belmont Farm, as a section of land along this boundary, to the east of the 
Persimmon site, has been retained by the landowner. In these circumstances it has 
been argued that the proposed development does not accord with policy SW1 as it does 
not make provision for access links to be available across the allocated land, ensuring 
that the site is capable of being developed in accordance with the submitted 
masterplan. Whilst it is recognised that landownership issues are not generally a 
material planning consideration, the inability to comply with policy SW1 in this respect is 
considered to justify a reason for refusal.  
 
Subsequent to this issue being highlighted, the applicants have entered into further 
negotiations with the landowner and obtained their assurance that they are willing to 
enter into the 106 Agreement requiring access in perpetuity across the land currently 
excluded from the application site. In addition, a Grampian condition, requiring the 
extension of the access road to the boundary of the Belmont Farm site has been 
included (condition 6) and the proposal does not therefore prejudice the development of 
remaining parts of the SW1 allocation and a reason for refusal on these grounds could 
not be sustained.  
 
Further permeability of the site is provided by means of a pedestrian link to Spring Vale, 
to the north of the site. The retention of the open space along the southern boundary 
serves to link all of the allocated sites and this area, together with the centrally located 
open green space and new play area are in accordance with the provisions of policy 
SW1.  
 

Impact on character of area  
The site is located on the edge of the urban area and currently comprises open fields, 
resulting in a rural character and appearance. To the north the site is bounded by the 
existing residential development of Spring Vale, the upper floors and roofs of which are 
visible above the mature hedge along the boundary. To the south there are further fields, 
extending along the length of The Lakes, with the exception of a site to the south east, 
where there is a Travellers site with a number of pitches.  
 
It is recognised that the principle of residential development on this site and on land to the 
east has been accepted through its inclusion in an allocation for housing and that this will 
inevitably have an impact on the rural characteristics of the area. However, whilst the 
density of the proposal is greater than envisaged in the original master plan, it is less 
dense than that of existing development to the north. Moreover the spacing of houses, 
along what would be the new interface with the countryside to the south, along the main 
access road, provides a looser grain than is currently the case where the continuous 
terraces of Spring Vale look out over the site. This more spacious appearance will serve to 
provide a transition between the existing ‘hard’ edge of the village and the countryside 
which, together with the retention and enhancement of the green area along the southern 
boundary, will provide the strong new settlement edge that is required by policy SW1.  
 
The comments of Natural England about the potential impact on protected landscapes, 
namely the South Downs National Park (SDNP), are noted. However, the nearest part of 
the site to the SDNP boundary is in excess of 500m and the intervening land to both the 
north and east is developed and it is not considered that the proposal would be visible 
from the Park or have an adverse impact on its landscape.  
 

Page 135



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

Impact on neighbour amenity 
The nearest residential properties are located to the north of the site, in Spring Vale, with 
single and two-storey dwellings facing towards the site. Revisions to the layout of the plan 
has increased the distance between the northernmost dwellings with those in Spring 
Vale. This ensures that there is a minimum distance of 18m between the side elevation of 
plot 25 and the dwellings to the north and 21m between windows of the houses that face 
north and those in Spring Vale, which is considered to be acceptable and ensure that 
they will not have an unduly adverse impact on the amenities of the occupants of those 
houses through loss of privacy, light or outlook.  
 
The existing house at Belmont Farm, is set relatively close to the boundary and a 
distance of 13m from the side elevation of the nearest proposed house.  Whilst it is 
understood that this building is likely to be demolished in any future redevelopment of the 
site, in the event that this does not take place, the impact of the current proposal should 
be assessed. The elevation of the nearest house has one small window, serving a 
bathroom, at first floor level in the side elevation, and will not therefore result in loss of 
privacy through overlooking. In terms of its impact on the outlook from Belmont Farm, that 
property is orientated so that it’s primary windows face south and east, with the only 
windows at first floor level (the ground floor looks out onto the drive and existing dense 
hedge) serving a bathroom and stairwell.   
 
Within the site, the development accords with the accepted standards for new residential 
properties, in terms of the distances between houses, to ensure that the relationships are 
appropriate and sufficient to avoid undue loss of privacy, light or outlook.  
 
Landscape/Trees 

Landscaping proposals have been submitted which, in addition to the retention of all 
existing trees and hedges around the site (with the exception of a small section of 
hedge to create a footpath link through to Spring Vale), provide details of proposed tree 
and hedgerow planting. These include the provision of a native species hedge along the 
northern boundary of the site with the SINC, which will link with other hedges around the 
site, areas of meadow grassland and wetlands in the larger open area to the south and 
shrub and larger tree planting throughout the development site. In addition the planting 
along the southern boundary of the site is to be strengthened with a belt of woodland of 
a mixed variety of trees, ensuring the strong new settlement edge required by policy 
SW1. The schedule of planting that has been submitted  

 
Highways/Parking 
Parking is provided in accordance with adopted standards and the access to New Road 
has been improved to an appropriate standard with alterations made to the internal layout 
to accord with highway standards.  Significant concern has been raised about the 
increased traffic resulting from this development in terms of its impact on road safety, 
particularly in view of its proximity to Swanmore College and the congestion that already 
takes place along New Road. The revised transport statement has included in its 
assessment the potential traffic both from this scheme and the future development of the 
adjacent Belmont Farm site for 57 houses and the Highways Officer has concluded that 
the development is unlikely to result in any capacity issues on the local highway network, 
and it is not considered that a refusal on this basis could be justified.   
 
It is understood that following a more recent incident of a child being hit by a car, the 
Headmaster of the college, together with Parish and County Councillors have contacted 

Page 136



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

the highways authority to improve the situation on the road, possibly by means of a 
pedestrian crossing outside the school, and this is being assessed by the highways 
authority. The developers have agreed to a TRO to control on-street parking near the site 
and access and along the internal road.  
 
The issue of the road not extending fully to the boundary of Belmont Farm has been 
resolved through the confirmation that the landowner will enter into a 106 agreement 
ensuring access in perpetuity across the land that has not been included in the application 
site, together with a Grampian condition requiring the developers to provide the link across 
this land.  

 
Ecology 
A comprehensive ecological report was submitted with the application and identifies the 
features of generally greater ecological value on the site as being the boundary 
vegetation, including the hedgerows and mature trees. The site has been confirmed as 
supporting a limited diversity of foraging and commuting bats and reptiles have been 
confirmed as absent from the site. The site has also been assessed as having suitability 
for supporting breeding birds, terrestrial great crested newt (GCN) and European 
hedgehog.  
 
The report refers to the record of a single GCN, approximately 25m to the east of the 
site (a pond within Belmont Farm land), that was identified in a survey undertaken in 
2016 and which was included in the Ecological Assessment and Mitigation Strategy 
submitted in support of the recent 2020 application on the Belmont Farm site. Whilst it 
was not possible for the ecologists to carry out their own survey of Belmont Farm, the 
noted presence of a GCN and the suitability of the application site as habitat during its 
terrestrial phase of the GCN has informed the precautionary approach to be taken, with 
the assumption made that GCN are present. In these circumstances it is noted that the 
clearance of vegetation on the application site has the potential to result in direct harm 
to GCN and long-term loss of GCN habitat. The report therefore sets out precautionary 
mitigation measures, including further surveys (with the permission of the owners of 
Belmont Farm, as required), the necessity for a European Protected Species Licence 
from Natural England and compensation for the loss of habitat through the 
enhancement of part of the land to be used as a receptor site for any GCN that are 
translocated. The measures to be taken are confirmed in an updated ecological note 
and can be secured through conditions and the licencing process.  
 
The report also sets out a number of measures for additional mitigation, compensation 
and enhancements for other noted species that would be implemented as part of the 
application, but does not provide a Biodiversity Net Gain assessment by which it is 
possible to measure a minimum of 10% gain in biodiversity. However, this can be 
included as part of a Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan which, together with 
a Construction Environmental Management Plan, necessary to safeguard the integrity 
of the adjacent New Road Meadow SINC, can be secured by means of condition (21).  
 
A drainage assessment and strategy has been produced which incorporates measures, 
such as SuDS, that are confirmed by Natural England as being of benefit in the 
reduction of the volume of surface water run-off from the development site, slow the 
flow of run-off to greenfield rates, and include pollutant controls, prior to discharge into 
any watercourse.  
 

Page 137



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

It is considered that, with appropriate mitigation and enhancement measures in place, 
the proposed development would not adversely affect the ecology of the area. 
 
Nitrates 
The site is located in an area where Natural England has raised concern regarding the 
continued discharge of nitrates and phosphorus (nutrients) due to its proximity to and 
impact, resulting from eutrophication, on the Solent water environment, recognised as 
being internationally important for its wildlife and safeguarded by Special Protection 
Area designations. A Nitrate ‘budget’ has been submitted, which demonstrates that the 
development would result in additional nitrogen being released into the sewerage 
system and appropriate mitigation will be required in order to achieve the neutrality that 
is required.  
 
In relation to this proposal it was originally proposed by the applicant that the additional 
nitrogen resulting from the development could be offset by means of taking an area of 
land out of agricultural usage. However, whilst this is generally an acceptable means of 
mitigation, the land selected was located in the catchment area of the River Test, rather 
than the catchment of the Hamble River, within which the application site is located.  
 
Following advice from Natural England that offsetting land must be limited to within the 
River Hamble catchment the applicants have agreed to the Grampian condition, set out 
in the Council's Position Statement on nitrate neutral development. An Appropriate 
Assessment has been undertaken in accordance with regulation 63 of the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and policy CP16 of the Local Plan Part 1 
and, subject to the provision of these mitigation measures, the development will not 
result in an ‘in combination’ adverse impact on the ecology of the area and is therefore 
acceptable in this respect. 
 
Other Matters 
Policy SW1 sets out the requirement for the proposal to contribute to the expansion of 
Swanmore College and the applicants have confirmed the figure that is required and 
their willingness to pay this contribution.  
 
Equality 
Due regard should be given to the Equality Act 2010: Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Public bodies need to consciously think about the three aims of the Equality Duty as 
part of the process of decision-making. The weight given to the Equality Duty, compared 
to the other factors, will depend on how much that function affects discrimination, 
equality of opportunity and good relations and the extent of any disadvantage that 
needs to be addressed. The Local Planning Authority has given due regard to this duty 
and the considerations do not outweigh any matters in the exercise of our duty as 
statutory planning authority for the council. 
 
Conclusion 
There is no objection in principle to the proposed development, which is part of an 
allocated site under policy SW1. Whilst there is an increase in the number of residential 
units over what was anticipated, the proposal broadly accords with the policy in terms of 
the required nature, access, environmental and infrastructure criteria. The use of high 
quality materials and substantial landscaping will serve to ensure that the overall 
appearance of the development is acceptable and the benefits to be derived from 
additional dwellings in a sustainable location are considered to outweigh the limited 

Page 138



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

harm caused by the higher density of housing in this location. The development accords 
with the relevant policies of the Development Plan. 
 

Recommendation: 
 
Approval subject to the completion of a Section 106 legal agreement to secure the 
following:  
 

- Access  
In perpetuity vehicular and other access as an extension of the southern perimeter   

 road to and from the remainder of the site allocated by policy SW1.  
Securing of S278 works – improvements to road junction and other highways 
measures 
 

- Traffic Regulation Order  
  

- Affordable Housing 
Provision of 25 units (17 rented & 8 Shared) 
Commuted payment (£70,800.00) in lieu of part unit 

  
- Education contribution  

Contribution of £327,106 
  

- Management Company 
Incorporation of Man Co to maintain for Common Parts, LAP & Suds 

 
- Funding SINC monitoring 
 
- Employment and skills plan 

 
- Nitrates Mitigation Contribution: means a contribution of £294,000 (two hundred 

and ninety four thousand pounds) Index Linked  
 

In seeking these planning obligation and financial contributions the local planning 
authority has had regard to the tests laid down in para 56 of the NPPF which requires 
the obligations to be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind 
to the development 

 
Conditions 
 
 Timescale 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.  

 
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 
2. The development shall be in accordance with the following plans and documents: 

Page 139



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

  

 Background Papers 
Transport Statement - 048.0016/ATS/2 (13 Nov 2020) 
Addendum Transport Statement (August 2020) 048.0016/ATS/2 
Nitrogen Budget Calculator (13 Nov 2020) 
LFFA Rebuttal - SHF.1033.040.HY.L.001.A (13 Nov 2020) 
Soft Landscape Specification - PERSC22647 (17 Mar 2021) 
Soft Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan - PERSC22647 (17 Mar 2021) 
European Sites Checklist (03 Feb 2021) 
Arboriculture Assessment and Method Statement 19256-AA3-AS (April 2021) 
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy – SHF.1033.029.HY.R.001.A 
Additional drainage information – SHF.1033.040.HY.L.001.A (12 Nov 2020) 
 
Housing type drawings 
Twin Double Garage Plans & Elevations - GAR-001 A (17 Mar 2021) 
Single Garage Plans & Elevations - GAR-002 A (17 Mar 2021) 
Bin & Cycle Store Plans & Elevations - BIN-001 (17 Mar 2021) 
3520B - Detached Plans & Elevations (17 Mar 2021) 
0643 Alnmouth - AM-001B (17 Mar 2021) 
0811 Danbury - DY-001A (26 Mar 2021) 
0811 Danbury - DY-002 (17 Mar 2021) 
0811 Danbury - DY-003A (17 Mar 2021) 
0811 Danbury - DY-004 (17 Mar 2021) 
0863 Wareham - WH-001A (17 Mar 2021) 
0863 Wareham - WH-002 (17 Mar 2021) 
0863 Wareham - WH-003 (17 Mar 2021) 
0923 Rendlesham - RN-001A (17 Mar 2021) 
0923 Rendlesham - RN-002 (17 Mar 2021) 
0923 Rendlesham - RN-003 (17 Mar 2021) 
0968 Sherwood - SW-001 (17 Mar 2021) 
0968 Sherwood - SW-002 (17 Mar 2021) 
0968 Sherwood - SW-003 (17 Mar 2021) 
1012 Charnwood - CW-001 (17 Mar 2021) 
1012 Charnwood - CW-002 (17 Mar 2021) 
1012 Charnwood Corner - CWC-001 (17 Mar 2021) 
1012 Charnwood Corner - CWC-002 (17 Mar 2021) 
1035 Saunton - SN-001 (17 Mar 2021) 
1035 Saunton - SN-002 (17 Mar 2021) 
1035 Saunton - 1043 Braunton SN-BN-001B (17 Mar 2021) 
1221 Greenwood - GW-001 (17 Mar 2021) 
1259 Whiteleaf - WF-001A (17 Mar 2021) 
1276 Selwood - SE-001A (26 Mar 2021) 
1415 Kielder - KL-001A (26 Mar 2021) 
4x Maisonettes Floor Plans - 4X 1B-001 (17 Mar 2021) 
4x Maisonettes Elevations - 4X 1B-002 (17 Mar 2021) 
Timber Shed - SK01 (17 Mar 2021) 
 
Site plan drawings 
Location Plan - LOC01 (17 Mar 2021) 
Foul Water Drainage Strategy - SHF.1033.040 (13 Nov 2020) 
Landscape Proposals Sheet 1 - PERSC22647 11 B (17 Mar 2021) 

Page 140



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

Landscape Proposals Sheet 2 - PERSC22647 11 B (17 Mar 2021) 
Landscape Proposals Sheet 3 - PERSC22647 11 B (17 Mar 2021) 
Landscape Proposals Sheet 4 - PERSC22647 11 B (17 Mar 2021) 
Development Density Heat Map - 200_HM01 (17 Mar 2021) 
Block & Tenure Plan - 200_LP01H (26 Mar 2021) 
Storey Heights Plan - 200_LP02F (26 Mar 2021) 
Boundary Treatment Plan - 200_LP03G (26 Mar 2021) 
Hard Landscaping Plan - 200_LP04E (26 Mar 2021) 
Parking Plan - 200_LP05F (26 Mar 2021) 
Materials Plan - 200_LP06F (26 Mar 2021) 
Refuse Strategy Plan - 200_LP07E (26 Mar 2021) 
Street Scene & Section - 200_LP08E (26 Mar 2021) 
Adoptable Surfaces - 200_LP09B (26 Mar 2021) 
Site Layout Plan - 200_SLPB (26 Mar 2021) 
Tree Protection Plan – 19256-3 
Revised Highways Plans - 048.0016.008 (03 Feb 2021) 
Revised Highways Plans - 048.0016.009 (03 Feb 2021) 
Revised Highways Plans - 048.0016.003E (03 Feb 2021) 
Revised Highways Plans - 048.0016.004C (03 Feb 2021) 
Forward visibility splays – 048.0016.010 (12 Apr 2021) 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  

 
Conditions to be discharged before Development Commences 

3. Prior to the commencement of development, including the removal of any 

vegetation, top soil or trees, a Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Construction 

Management Plan shall include the following details, with scaled drawings where 

appropriate: 

 
- Schedule of pre-commencement works, including timings of mitigation measures 

 Development contacts, roles and responsibilities. 

 Public communication strategy, including a complaints procedure. 

 Dust suppression, mitigation and avoidance measures. 

 Noise reduction measures, including use of acoustic screens and enclosures, 

the type of equipment to be used and their hours of operation. 

 Use of fences and barriers to protect adjacent land, properties, footpaths and 

Highways. 

 Construction traffic routes and their management and control, loading and 

unloading of plant and materials, provision for contractor’s parking, construction 

traffic access, the turning of delivery vehicles within the confines of the site, 

adequate provision for addressing any abnormal wear and tear to the highway, and 

a programme for construction work. 

 Storage of plant and material used in constructing the development. 

 Measures that will be implemented to avoid or mitigate constructional impacts on 

species and habitats and impacts to the SINC during the construction phase 

 Avoidance of light spill and glare from any floodlighting and security lighting 

installed. 

Page 141



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

 Pest control 

 
The approved details shall be implemented and retained / adhered to throughout 
the duration of the construction period for this Phase. 
 
Reason: To ensure that all demolition and construction work in relation to the 
application does not cause materially harmful effects on nearby land, properties, 
businesses or highway safety. 
 

4. Prior to commencement on site a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in 
 writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the method of cleaning wheels 
 and chassis of all HGV's, plant and delivery vehicles leaving the site and the 
 means of keeping the site access road and adjacent public highway clear of mud 
 and debris during site demolition, excavation, preparation and construction. The 
 scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall 
 be installed and operational before any development commences and retained in 
 working order throughout the duration of the development. No vehicles shall 
 leave the site in a condition whereby mud, clay or other deleterious materials 
 shall be deposited on the public highway. 
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

5. Prior to commencement on site a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in 
 writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the means of vehicular access to 
 the site with visibility splays of 2.4m x 57m and 2.4m x 59m onto New Road and 
 the uncontrolled pedestrian crossing and associated highway works. The means 
 of vehicular access to the site and highway works shall be implemented prior to 
 first occupation of any dwelling. 
 
 Reason: To ensure a suitable access and layout in the interests of highway safety. 
 

6. Prior to the commencement of development, details of the link road to be 
constructed between the application site and the boundary of the land to the east, 
Belmont Farm, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local authority. 
The link road shall be constructed prior to the occupation of the 20th dwelling on the 
development or in accordance with a timetable to be agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

 
7. Prior to works commencing on site a Minerals Planning and Extraction Statement 

shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority in 
consultation with the minerals planning authority. The statement shall specify - 
a) a method for ensuring that minerals that can be viably recovered during    
development operations are recovered and put to beneficial use (such use to be 
referred to the Mineral Planning Authority for agreement and such an agreement 
not to be unreasonably refused);  
b)   a method to record the quantity of recovered mineral (for use on site); 
c)  a suitable mechanism to deliver this requirement with time scales, storage 
facilities, movement plans, etc. 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

Page 142



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

 
Reason : To ensure that minerals that can be viably recovered are secured as part 
of a material management plan for the site in accordance with Policy 15: 
Safeguarding  mineral resources, of the adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste 
Plan (2013). 
 

8. Prior to the commencement of development, or other works such as demolition, 

clearance, groundwork or site preparation, protective measures shall be installed in 

accordance with the Arboriculture Assessment and Method Statement 19256-AA3-

AS (April 2021) by Barrell Tree Consultancy. The Council’s Arboricultural Officer 

shall be informed once such protective measures have been installed to arrange a 

site inspection. All works shall be undertaken in accordance with this approved 

document. 

 
Reason: to ensure protection and long-term viability of retained trees and to 
minimise impact of construction activity. 
 

9. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted detailed 

information (in the form of SAP design stage data and a BRE water calculator) 

demonstrating that the development as a whole meets the equivalent of Code 4 

standard for energy and water (as defined by the ENE1 and WAT 1 in the Code for 

Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The development shall be built in accordance with these 

findings. 

 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the 
objectives of The National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and to accord with the 
requirements of Policy CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint 
Core Strategy. 

 
Conditions to be discharged prior to construction above slab level 
 

10. Prior to construction above slab level, samples/details of all the external materials 

of the building, walls and other structures and external hard landscaping surfaces 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

materials shall meet the following criteria, unless otherwise agreed: 

 Roof materials shall be clay plain tiles and/or natural slates. 

 Boundary walls shall be constructed in brick to match the buildings. 

 No GRP shall be used on porches, canopies or bay windows. 

 All windows frames shall be recessed from the elevations by a minimum of 75mm. 

 
The development shall be built in accordance with these approved details. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the building are of a high order 
on this sensitive edge of village site and in order to comply with the guidance in 
High Quality Places Supplementary Planning Guidance March 2015. 
 
 
 

Page 143



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

Conditions to be discharged prior to the occupation of the dwellings 
 

11. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied until the 
hardscaped areas associated with that dwelling have been constructed, surfaced 
and drained in accordance with the approved plans. All hardscaping shall be 
implemented in accordance with a timetable to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The soft landscaping shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved implementation programme.  If within a period of 5 
years from the date of planting, any trees, shrubs or plants die, are removed or, in 
the opinion of the local planning authority, become seriously damaged or defective, 
others of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at 
the same place, in the next planting season, unless the local planning authority 
gives its written consent to any variation. 

 
Reason:  To improve the appearance of the site in the interests of visual amenity. 
 

12. Landscaping shall be carried out and thereafter managed in accordance with the 
submitted soft landscape management and maintenance plan (ref. PERSC2647).  

  
 

Reason: To ensure that due regard is paid to the continuing enhancement and 
maintenance of amenity afforded by landscape features of communal, public or 
nature conservation significance. 

 
13. The drainage system shall be constructed in accordance with the Flood Risk 

Assessment and Drainage Strategy ref: SHF.1033.040.HY.L.001.A. Surface water 
discharge to the Moors Stream shall be limited to 2.2 l/s and 11.9l/s. Any changes 
to the approved documentation must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
Local Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority. Any revised details 
submitted for approval must include a technical summary highlighting any changes, 
updated detailed drainage drawings and detailed drainage calculations.  
 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory disposal of surface water.  
 

14. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and the following 
mitigation measures detailed in Section 5.2 and Section 7.3 of the FRA: 

 
1. Sequential development of the site, limiting all built development and SuDS 

features to areas of Flood Zone 1 (Low Risk) (Drawing 009). 
 

2. Finished floor levels must be set a minimum of 300mm above the 1 in 100 year 
plus climate change return periods for the lifetime of the development. 

 
3. The access road must be raised by a minimum of 310mm (maximum flood depth   

150mm freeboard) to ensure dry access. 
 
The mitigation measures shall be implemented in accordance with timing / phasing 
arrangements to be agreed in writing with the local planning authority. The 
measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout 

Page 144



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reasons: To ensure safe access and egress from and to the residential buildings 
and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants  

 
15. Occupation of the development is to be phased and implemented to align with the 

delivery by Southern Water of any sewerage network reinforcement required to 
ensure that adequate waste water network capacity is available to adequately drain 
the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory disposal of sewerage.  
 

16. Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, a Lighting Scheme shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. All lighting shall be 

installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the approved Lighting 

Scheme.  

 
Reason: To prevent light pollution in the interests of the appearance of the area, 
biodiversity and residential amenity. 
 

17. Prior to the occupation of each of the dwellings without a garage, a bike storage 
shed in accordance with plan ref.200 SK01, shall be provided within the garden of 
that property.   
 
Reason: To ensure adequate storage for bicycles.  
 

18. Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, the parking areas including garages for 

that dwelling shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans and 

thereafter permanently retained and used only for the purpose of accommodating 

private motor vehicles or other storage purposes incidental to the use of the 

dwelling houses as residences. 

 
Reason: To ensure the permanent availability of parking for the property. 
 

19. Prior to occupation of each dwelling, (or on an alternative number of occupations 

as agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) detailed information (in the 

form of SAP "as built" stage data and a BRE water calculator) demonstrating that 

the home meets the Code 4 standard for energy and water (as defined by the 

ENE1 and WAT 1 in the Code for Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be 

occupied in accordance with these findings. 

 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the 
objectives of The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the 
requirements of Policy CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint 
Core Strategy. 

 
       20. The development hereby permitted shall NOT BE OCCUPIED until:  

Page 145



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

a) A water efficiency calculation which demonstrates that no more than 110 
litres of water per person per day shall be consumed within the development, and 
this calculation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority  
 
b) A mitigation package addressing the additional nutrient input arising from the 
development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such mitigation package shall address all of the additional nutrient load 
imposed on protected European sites by the development and be implemented in 
full prior to first occupation and shall allow the Local Planning Authority to ascertain 
on the basis of the best available scientific evidence that such additional nutrient 
loading will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the protected European 
Sites, having regard to the conservation objectives for those sites; and,  
 
c)  All measures forming part of that mitigation have been secured and 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To accord with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, and Policy CP11, CP16 and CP21 of the Local Plan Part 1. 

 
Other conditions 
 

21. The recommendations and requirements of the Ecosa Ecological Impact dated 
October 2019, shall be updated and enhanced by a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan, 
to be  informed by a Biodiversity Net Gain assessment, which shall be submitted to, 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement 
of the development. The approved mitigation measures shall be adhered to 
throughout all phases of the development and the ecological enhancements 
measures shall be thereafter maintained in perpetuity.  
 

Reason: To safeguard protected species and maintain biodiversity. 
 

     22.  Prior to any translocation of Great Crested Newts, a translocation strategy will be 
produced and sent to the LPA for approval; approved works shall be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details and timing of the works, unless otherwise 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Following the preparation of a 
suitable reptile receptor site, all reptiles will be translocated in accordance with 
current best practice. 
  
Reason: In the interest of protecting and conserving the ecological quality of the 
area in accordance NPPF paragraph 118. 

 
23. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General  

  Permitted Development) Order 2015 as amended (or any Order revoking and re- 
enacting that Order with or without modification), no development permitted by 
Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 1 Schedule 2 of the Order shall be carried out 
without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason:  To protect the amenities of the locality and to maintain a good quality 
environment. 
 

Page 146



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

24. The gradient of the drives shown on the submitted plan shall not exceed 1:12. 
 The drives shall thereafter be retained as such throughout the life of the 
 development. 
 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to provide adequate & safe access  
 to properties for all users. 

 
25.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority the gradient of 

the access to the development site shall not be steeper than 1 in 25 for the first 10 
metres from New Road and no steeper than 1 in 20 thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety. 
 

 
 
Informatives: 
 
     1.  In accordance with the NPPF, Winchester City Council (WCC) take a positive and 

proactive approach to development proposals, working with applicants and agents 
to achieve the best solution. To this end WCC: 

  - offer a pre-application advice service and, 
- update applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application, where possible suggesting alternative solutions. 
In this instance alterations to the scheme were negotiated in order to ensure its 
acceptability.   

 
2. The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan 

policies and proposals:- 

Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy: DS1, MTRA1, MTRA2, CP1,CP2, CP3, 
CP7, CP11, CP13, CP14, CP15, CP16, CP17, CP20, CP21 
Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations: SW1, DM1, 
DM2, DM6, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18, DM24, DM26,  

 
3. This permission is granted for the following reasons: 

The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the 
Development Plan set out above, and other material considerations do not have 
sufficient weight to justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission 
should therefore be granted. 

 
4. All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant 

operation should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs 

Monday to Friday and 0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or 

recognised public holidays. Where allegations of noise from such works are 

substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of 

operation under The Control of Pollution Act 1974 may be served. 

 

Page 147



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

5. During Construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of 

statutory nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an 

Abatement Notice may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

The applicant is reminded that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of 

materials is a direct offence under The Clean Air Act 1993. 

 
6. Flood Risk Activity Permit 

 
The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 require a 
permit (called a ‘Flood Risk Activity Permit’) to be obtained for any activities which 
will take place: 

 
 on or within 8 metres of a main river (16 metres if tidal); 
 on or within 8 metres of a flood defence structure or culvert (16 metres if tidal); 
 on or within 16 metres of a sea defence; 
 involving quarrying or excavation within 16 metres of any main river, flood 

defence (including a remote defence) or culvert; and/or 
 in a floodplain more than 8 metres from the river bank, culvert or flood defence 

structure (16 metres if it’s a tidal main river) and you do not already have 
planning permission. 

 
For further guidance please visit the gov.uk website pages here - 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits, and/or 
contact our National Customer Contact Centre on 03708 506 506 (Monday to 
Friday 8am to 6pm) or by emailing enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk. We 
advise the Applicant to contact us about such a permit as early as possible. 

 
The Applicant should note that a permit is separate to and in addition to any 
planning permission granted. The granting of planning permission does not 
necessarily lead to the granting of a permit.” 

 
In addition to the above, the Applicant should be aware of the possible need for a 
permit for discharge to surface water/groundwater. Further information about such 
permits can be found here –  

 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/discharges-to-surface-water-and-groundwater-
environmental-permits  

 
 

7. The planning permission does not authorise the undertaking of any works within the 
highway (carriageway, footway or verge). Any works within the highway must be 
approved by S278 Agreement, details of which can be found at 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/developers/constructionstandards 

 
8. For both S38 adopted areas as well as areas not proposed to be adopted, 

developers should also be made aware of the Advanced Payment Code (APC) that 
will be required by the Highway Authority. Details of this can be found via the 
following link - 

 https://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport/APCProcess-Guidancedocument.pdf 
 

Page 148

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits
mailto:enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/discharges-to-surface-water-and-groundwater-environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/discharges-to-surface-water-and-groundwater-environmental-permits
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/developers/constructionstandards
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/transport/APCProcess-Guidancedocument.pdf


WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1  
Request by Swanmore Parish Council for application to be determined by Planning 
Committee 

Comments for Planning Application 19/02421/FUL 
Comment: Swanmore Parish Council ("SPC") OBJECTS to the resubmission of this 
application on the following grounds: 

1.  Notwithstanding the 10% reduction in units, the density of the development is still 
too high. As things stand the total number of units built or planned along the Lakes 
exceeds the allocation in the Local Plan by 45%. 

2.  SPC has deep and serious concerns about road safety given the location of the 
proposed site opposite Swanmore College, a large secondary school with over 
1300 pupils. The resubmission fails to address SPC's concerns. College staff and 
parents park along New Road throughout the day and speeding is an issue. Three 
children have been hit by cars on New Road in the last two years (the third incident 
was not formally reported). SPC completed a speed survey in 2019 which showed 
the 85th percentile speed of cars travelling along New Road in all cases was above 
the 30 MPH speed limit. The applicant has failed to provide a Master Plan (see 
point 7 below) which means that Application No 20/00970/FUL, Belmont Farm, the 
Lakes for 32 dwellings has not been taken into account in the traffic analysis. SPC 
demands an urgent meeting with HCC Highways to discuss road safety. SPC 
requests: 
2.1 A roundabout at the entrance to the development; 
2.2 The reinstatement of the visitor carpark (see point 3 below); 
2.3 Further traffic calming measures. 
 

3. Inadequate parking for the size of the development. Currently some staff and 
parents have to park along New Road. This affects visibility and safety for all road 
users and will be an issue for site vehicles/ residents entering and exiting the 
proposed development. SPC demands the reinstatement of the proposed car park 
at the entrance to the development, to be used by parents and staff from Swanmore 
College. 
 

4. The nitrate offsetting requirement has not been met. The offsetting must be done in 
the river catchment area of the development, which is the River Hamble. 
 

5. The design includes dwellings which are over 2.5 storeys. These dwellings 
contravene the Swanmore Village Design Statement. 
 

6. There is no stated environmental standard for the houses to be built to. 
 

7. No Master Plan has been submitted. The impact of a further 32 dwellings under 
application no 20/00970/FUL, Belmont Farm, the Lakes has not been taken into 
account. 
 

Page 149



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 19/02421/FUL 
 

 

8. The SPC demands further CIL funding to be used for the redevelopment of the 
village hall. 
 

9. The Transport Plan does not make allowances for deliveries during school pick up 
and drop off times, SPC requests that deliveries to site do NOT take place before 
9am or after 2.30 pm. 

 
10. SPC requests a restriction preventing the fitting of doors to garages in order to 

ensure they are used to provide space for car parking. 
 

11. SPC requests that the resubmitted application goes to the Planning Committee. 

Page 150



Land off New Road, Swanmore

Residential development comprising 60 no. 

dwellings and 4 no. flats with access from New 

Road together with car parking, landscaping, 

public open space and associated works

Application Number: 

19/02421/FUL

P
age 151



P
age 152



P
age 153



Originally submitted block plan

P
age 154



Currently proposed block plan

Block of flats removed 

and SUDS scheme 

proposed

Development moved away from 

site perimeter, avoiding necessity 

to trim back hedges

Development 

moved away from 

site perimeter, 

avoiding necessity 

to trim back hedges

Introduction 

of footpath 

link to Spring 

Vale

Alteration to surface 

treatment to define 

secondary roads

Introduction of a 

centrally located 

public open space

Reduction in number of units from 71 to 64

P
age 155



Proposed Street scenes

P
age 156



P
age 157



P
age 158



P
age 159



P
age 160



P
age 161



P
age 162



P
age 163



P
age 164



P
age 165



P
age 166



P
age 167



Looking west towards 

access and New Road

Looking north east 

across site towards 

Belmont Farm and 

Spring Vale

P
age 168



Looking north towards 

Spring Vale

Looking east along 

southern 

boundary towards 

Belmont Farm

P
age 169



Looking west along 

northern boundary with 

Spring Vale

Looking south 

towards The Lakes, 

along boundary with 

Belmont Farm

P
age 170



Looking north west from The Lakes 

towards New Road access and 

Swanmore College

Looking north from The 

Lakes towards new 

development adjacent 

Swanmore College

P
age 171



Looking north from the 

lakes towards Spring Vale

P
age 172



View from access to Swanmore College 

looking south along New Road

View from The Lakes looking north 

along New Road towards Swanmore 

College

P
age 173



View from The Lakes, looking north along New Road

P
age 174



Recommendation – Approve 

The proposed development is an effective use of 

this allocated housing site and the dwellings can be 

accommodated without a significant or 

detrimental impact on the character and 

appearance of the surrounding area or the 

residential amenities of occupants of adjacent 

properties. The proposal is therefore in accordance 

with policies of the Development Plan.

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

  
Case No: 20/02243/FUL  
Proposal Description: Variation of conditions 2 and 4 to add an additional 3 mobile 

homes (18/01264/FUL) 
Address: Straight Path Paddock Pricketts Hill Shedfield Hampshire  
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City: 

 Shedfield 

Applicants Name: Mr & Mrs N Sherwood 
Case Officer: Rose Lister 
Date Valid: 29 October 2020 

Recommendation: Application Permitted 
 

 
Link to Planning Documents : https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-
applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application 
 
  

 
 
© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531 

 
  

Page 177

Agenda Item 13

https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

General Comments 
 
Councillor Fern’s request for application to be determined by Planning Committee, 
see Appendix 1 
 
Application is reported to Committee due to the number of objections received 
which are contrary to the recommendation 
 
 
Site Description 
 
The application site is located to the east of Pricketts Hill, Shedfield. The site is 
approximately 1ha in size, though the majority of the site (approximately 0.7ha) would 
remain agricultural. The previous application, 18/01264/FUL, agreed the amount of land 
to remain agricultural, this is not proposed to change under this application. There is a 
level change making the site approximately 0.75m higher than the road. The majority of 
the site is laid to pasture, with new hedge planting along the southern boundary.  
 
Proposal 
 
Variation of condition 2 & 4 to add an additional 3 mobile homes (18/01264/FUL). 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
18/01264/FUL - (Land Opposite the Dale) Change of use of land from agricultural to a 
mixed use  of agricultural and the siting of caravans for the purpose of human habitation.- 
permitted 28.06.2019 
 
19/01852/HOU - (PART-RETROSPECTIVE) Erection of front gates and 1.8m fence on 
southern boundary – permitted 15.10.2019 
 
 
Consultations 
Service Lead for Environment Services - Drainage: 
No objection subject to condition 4 
 
Service Lead for Environment Services - Landscape: 
No objection subject to additional screening on southern boundary.  
 
Service Lead for Built Environment - Strategic Planning: 
Additional information submitted indicates compliance with policy TR6. No objection.  
 
HCC: Highways: 
No objection subject to condition 10 
 

 
Representations: 
 
Shedfield Parish Council – Objection for the following material planning reasons: 

 The proposal is contrary to policy 

 The site is not well located for public amenities  

Page 178



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

 Increase in noise 

 Additional lighting wold be detrimental 

 Would result in additional vehicle movements 

 Existing issues with bonfires 

 No need for additional sites 

 Over concentration in the area 

 Overdevelopment of the area 

 Close to SINC and would result in damage to the footpaths 
 
19 letters received objecting to the application from 16 addresses for the following 
material planning reasons:  

 Over development of the area 

 Site is inappropriate 

 No need for additional gypsy sites 

 The applicants do not meet the criteria of annex A for gypsies and travelling show 
people 

 Increased noise 

 Commercial use of the site 

 Odour/smoke generation on site 

 Highways safety 

 Encroachment into the countryside 

 Overdevelopment of the site 

 External lighting on site 

 Drainage 
 
14 letters of support received from 11 addresses raising the following material planning 
reasons: 

 The family are a positive contribution to the area and have settled in well 

 There is sufficient screening on site 

 The site is well kept 

 The applicants are a community asset 

 Good use of land and layout 

 The proposal would benefit the local economy 

 Proposal would not create any additional car travel 
 

 
Relevant Planning Policy: 
 
Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy 
MTRA4, MTRA4, CP5, CP13, CP15, CP16, CP17 
 
Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations 
DM4, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM23  
 
Traveller DPD 
TR5, TR6, TR7 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements: 
National Planning Policy Framework 

Page 179



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Principle of development 
Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. Policy MTRA3 allows for development within settlements that have no 
defined settlement boundary, such as Shirrell Heath, provided development would be 
within a continuously developed road frontage. It is not considered that the proposal 
would be in accordance with this policy. Policy MTRA4 sets out the criteria for acceptable 
development within the countryside. The application is not for business or tourism uses, 
nor is the application for a agricultural/forestry worker. It is therefore considered that the 
application would not meet this policy.  
 
Policy TR6 of the Traveller DPD allows that use for traveller accommodation will be 
permitted in prescribed circumstances as assessed below.  
 
The site must be for occupation by persons identified as gypsies or travellers within the 
PPTS who can demonstrate a personal or cultural need to be located in the area and 
there is a lack of other suitable accommodation. The adopted DPD is considered to be 
valid until 2031 and while some of the allocations may not currently be available it is 
considered that they will be coming forward within the DPD period and therefore the 5 
year Housing Land Supply for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Show people is considered 
to be intact.  
 
The application is to amend the existing permission to allow for the dependents of the 
applicants to live on the site. Other sites have been explored in the local area that have 
all been found to be at maximum capacity.  
 
Based upon the above assessment the proposal is considered to comply with policy TR6 
of the Local Plan which allows for the expansion of existing sites to accommodate growth.  
 
In addition to the above, sites must be in sustainable locations well related to existing 
communities, as defined by Policy CP5 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 2013 
and comply with the requirements of Policy TR7 which contains provisions applicable to 
all sites. These aspects of the proposals are assessed in subsequent paragraphs. 
 
Impact on character of area and neighbouring property 
In terms of detail assessment of the suitability of the site policy CP5 of the LPP1 sets out 
the criteria for suitable sites for pitches, these include:  
- Sites being well related to existing settlements  
- Avoiding over-concentration of sites in any one location  
- Accessible by local services  
- Avoid harmful impacts on nearby residential properties  
- Be capable of accommodating acceptable facilities  
 
In addition policy TR7 of the DPD provides a set of general requirements in relation to 
access and parking; environmental and general criteria for developments to satisfy.  
It has been established through the previous permission that the site is located near 
enough to the settled community of Shirrell Heath to become integrated without being too 

Page 180



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

close to cause tension with other residents. It is considered that the proposed layout is 
acceptable with a communal parking area that would serve all the pitches on the site.  
Whilst the additional 3 plots will increase the presence of development in this area it is 
not considered to lead to an overconcentration of sites in this location relative to the size 
and scale of the existing settled community of Shirrell Heath. 
 
Policy TR7 of the DPD requires that play areas for children are required. It is considered 
that the proposed site plan would provide sufficient space for dedicated amenity areas for 
each dwelling proposed.  
 
In terms of impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area it is 
considered that the site is elevated above the road level, and the proposed pitches would 
be situated to the rear of the site, reducing the visual impact on the street scene. The 
Landscape Architect requested that planting is included along the south elevation to 
provide additional screening. Amended plans have been submitted indicating the existing 
planting that was secured and implemented under the previous approval 18/01264/FUL. 
It is therefore considered that the proposal would be suitably screened from the street 
scene. There is a Public Right of Way to the west of the site, it is not considered that the 
proposal would be prominent in views form this as there is sufficient screening in place.  
 
There are neighbours to the north and south of the application site. It is considered that 
the proposal would not result in overlooking, overbearing or loss of light to the 
neighbouring properties due to the distances involved with all properties being a minimum 
of approximately 36m from the proposed pitches. 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposal would accord with development plan policies, 
CP5 and CP13 of the Local Plan part 1, DM4, DM15, DM16, DM17 and DM23 of the 
Local Plan part 2 and TR6 and TR7 of the Traveller DPD.  
 
 
Highways/Parking 

 
The site benefits from an existing access onto Pricketts Hill. Amended plans have been 
submitted showing visibility splays available. The access has been considered acceptable 
to serve the existing 2 pitches and the agricultural business on the site. It is noted that the 
additional three pitches would result in a small uplift in traffic to the site however, it is 
considered that this will not have a detrimental impact on highways safety. The Highways 
officer raised a concern regarding the visibility splays for the site and therefore condition 
10 has been recommended to ensure that sufficient visibility splays are achieved to sever 
the site.  
 
The plans submitted show sufficient parking for 10 vehicles. It is considered that there is 
sufficient space on the plot to accommodate touring caravans on each plot without 
compromising amenity space. 
 
The application is therefore considered to be acceptable in this regard.  
 
Ecology 
Concerns have been raised in relation to the impact on the local SINC. It is considered that 
the site is not within 100m of the SINC and therefore is unlikely to have a significant impact 
on the protected area. Further concerns have been raised in relation to external lighting. It 

Page 181



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

is accepted that some lighting has already been approved under permission 
19/01852/HOU. However as the site is located within the countryside a condition restricting 
external lighting has been recommended for this development (condition 9).  
 
Other Matters 
Personal circumstances 
A statement has been submitted that verifies that applicants as gypsies/travellers under 
annex 1 of the PPTS. It is considered that the additional pitches would be occupied by the 
applicant’s children who currently live within the existing 2 pitches. Other nearby sites have 
been investigated however they have been found to be fully occupied.  
 
The future occupiers are registered at local GP surgeries and their children are enrolled 
within the local schools. Further comments have been made regarding the health of the 
future occupant’s mother who is of failing health. The additional pitches would allow for the 
continuing care within the family.  
 

Nitrates 
The proposed development is within Winchester District where foul water is distributed 
into the European designated areas Solent SPAs/Ramsar sites via water treatment 
plants. In accordance with advice from Natural England and as detailed in Policy CP16 
of the Winchester City Council Local Plan Part 1 Joint Core Strategy a net increase in 
housing development within Winchester District is likely to result in impacts to the 
integrity of those sites through a consequent increase in Nitrates. A nitrate calculation 
has been conducted in relation to this. It has been demonstrated that the proposal 
would generate a surplus of nitrates and therefore mitigation is required. As such a 
Grampian condition in line with the Winchester City Council Position Statement on 
Nitrate Neutral Development has been agreed to secure appropriate mitigation prior to 
occupation.  
 
Recreational Disturbance on the Solent Special Protection Areas 
The Solent coastline provides feeding grounds for internationally protected populations 
for overwintering waders and wildfowl, and is also extensively used for recreation. 
Natural England has concluded that the likelihood of a significant effect in combination 
arising from new housing around the Solent cannot be ruled out. Applications for 
residential development within 5.6 km of the Solent SPAs will need to propose 
measures to mitigate the direct impacts of their development on the Solent SPA. This 
can be done by the provision of a financial contribution either before planning 
permission is granted or by entering into a s106 agreement before planning permission 
is granted with an undertaking that the payment will be made before the development is 
implemented. The proposal would provide 3 dwellings with no confirmed bed numbers 
requiring a payment of £1785 to comply with policy CP16 as it has failed to mitigate the 
recreational harm to the Solent SPAs. This has been paid and secured.  
 
Equality 
Due regard should be given to the Equality Act 2010: Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Public bodies need to consciously think about the three aims of the Equality Duty as 
part of the process of decision-making. The weight given to the Equality Duty, compared 
to the other factors, will depend on how much that function affects discrimination, 
equality of opportunity and good relations and the extent of any disadvantage that 
needs to be addressed. The Local Planning Authority has given due regard to this duty 
and the considerations do not outweigh any matters in the exercise of our duty as 

Page 182



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

statutory planning authority for the council. 
 
Conclusion 
Policies TR6 and TR7 allow for the expansion of existing sites to accommodate growth. 
The application is to amend the existing permission to allow for the dependents of the 
applicants to live on the site. Other sites have been explored in the local area that have 
all been found to be at maximum capacity.  
 
The layout is considered to be acceptable and planting has been put in place to mitigate 
and screen the site within the wider street scene and footpaths. There is an existing 
access to the site that requires improvements to visibility and it is considered necessary 
to require the improvements through condition 10. 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposal complies with Development Plan policies 
CP5, CP13, CP15 and CP16 of the Local Plan Part 1, policies DM4, DM15, DM16, 
DM17, DM18, and DM23 of the Local Plan Part 2 and policies TR6 and TR7 of the 
Traveller DPD.  
 
 

Recommendation 
Permit subject to the following condition(s): 
 
 
Conditions 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
28.06.2022. 
 
Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
 2   The development hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the 
following plans, drawing number: D01 rev A 
 
Reason: In the interests of proper planning and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 3   The site shall not be occupied by any person other than gypsies and travellers as 
defined in Annex 1 of the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. 
 
Reason: The site is situated outside of a defined settlement boundary within a countryside 
location where new residential development would not normally be permitted. This 
proposal is an exception to countryside policy having regard to the needs and 
circumstances of Gypsy & Travellers. 
 
 4   No more than 10 caravans, as defined in the Caravan Sites and Control of 
Development Act 1960 and the Caravan Sites Act 1968 (as amended) shall be stationed 
on the site at any time of which no more than 5 shall be static caravans/mobile homes. 
 
Reason: To define the extent of this planning permission and to prevent more intensive 
use of the site. 
 

Page 183



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

5 All mobile homes positioned on the site shall meet the definition of 'caravan' in the 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 and the Caravan Sites Act 1968 (as 
amended)  
 
Reason: The site is in an area where residential development is not normally permitted. 
 
6   No development, including the movement and placement of mobile homes on the site, 
shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscaping works have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Hard landscaping details must include: 
 
- areas of hardstanding provided for vehicle parking 
- any hardstanding associated with the residential units 
 
Works must then continue in accordance with the approved details. 
Hard landscaping works shall be completed prior to the occupation of the dwellings. 
 
Soft landscaping details must be in accordance with the details agreed in writing by the 
LPA 08.08.2019. 
 
If within a period of 5 years from the date of planting, any trees, shrubs or 
plants die, are removed or, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, become 
seriously damaged or defective, others of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, in the next planting season, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
 
Reason: To ensure the rural characteristics of the area are retained and supported by the 
development.  
 
 7   Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification), no fences, gates or walls shall be erected on the site without the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority  
 
Reason: In the interests of the site's location within the countryside. 
 
8   No commercial activities shall take place on the land, including the storage of materials 
 
Reason: To protect neighbouring amenities and the character of the countryside 
 
9   No vehicle over 3.5 tonnes shall be stationed, parked or stored on this site 
 
Reason: To protect neighbouring amenities and the character of the countryside. 
 
10   There shall be no external outdoor lighting on the site, whether fixed or free standing 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The site is located within an area of countryside where excessive light pollution 
would harmfully impact on the character of the area. 
 

Page 184



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

11 The area to the north-east of the fence labelled 'picket fence 1200 high' on drawing D 
1703 01 dated 9 2 17 must not be used for residential purposes. 
 
Reason: To control the extent of the residential permission and to ensure that only areas 
immediately outside the mobile homes undergo a change of use to residential. 
12. Detailed proposals for the disposal of foul and surface water shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the commencement of the 
development hereby permitted. The approved details shall be fully implemented before 
occupation of the building. 

 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision of foul and surface water drainage. 
 
13. The three additional caravans hereby permitted shall NOT BE OCCUPIED until:  

a) A water efficiency calculation which demonstrates that no more than 110 
litres of water per person per day shall be consumed within the 
development, and this calculation has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority  

b) A mitigation package addressing the additional nutrient input arising from 
the development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Such mitigation package shall address all of the 
additional nutrient load imposed on protected European sites by the 
development and be implemented in full prior to first occupation and shall 
allow the Local Planning Authority to ascertain on the basis of the best 
available scientific evidence that such additional nutrient loading will not 
have an adverse effect on the integrity of the protected European Sites, 
having regard to the conservation objectives for those sites; and 

c) All measures forming part of that mitigation have been secured and 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To accord with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, and Policy CP11, CP16 and CP21 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 
1. 

 
14. Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted the sightlines as indicated on 
the approved plan shall be constructed in which there should be no obstruction to visibility 
exceeding 1.0m in height above the adjacent carriageway channel line have been 
completed. Such sightlines shall thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the development
 . 
Reason: To provide and maintain adequate visibility in the interests of highway safety. 
 
 
Informatives: 
 
 

1. This permission is granted for the following reasons:  
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the 
Development Plan set out below, and other material considerations do not have 
sufficient weight to justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission 
should therefore be granted.  

 

Page 185



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

2. The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan 
policies and proposals:-  

 
Local Plan Part 1 Joint Core Strategy; CP5, CP13.  
Local Plan Part 2: DM4, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM23.  
Traveller DPD (2019) - TR6 and TR7.  
High Quality Places SPD (2015)  

 
3. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF, Winchester City Council 

(WCC) take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. WCC work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by;  
-offering a pre-application advice service and,  
-updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

 

Page 187



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Case No: 20/02243/FUL 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 188



20/02243/FUL - Straight Path Paddock, Pricketts Hill, 
Shedfield, Hampshire.

Variation of condition 2 & 4 to add an additional 3 
mobile homes (18/01264/FUL)

P
age 189



P
age 190



P
age 191



P
age 192



Parking area looking toward 
Pricketts Hill and the access

Looking west within the 
plot to the boundary with 
Pricketts Hill. 

P
age 193



Looking north 

Looking toward the agricultural 
part of the site secured via a 
post and rail fence. 

P
age 194



Looking south east. Planting 
required under previous 
application has been 
implemented along southern 
boundary.

Looking south 
west over one of 
the existing 
amenity areas

P
age 195



Looking south over are proposed for 
3 additional pitches. Track to be 
removed and replaced with foot 
path.   

P
age 196



Recommendation Permit

The proposal accords with Development Plan policies. 

P
age 197



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

  
Case No: 21/00471/HOU  
Proposal Description: Install 2no windows and external staircase and exit, with a 

gabled canopy, to rear elevation of previously-converted stable 
building; erect car port and enclosed garage combined to front 
drive and single equipment/store building in rear garden (within 
the curtilage of a listed building; amended proposal) 

Address: Greenwood Manor  Greenwood Lane Durley SO32 2AP  
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City: 

Durley 

Applicants Name: Mr and Mrs Kemp 
Case Officer: Marge Ballinger 
Date Valid: 22 March 2021 

Recommendation: Application Permitted 
 

 
Link to Planning Documents: https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-
applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application 
 
Pre Application Advice: Listed building advice was sought in Jan 2021, but works 
proposed were to the curtilage structure (not to the listed building); planning application 
submitted instead as listed building advice was not necessary. 
 

 
 

© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531 

 
  

Page 199

Agenda Item 14

https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application
https://planningapps.winchester.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

General Comments 
 
The application is reported to Committee due to the number of objections received in 
relation to 21/00471/HOU which are contrary to the Officer recommendation for approval. 
 
Site Description 
 
Greenwood Manor is a C19 Grade II listed dwelling with a site of two other curtilage 
structures (former barn and separate stables that have been previously converted), 
outside the settlement boundary within the countryside. The site can be accessed off of 
Greenwood Lane via a small drive that also provides access to two neighbouring 
residential sites (Greenwood Farm, southwest; Greenwood Lodge, southeast). 
Greenwood Manor sits within approximately 1.4 acres (0.56 hectares) of residential 
garden.  
 
Adjacent the garden northwest are ancient woodlands and land designated as a SINC, 
included in (or near) the grounds of the East Horton Golf Club. The entrance to the 
property is walled with a gate into an expanse of gravel within the drive/parking area. The 
front and rear gardens are primarily grassed with landscaping, hedgerow and trees 
throughout, and the land slopes gently up from southeast to northwest. The dwelling sits 
linear with its curtilage former stables/barn, and has been extended to join the dwelling 
with the building – creating a continuous built structure approximately central to the 
residential site overall.  
 
The side extension to the dwelling permitted in 1989, as well as the converted 
barn/stables permitted in 1994, are currently used for ancillary residential use to the 
dwelling. 
 
Proposal 
 
The proposal is to install 2no windows and an external staircase and exit (with a gabled 
canopy) to the rear elevation of the central (previously-converted) stable building. The 
proposal also includes the construction of a new car port and enclosed garage combined 
to the front drive (forward of the listed dwelling) and erect an equipment/store building in 
the rear garden for land maintenance equipment and tool storage. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
89/00194/OLD (W1330/05) (PER 08.05.1989) Two storey extension and single storey 
extension; Dormer windows. 
 
92/00148/OLD / 92/00149/OLD (W1330/10/LB / W1330/11) (REF 14.01.1992) 
(AMENDED DESCRIPTION) Internal and external alterations including re-roofing to form 
five units of holiday accommodation. 
 
94/00186/OLD / 94/00187/OLD (W1330/12 / W1330/13/LB) (PER 15.06.1992) Internal 
and external alterations including re-roofing to form 5 no. units of holiday accommodation. 
  
20/01681/LDC (Withdrawn 15.12.2020) - Application of a Lawful Development Certificate 

Page 200



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

for Family and Bespoke events 
 
 
Consultations 
 
Service Lead for Built Environment - Historic Environment: No objection, subject to 
conditions (Cond 2 – Stairway Joinery, Cond 3 – Materials Schedule). 
 
Service Lead for Environment Services - Landscape: Ecology: No objection, subject to 
conditions (Cond 4 – Biodiversity Enhancement, Cond 5 – External Lighting). 
 
Service Lead for Environment Services - Landscape: Tree Officer: No objection, subject 
to a condition (Cond 6 – Protective Fencing). 
 
 
Representations: 
 
Durley Parish Council: objection to application as it was considered there was no 
justification for the alterations proposed other than for potential commercial venture. 
(Further comments received in regards to a website was seen to promote the site as a 
wedding venue.)  
 
Seven letters received (two from nearby properties; five from addresses outside of WCC) 
objecting to the application for the following material planning reasons:  
 

 Inaccuracies to the original planning proposal: the original proposal had not 
included the 2no. rear windows or mention the roof alterations to the stable block 
in detail with the addition of the external staircase. 

 There is no justification to the proposed development; unclear why further storage 
buildings are required given the size of the existing buildings; overdevelopment. 

 Neighbouring amenities to adjacent Greenwood Farm would be impacted, 
although not on an unacceptable level. 

 There is insufficient details provided in regards to how the listed building will be 
impacted with the proposal; the two additional storage buildings would have a 
harmful impact to the listed building and its setting. 

 A tree survey was not provided. 
 
Reasons aside not material to planning and therefore not addressed in this report 

 The water feature in the site plan is existing and not considered development. (The 
drawings have been amended to remove this as it is an existing feature.) 

 Concerns raised to the withdrawn 20/01681/LDC application and the potential use 
of the site for events. The change of use required for anything other than 
residential purposes would require a separate planning application to be assessed 
formally. 

 The Parish requested if the application was approved that a condition be added 
that the site remain for residential purposes only, for now and in the future.  

 
 

Page 201



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

 
 
Relevant Planning Policy: 
 
Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy 
CP16 – Biodiversity 
 
Winchester Local Plan Part 2  
DM15 – Local Distinctiveness 
DM16 – Site Design Criteria 
DM17 – Site Development Principles 
DM23 – Rural Character 
DM24 – Special Trees, Important Hedgerows & Ancient Woodlands 
DM29 – Heritage Assets 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements: 
National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 (natural environment) and Section 16 
(historic environment) 
 

 
 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Principle of development 
Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  
 
The principle of development to this property is acceptable subject to the preservation of 
the special architectural/historic interest of the listed building as per the Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act.  
 
Policy DM23 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2017) considers the impact upon the rural 
character of the area by means of visual intrusion, the introduction of incongruous 
features, the destruction of locally characteristic rural assets, or by impacts on the 
tranquillity of the environment. This policy states that extensions (and other ancillary 
development) should be proportionate in size to the existing dwelling and generally be 
subordinate to it. They should also generally reflect the character of the existing dwelling 
unless the existing character is not considered to be worthy of retention. 
 
Design/layout 

Alterations to the Former Barn: 
The converted stable and barn buildings were not included in the 1987 listing of the 
Grade II dwelling. Although permission was granted to convert the structures into 5 
holiday lets, the top floor of the main structure (barn) was retained as open-planned with 
windows facing the front elevation and an internal set of stairs within one end of the 
room and no other external access from the upper floor of the barn. The other ground 
floor rooms are used for storage, as well as the larger barn structure perpendicular is 
currently used for storage. 

Page 202



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

 
The proposal was amended to clarify the proposed 2no new windows and the gabled 
canopy alterations. The addition of 2 rear-facing windows will create views out toward 
the rear garden. The staircase will provide a secondary access from the upper room 
and include a small landing (2.3m in depth from the rear wall) with roof alterations of a 
gable canopy above. Materials proposed are timber frames to the windows and slate to 
the roof alterations. A detailed materials condition (Cond 2) and staircase joinery 
drawings has been added as pre-commencement conditions (Cond 3) to ensure the 
staircase will be of traditional design.  
 
Garage/Carport: 
The new carport and garage structure will be sited within an existing gravelled parking 
area in front of the listed dwelling, but off to the side near the hedge boundary. The 
dimensions are 6m x 6m with a shallow 1.3m lean-to to one side for a log store. The 
materials proposed are a shallow brick to plinth with timber horizontal framed and slate 
to the hipped/clipped roof up to 3.9m in height. The space is currently used for parking 
due to its location to the front entrance of the dwelling compared to the other parking 
areas within the site. 
 
Rear Storage Building: 
The new rear garden storage building will be sited within the northwest corner of the 
property where there is a clearing behind a mature hedgerow. The building with be 
timber cladded and framed, with double-bay doors to the front facing into the garden of 
and a window and side door within the side wall (facing toward the golf green). The 
building will be dual-pitched with a green felt roof with dimensions of 5.75m x 5.65m, 
2.2m at eaves and up to 3.5m at ridge. The use of the building will be for mowers and 
small lawn machinery and tool storage. There will not be an additional drive or access 
created that would require assessment for the impact of new vehicle traffic.  
 
The justification of rear-facing windows and an external staircase to an upper floor of an 
ancillary building, the additional covered parking and new garden store is for the 
residential purposes (private use) of the use of Greenwood Manor and its site. The rear 
staircase and windows will provide a rear access to the garden and improve light to the 
internal rooms of the first floor. The two additional timber-framed buildings are 
considered subservient and incidental to the dwelling.  
 
Under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act we 
should have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. The 
alterations proposed within this application are considered acceptable by our Historic 
Environment Officer as the works will not detract from the listed dwelling or the setting 
overall and preserves the historic features of the setting in accordance with Section 66 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and in compliance 
with DM29 of the LPP2 and para 16 of the NPPF. 

 
 
 
Impact on character of area and neighbouring property 
The rural setting of Greenwood Manor will be retained with what is considered small-

Page 203



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

scale alterations to the ancillary residential buildings and the setting overall. The 
materials of the proposal would contribute to the existing rural character with the use of 
timber and its simple design (in accordance to Policy DM16 i, vi) and each aspect of the 
proposal is not expected to have a harmful impact on the area's rural character, and will 
remain for incidental use to a residential dwelling, and therefore complies with DM23.  
 
The rear-facing windows and the staircase and landing will be approximately 20m away 
from the rear boundary that faces the golf course. The two outbuildings will be sited near 
a boundary shared with Greenwood Farm, but both buildings are below 4m in height for 
incidental use only, so the proposal is not expected to impact neighbouring amenities in 
terms of overlooking or overbearing (in accordance to DM17 vii). 
 
Landscape/Trees 

The proposed front carport/garage building will be sited adjacent a mature laurel 
hedgerow that has already been cut back to the boundary line (outside of bird nesting 
season). The rear garden store will be positioned within a clearing to the rear garden, 
and up to 10m away from any mature trees. The foundations to the 2 proposed 
outbuildings will be shallow due to the lightweight material use (approx 15cm) so 
minimal groundworks are proposed that may affect any root protection areas.  A 
condition (Cond 6) will be added to ensure the nearest tree is fenced off appropriately 
prior to works commencing to avoid soil compaction and root damage. The ancient 
woodlands are beyond the residential garden and the golf green adjacent, and the 
ancient woodlands would not be impacted by the outbuildings. The proposal therefore 
complies with DM24. 

 
Ecology 

A bat survey was completed in June 2020 (Nick Tomlinson Ecology) and updated April 
2021 as the proposal would involve disruption to the roof tiles of the barn. No evidence 
of bats or potential roosts have been found within the barn. The biodiversity 
enhancement recommendations on page 11 of the report will be included within a 
condition (Cond 4). 
 
External lighting will be conditioned (Cond 5), due to the sensitive nature of the land 
northwest of the site as a SINC within ancient woodland. Any lighting should adhere to 
ILP & BCT Guidance 08/18.  Lighting should not illuminate the bat roosting provision 
(biodiversity enhancement measures) or the boundary vegetation. 

 
Highways/Parking 

Proposal does not impact Highways or Parking.  
 
Other Matters 

The objections of the use of the property for any other purposes other than residential 
(weddings, events, etc) are acknowledged. The applicants and agent are aware that an 
official change of use application would be required for a formal assessment if pursuing 
the material change of use. The proposal within this application relates to alterations to 
the existing residential buildings, so any consideration for the future use of the dwelling 
is not material to the determination of this planning application.  
 
Equality 

Page 204



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

Due regard should be given to the Equality Act 2010: Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Public bodies need to consciously think about the three aims of the Equality Duty as 
part of the process of decision-making. The weight given to the Equality Duty, compared 
to the other factors, will depend on how much that function affects discrimination, 
equality of opportunity and good relations and the extent of any disadvantage that 
needs to be addressed. The Local Planning Authority has given due regard to this duty 
and the considerations do not outweigh any matters in the exercise of our duty as 
statutory planning authority for the council. 
 
 

 
Recommendation 
Application Permitted subject to the following condition(s): 
 
Conditions 
 
1.   The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
2.   No works shall commence on the alterations hereby approved until full joinery details 
of the staircase, at a scale of 1:10, including section/profile details where necessary and all 
types of finishes, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The submitted details must be referenced against the approved plans, and must 
show the relationship with the surrounding fabric. The works shall then proceed in strict 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reasons: Details are required prior to works commencing because insufficient detail was 
submitted with the application to preserve the setting of the adjacent listed building. 
 
3.   No works shall commence on the relevant parts of the proposal hereby approved until 
a full material schedule has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The submitted schedule must specify in detail the proposed methods 
of workmanship proposed as well. The relevant parts of the work shall be carried out in 
accordance with such approved details. 
 
Reason: Details are required prior to works commencing because insufficient detail was 
submitted with the application to preserve the setting of the adjacent listed building. 
 
4.   The biodiversity enhancement recommendations within the Protected Species (bat) 
Report dated April 2021 (page 11) shall be installed and photographic evidence shall be 
submitted to the LPA in the form of photographs immediately following completion of the 
works. 
 
Reason: To ensure a net gain in biodiversity in accordance with the NPPF and policy 
CP16. 

Page 205



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

 
5.  Any lighting should adhere to ILP & BCT Guidance 08/18.  Lighting should not 
illuminate the bat roosting provision (biodiversity enhancement measures) or the boundary 
vegetation. 
 
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and biodiversity from light 
pollution. 
 
6.   The erection of fencing (in accordance to BS5837 standards) for the protection of any 
retained tree shall be undertaken before any equipment, machinery, or materials are 
brought onto the site for the purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until all 
equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.  Nothing 
shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the 
ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, 
without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the protection and long term viability of retained trees and to minimise 
the impact of construction activity 
 
7.   The development hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the 
following plans received:- 

- Location Plan, drawing BK/MJL received March 2021 
- Proposed Staircase 1:50 (ref 01) (amended May 2021) 
- Proposed Garden/Machinery Store (ref 02) 
- Site Plan with Carport/Garage, Staircase, Garden Store 1:1000, drawing Kemp/MJL 

(ref 03) 
- Block Plan of Carport/Garage and Staircase 1:500 (ref 04) 
- Proposed Window Details and Sections (ref 05) 
- Proposed Barn Elevations & Sections 1:200 (ref 06) 
- Garage/Carport Elevations, BK004, dated Jan 2021 

 
Reason: In the interests of proper planning and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 
Informatives: 
 
 
1. 
The applicant is advised that one or more of the Conditions attached to this permission 
need to be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before works can 
commence on site.   Details, plans or samples required by Conditions should be submitted 
to the Council at least 8 weeks in advance of the start date of works to give adequate time 
for these to be dealt with.    If works commence on site before all of the pre-
commencement Conditions are discharged then this would constitute commencement of 
development without the benefit of planning permission and could result in Enforcement 
action being taken by the Council.  The submitted details should be clearly marked with 
the following information: 
- The name of the planning officer who dealt with application 
- The application case number 

Page 206



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

- Your contact details 
- The appropriate fee 
Further information, application forms and guidance can be found on the Council's website 
- www.winchester.gov.uk. 
 
2. 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (Feb 2019), Winchester City Council (WCC) 
take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, working with applicants 
and agents to achieve the best solution. To this end WCC: 
- offer a pre-application advice service and, 
- update applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application, where possible suggesting alternative solutions. 
In this instance a site meeting was carried out with the applicant. 
 
3. 
The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan policies 
and proposals:- 
Local Plan Part 1 Joint Core Strategy: CP16 
Local Plan Part 2:  DM15, DM16, DM17, DM23, DM24, DM27 
 
4. 
This permission is granted for the following reasons: 
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out above, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted. 
 
5. 
All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant operation 
should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs Monday to Friday and 
0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 
Flexibility of hours may be acceptable due to the Covid-19 emergency in line with the 
Business and Planning Bill 2019-21 https://services.parliament.uk/Bills/2019-
21/businessandplanning.html 
 
Where allegations of noise from such works are substantiated by the Environmental 
Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of operation under The Control of Pollution 
Act 1974 may be served. Where construction site working hours are limited by a planning 
condition you can apply under Section 74B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
which provides a temporary fast track to vary existing conditions. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/construction-working-hours-draft-
guidance/draft-guidance-construction-site-hours-deemed-consent 
 
6. 
During Construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of statutory 
nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an Abatement Notice 
may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. The applicant is reminded 
that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of materials is a direct offence under 
The Clean Air Act 1993. 

Page 207



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Case No: 21/00471/HOU 
 

 

 
7. 
Please be respectful to your neighbours and the environment when carrying out your 
development. Ensure that the site is well organised, clean and tidy and that facilities, 
stored materials, vehicles and plant are located to minimise disruption. Please consider 
the impact on your neighbours by informing them of the works and minimising air, light and 
noise pollution and minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and working on public or 
private roads. Any damage to these areas should be remediated as soon as is practically 
possible. 
For further advice, please refer to the Construction Code of Practise 
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-
practice 
 
8. 
Please be advised that Building Regulations approval may be required for this 
development. Please contact WCC Building Control Department for more information 
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/building-control 
 
 
 
 

Page 208



Greenwood Manor, Greenwood Lane, 
Durley, SO32 2AP

Install 2no windows and external staircase and exit, with a gabled canopy, to rear 
elevation of previously-converted stable building; erect carport and enclosed garage 
combined to front drive and single equipment/store building in rear garden (within 

the curtilage of a listed building; amended proposal)

Reference : 21/00471/HOU

1

P
age 209



2

P
age 210



3

• Site sits outside the settlement boundary; 
residential curtilage throughout site

• Dwelling only Grade II Listed (shaded above)
• Land just outside of red edge to the 

northwest, north and northeast is within the 
East Horton Golf Club’s ownership

• Land shaded northwest designated 
SINC with Ancient Woodlands beyond
(WCC map below)

P
age 211



1. Proposed rear 
landing/stairs and 2 rear-
facing windows to first 
floor of converted barn

2. Proposed carport/garage 
to front of dwelling

3. Proposed garden store to 
rear garden

4

Proposed Site Plan

1

2

3

P
age 212



Proposed Rear Elevation (Barn) – Staircase, Windows

5

6.5m

3m 
approx

2.5 
approx

1.25m

Windows 
1640 x 1200

2.5 
approx

Cone Foundations 
0.6 x 0.45

Ridge of Barn for reference

6.5m

1.4m
approx

Materials (slate and timber stained brown) and joinery details included as 
pre-commencement condition to be approved by our Historic Environment officer.

2.5m

P
age 213



Proposed Carport / Garage (front garden)

6

Materials (brick plinth, slate, timber stained brown) included as 
pre-commencement condition to be approved by our Historic Environment officer. 

NE Elevation SE Elevation

SW Elevation NW Elevation

2.35m 
approx

P
age 214



Proposed Garden Store (rear garden)

7

Materials (brick plinth, slate, timber stained brown) included as 
pre-commencement condition to be approved by our Historic Environment officer. 

3.5m 
ridge

2.2m 
eaves

Slab 
-15cm

P
age 215



8

1. View (above) looking from the front drive toward the front of the property. 
Proposed garage location left of the dwelling (white car), barn behind tree.

1

2

1

P
age 216



9

2. View from front drive toward 
proposed garage/carport
3. View of side garden and gate 
access
4. Hedges cut back to boundary 
line in proposed site of 
garage/carport, retaining some 
hedge at boundary for screening

2

2 3

4

4

2

3

P
age 217



10

6. (Right) view from 
garden back to boundary 
of proposed garden 
building. The stick 
demonstrates the front 
left corner of the 
proposed building.
Golf course land beyond 
private to club members, 
not public ROW.

2
3

6

5
6

5. (Left) combined photos 
demonstrating location of rear 
garden storage building as seen 
from golf course. The nearest 
tree will be approx 10m away 
from front of proposed building.

5

P
age 218



11

8. (Above) Front elevation of converted barn with storage areas to ground floor.
9. (Centre) Upper floor open planned with inside wall of proposed staircase/windows.

2
3

8
7

7. (Left) Rear elevation of converted barn as 
seen from inside garden boundary; 
staircase and windows proposed as above.

5

9

7

8

9

P
age 219



12

10

10. (Left) Public views of front of site from 
ROW path. (Land from foreground hedge to 
fence centre considered private land to golf 
club.) 

11. (Below, left) Views from boundary toward 
15th hole and ancient woodland beyond within 
Club’s private land.

12. (Below, right) View from standing on 15th

hole back to rear of the dwelling, within Club’s 
private land.

9

10

8

11

11 12

12

Public & Private Views

P
age 220



13

13. (Left) View from golf course nearer to boundary of rear 
elevation of proposal site.

14. (Below) Further views from near 15th hole toward 
proposal site’s proposed garden store location and existing 
ancillary building of Greenwood Farm.

5

10

13

13

14

14

Further Private Views

P
age 221



14

15

15. Neighbouring site:
Greenwood Farm – brick building 
is ancillary building to host 
dwelling.

16. View back toward boundary.

17. View along boundary fence

18. View from proposal site back 
toward ancillary building’s side 
elevation.

5

9

15

8

17

11 12

18

16

17 18

16

Neighbouring Site

P
age 222



15

21

19. Neighbouring site: Greenwood Farm –
Views from forward of ancillary building back to rear 
elevation of proposal site with views of the barn roof. 

20. View closer to boundary with views of barn roof.

21. View from drive back to where proposed 
garage/carport is to be built. (Hedge approx 3-3.5m)

5

18

19-20

19

Neighbouring Site (continued)

20 21

P
age 223



1. Proposed rear landing/stairs and 2 rear-
facing windows to first floor of converted 
barn

2. Proposed carport/garage to front of 
dwelling

3. Proposed garden store to rear garden

16

Proposal Summary

1

2

3

P
age 224



  
 

PDC1183 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 

REPORT TITLE: CONFIRMATION OF TPO2294 – HOCKLEY GOLF CLUB, 
WINCHESTER ROAD, TWYFORD. 
 
26 MAY 2021 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER: Cabinet Member for Built Environment and 
Wellbeing 

Contact Officer:  Ivan Gurdler    Tel No 01962 848403 Email 
igurdler@winchester.gov.uk  

WARD(S):  COLDEN COMMON AND TWYFORD   
 
 

 

 
PURPOSE 

To consider confirmation of Tree Preservation Order 2294 to which one letter of 
objection and two letters of support have been received.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That having taken into consideration the representations received, Tree Preservation 

Order 2294 be confirmed.  

 

 

Page 225

Agenda Item 15

mailto:igurdler@winchester.gov.uk


  PDC1183 
 

 

 

IMPLICATIONS: 
 

1 COUNCIL PLAN OUTCOME  

1.1 Tackling the Climate Emergency and Creating a Greener District 

1.2 Trees represent an important environmental, economic and amenity resource 
within the built and natural environment. They are recognised within the 
England Forestry Strategy (1998), SW Regional Forestry Framework (2005) 
and national and regional Biodiversity Action Plans. 

1.3 Mature trees such as this group at Hockley Golf Course, play a key role in 
helping to tackle the climate emergency and create a greener district. They 
directly remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere and convert this to stored 
carbon. Additionally they are important for biodiversity both in their own right 
and as a habitat for other species.  Therefore, the protection of this group of 
trees and woodland will contribute towards the council’s objectives to reduce 
the effects of global warming and carbon emissions as well as supporting the 
Biodiversity Action Plan. 

1.4 The climate crisis remains a significant, long term challenge in the coming 
years and decades, and there is a growing ecological crisis too. Winchester 
City Council has committed to tackle these emergencies by producing a 
carbon neutrality action plan, biodiversity action plan and a tree management 
plan to ensure the district is handed across to future generations in a better 
condition than it is currently.  One way to achieve the council’s objectives as 
set out in these policies is to safeguard trees that are identified as worthy of 
protection.  

1.5 Homes for all 

1.6 None  

1.7 Vibrant Local Economy 

1.8 None 

1.9 Living Well 

1.10 The protection of these trees supports the priority of "Living Well" by helping 
to enhance the street view and open spaces through their high amenity and 
aesthetic value, thereby supporting good mental and physical health for 
residents of all ages.  

1.11 Your Services, Your Voice 

1.12 None 

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

Page 226



  PDC1183 
 

 

 

2.1 There are no financial implications for the City Council at this stage. 
Compensation is potentially payable only where sufficient evidence has been 
provided by an applicant to support an application to carry out works to the 
protected tree and where that application is refused. 
 

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

3.1 This report is in line with the council’s legal procedures in relation to making 
and confirming TPOs. 

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 There are sufficient resources to respond to any works arising from the 
confirmation of this TPO.  

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 None 

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION  

6.1 On serving of the Tree Preservation Order (TPO), the landowner and 
immediate neighbours were notified and allowed 28 days to object. 

6.2 One letter of objection and two letters of support were received to this TPO.  

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 Trees contribute a key role in helping to tackle the climate emergency and 
creating a greener district. They not only directly remove carbon dioxide from 
the atmosphere and provide us with oxygen but also deliver many other 
benefits including:- 

 Providing visual public amenity, softening or complementing the effect of 
the built environment  

 Displaying seasonal changes and providing opportunities for biodiversity 

 Making places more comfortable in noticeable ways by contributing to 
screening and shade, reducing wind speed and turbulence, reduce 
flooding by intercepting snow and rainfall, and reducing sun glare.  

7.2 Trees are also a key element of the green infrastructure network, contributing 
to urban cooling and providing micro climate effects which help reduce energy 
demands on buildings. They therefore represent a key resource that can 
significantly contribute to climate change adaptation.  

8 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

8.1 None 

Page 227



  PDC1183 
 

 

 

 
9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

9.1 None  

10 RISK MANAGEMENT  

10.1 None  

 

Risk Mitigation Opportunities 

Property  
N/A 

N/A 

Community 
Support 

N/A N/A 

Timescales N/A N/A 

Project capacity N/A N/A 

Financial / VfM N/A N/A 

Legal N/A N/A 

Innovation N/A N/A 

Reputation The loss of reputation if the 
council fails to safeguard 
trees worthy of protection in 
light of the climate 
emergency and Biodiversity 
Action Plan 

Officers to ensure they 
appropriately assess 
whether a tree is worthy 
of protection and provide 
clear evidence to 
members to justify the 
decision using the 
TEMPO methodology. 

Other   

 
 

11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION: 

11.1 This matter comes to Planning Committee because one objection to the 
making of TPO 2294 has been received and has not been withdrawn.  

11.2 On 8th February 2021 the Principal Tree Officer received two emails, one from 
Twyford Parish Council and one from a Colden Common  and Twyford ward 
member informing him that a group of mature beech trees around the water 
reservoir at Hockley Golf Course were under immediate threat of felling.  

11.3 Following his visit on the 8th February 2021, TPO 2294 was made on 15th 
February 2021.  If TPO 2294 is not confirmed, the TPO will expire on 14th 
August 2021.  

11.4 The group of trees within TPO 2294 (G1) consist of 29 mature beech trees 
and 1 maturing yew.  G1 surrounds a water reservoir that feeds water to the 
golf course greens.  G1 is in full public view from the adjacent public right of 
way and track which is regularly used by walkers. The trees are growing on 
elevated ground and therefore are a prominent feature in the local landscape 

Page 228



  PDC1183 
 

 

 

and are highly visible from the golf course car park, which has a right of way 
passing through.  

11.5 To the west of G1 is a woodland. For completeness this woodland (W1) has 
also been included in TPO 2294 by means of the woodland category. In 
addition a number of mature yew trees have been protected by the individual 
tree category to the north of W1 as the public right of way passes through this 
woodland.  

11.6 The protection of the group of trees and woodland by a Tree Preservation 
Order is in accordance with Government guidance which states that “orders 
should be used to protect selected trees if their removal would have a 
significant negative impact on the local environment and its enjoyment by the 
public.” The proposed removal of the 29 beech, 1 yew, and any future felling 
within W1 would have a significant negative impact on the local environment 
and its enjoyment by the public.  
 

11.7 There are no arboricultural reasons or justification provided for the felling of 
G1, there is no history of tree failure and no reports of structural damage 
being caused to the water reservoir. There are no dwellings or neighbouring 
properties near to the trees.  

 
12 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  

At the time that TPO 2294 was served, the City Council received 1 letter of 
objection, and 2 letters of support.   

 
13 SUMMARY OF OBJECTION  

 
13.1 The owners of the golf course object to TPO 2294 as it prevents them from 

felling the 29 beech and 1 yew (G1) which are located around the water 
reservoir that feeds the water to the greens.  They propose to fell the trees 
within G1 as the leaf litter from the trees creates silt within the water reservoir 
that causes blockages in the watering system.  They propose replanting the 
area around the reservoir with wildlife friendly plants.   

 
13.2 In addition, they state that the South Downs National Park countryside 

ranger’s opinion is that the removal of G1would not have a significant impact 
on the local landscape.  A felling licence has been issued by the Forestry 
Commission for the removal and thinning of the trees across the whole golf 
course.   

 
14. SUMMARY OF SUPPORT LETTERS  

 
14.1 Two letters of support of the TPO have been received.  One from Twyford Parish 

Council and the other from one of the Colden Common and Twyford ward 
councillors.   
 

14.2 The parish council has stated the following in their letter of support:  
 

Page 229



  PDC1183 
 

 

 

“The trees in this area form a significant visual feature in the landscape and 
the treescape is of high public amenity value with a public right of way passing 
through the area.  The council also understands that the trees support bat 
commuting routes and that the habitat of the pond environs provides foraging 
for barn owls”. 

 
“Moreover the felling of two mature yew trees immediately following the 
Arboricultural Officer’s visit give the council further concern about the 
management of this landscape and therefore reinforces the requirement for 
this TPO”  

 
14.3 The WCC local member has stated in her letter of support the following:  

 
“I like the Twyford Parish Council am in strong support for the above Tree 
Preservation Order to be enforced and not to be removed” 

 
“These trees in the area form a Significant Visual Feature of the landscape. 
They are also High Public Amenity Value with a Public Right Of Way passing 
through the area also mentioned on the map”. 
 
“Both the Parish Council and myself as one of the Ward Councillors is most 
DEFINITELY of the view that the proposed works for the site (as there is 
currently no wide Woodland Management Plan) is not selectively thinning but 
removing significant and a distinct group of trees around the reservoir and it is 
not justified!” 
 
“So in conclusion with reference to the TPOs that have been temporarily 
placed on certain trees and they are shown in the map that was supplied by 
the Arboricultural Team, I should like to enforce that they are fully supported 
and are placed on these trees for evermore!” 

  
15. ARBORICULTURAL OFFICER’S RESPONSE  

 
15.1. The 29 beech trees and 1 yew that are located within G1 are mature trees.  

The beech trees are estimated to be between 60- 80 years old and the yew, 
20 years plus.  The beech trees have in excess of 250 years remaining safe 
useful life expectancy, with the yew in excess of a further 800 years.  From a 
ground visual inspection it was noted that the trees are of reasonable health 
with good bud and twig density that are evenly distributed throughout the 
groups tree canopy to indicate that the trees are of good health.   

 
15.2 The location of the trees is correct for the species. Beech trees are a 

characteristic species of the southern chalk down land and contribute an 
important feature in the character and setting of the South Downs National 
Park. The proposed removal of G1 will have a detrimental impact on the local 
landscape. The trees within G1 and W1 cannot only be seen from the public 
right of way that runs through the golf course but can also be seen as a 
prominent feature in the landscape when viewed at a distance from the 

Page 230



  PDC1183 
 

 

 

opposite side of the valley from the public right of way, giving them high visual 
public amenity value.  

 
15.3 The trees within G1 & W1 which are protected by TPO 2294 make a large 

tight symmetrical cohesive group. The threatened removal of G1 will create a 
large void in the tree cover and create asymmetrical group of trees of which 
will be highly noticeable locally and also from the opposite of the valley on the 
public right of way.  

 
15.4 There has been no arboricultural justification to justify the felling of G1, or any 

landscape plan submitted to mitigate the loss of G1.  The Secretary of State’s 
guidance is in general terms, the higher the amenity value of the tree or 
woodland and the greater any negative impact of proposed works on amenity, 
the stronger the reasons needed before consent is granted. 

 
15.5 Large numbers of ash trees have recently been felled on the golf course 

because of Ash Die Back, which has created large gaps in the trees cover on 
the golf course. In addition two large mature yew trees (T1 & T2) with an 
estimated age of 140 years old have recently been felled because they cast 
shade on the adjacent greens. The confirmation of TPO 2294 to protect the 
remaining trees will ensure there is no further loss of trees in this area.  .  

 
15.6 A Tree Evaluation Method for Preservation Orders (Tempo) has been carried 

out. The trees scored a total of 21 points which means the trees merit a TPO.  
  

16. South Downs National Park Local Plan  
 

16.1 Purpose1 of the South Downs National Park (SDNP) local plan adopted 2nd 
July 2019 states: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and 
cultural heritage of the area.  

  
16.2 Point 1 of the SDNP local plan objectives is to Conserve and enhance the 

landscapes of the National Park   
 
16.3 Point 6 of the SDNP local plan objectives is to adapt well and to mitigate 

against the impacts of climate change and other pressures.  
 
16.4 South Downs National Park policy SD11 gives the following guidance:  
 

The purpose of policy SD11 is to ensure the management, including 
conservation and enhancement of existing trees, woodland and hedgerows, 
and to ensure that opportunities for restoration and new planting is realised.  

  

16.5 The appropriate objectives to this TPO of the SDNP Policy SD11 are set out 
below. 

 
1. Development proposals will be permitted where they conserve and 

enhance trees, hedgerows and woodlands. 

Page 231



  PDC1183 
 

 

 

2. Development proposals that affect trees, hedgerows and woodland must 
demonstrate that they have been informed by a full site survey, including 
an Ecological Survey, Arboricultural Method Statement and associated 
Tree Protection Plan, and include a management plan. 

3. The removal of protected trees, groups of trees woodland or hedgerows 
will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances and in accordance 
with the relevant legislation, policy and good practice recommendations. 
Where protected trees are subject to felling, a replacement of an 
appropriate number, species and size in an appropriate location will be 
required. 

 
16.6  With regard to the felling licence, the Forestry Commission in England and 

Wales does not take account of the public amenity value of the trees when 
granting a felling license.  Rather they expect Local Planning Authorities to 
identify if the felling will impact on the visual amenity value of the area and to 
issue a TPO if relevant.  The TPO will override the felling licence.   

  
16.7   The proposed removal of G1 contravenes the policies laid out in the SDNP 

local plan, and the SDNP local plan purpose. The TPO has been placed on 
the trees to preserve and enhance the landscape in accordance with the 
policies laid down within the SDNP local plan.    The area ranger office for the 
South Downs National Park has been contacted in regard to the felling of the 
29 beech trees, and their response is as follows:  

 
          “There appears to have been a miscommunication concerning the extent of 

the proposed works. The understanding of the area team was around the 
selective removal of a small number of trees in line with the license agreement 
for ‘selective thinning’ rather than the full removal of the 29 trees surrounding 
the pond as since disclosed by the WCC tree officer. In the context of a 
landscape losing a significant number of trees to ash dieback, felling of non-
ash species in high volume requires careful consideration”. 

 
          “From the available correspondence the SDNPA area ranger team does not 

perceive the advice given to be against or in support of the proposed works 
prior to the formalisation of the TPO. Rather, advice was given on the basis 
that proposed works would be completed in accordance with the HGCs felling 
license agreement and following consultation with the relevant officer. 

          The default position for the area ranger team is to remain neutral with respect 
to planning decisions as we seek to work with the landowner in the best 
interests of the SDNP regardless of the outcome”.  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:- 

Planning Practice Guidance – Tree Preservation Orders and trees in conservation 
areas. 

Tree Evaluation Method for Preservation Orders- (TEMPO)   

APPENDICES:  Appendix 1 TPO map.  

Page 232



  PDC1183 
 

 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Page 233



  PDC1183 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 234



Plan HereConfirmation of TPO 2294 

Hockley Golf Course

P
age 235



HISTORY

Tree officer was notified by e mail that the golf 

course were proposing to fell a group of significant  

Beech trees that are surrounding a water reservoir 

at the golf Course. 

The tree officer visited the site on 8th February  

and TPO 2294 was served 15th February 2021 and 

will expire on 14th August if not confirmed. 

At the time that TPO 2294 was served,  one letter 

of objection and two letters of support were 

received.

P
age 236



LOCATION MAP 

W1

G1 

Red Lines are 

Public Rights of 

Way 

Reservoir  

Club 

House & 

Car park 

M3 

Winchester Road 

P
age 237



LONG DISTANCE VIEW OF TREES FROM OPPOSITE 

SIDE OF VALLEY  

P
age 238



SUMMARY OF OBJECTION 

The golf course raised an objection to the TPO as 

they had intended to remove the trees because of 

leaf litter from the trees  silting up the filters to  

irrigation system to the greens.

The golf course manager planned to remove the 

trees around the water reservoir and   to re-

landscape  the area around the reservoir with  

plants for wildlife habitat 

The golf course manager  had discussed their 

planned works with a countryside ranger from the 

SDNP who did not raise any objection to the felling 

of the trees.

P
age 239



SUMMARY OF OBJECTIONS CONTINUED 

The golf course manager wanted to fell the trees to 

have clean water for the golf courses irrigation 

system.  

The golf course has obtained a felling licence from 

the forestry commission to thin groups of trees at 

the golf course, not clear fell.  

P
age 240



SUMMARY OF SUPPORT LETTERS 

Twyford Parish Council and the WCC local ward 

member strongly object to the felling of the trees 

within G1 and  fully support the confirmation of the  

TPO. 

Both the Parish Council and WCC ward member 

recognise the importance of these trees in the 

landscape and their high visual public amenity.

Summary of comments of support received can be 

viewed in the committee report. 

P
age 241



W1
G1

Public Right of 

Way 

View of trees from carpark 

P
age 242



G1

P
age 243



Water reservoir 

P
age 244



G1
W1

View of G1 & W1 looking down the hill towards carpark 

Water reservoir  

P
age 245



Public Right of Way passing through W1 

P
age 246



W1 outside edge 

P
age 247



T3 – Yew 

P
age 248



T1 – image of  a mature  Yew tree felled at the golf course 

P
age 249



G1W1

Long distance view of the trees from opposite side of valley- from the Public right of 

way.   

P
age 250



W1
G1

Public Right of 

Way 

P
age 251



P
age 252



W1                             G1

P
age 253



G1                                            W1

M3 

P
age 254



Observations   

• No Arboricultural or technical reasons have been provided for the 
felling of the G1.

• No alternative solution but to fell the trees has been offered by the 
golf course to stop the leaves falling in the water. 

• No tree management plan for the site has been submitted to 
protect the retained trees.

• Due to the location of the trees they fulfil the necessary criteria for 
protection of a TPO because of their high visual public amenity 
value, and importance in the local landscape.   

• The proposed felling of G1 will have a detrimental impact on the 
landscape and is contrary to the polices of the SDNP local plan 

• The proposed removal of G1 will not alone stop windblown leaves 
from falling in to the water reservoir. 

• The TPO legislation takes priority over the felling license . 

P
age 255



Government Guidelines 

• The protection of the trees within this  Tree 

Preservation Order is in accordance with 

Government guidance which states that 

“orders should be used to protect selected 

trees if their removal would have a significant 

negative impact on the local environment and 

its enjoyment by the public.”

P
age 256



RECOMMENDATION

• That the trees within TPO 2294 to be 
confirmed as : 

• There is an immediate risk that they  will be 
felled.   

• The trees are worthy of protection because of 
their high  visual public amenity value.

• Both prompts to serve a TPO have been 
activated.  

P
age 257



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Winnall Flats, Winnall Manor Road, Winchester, SO23 0LX (Case number: 20/02729/FUL)
	Winnall Flats - presentation

	9 Rutland House, 11 Park Road, Winchester, SO22 6AA (Case number: 20/02543/FUL)
	Rutland House Powerpoint

	10 1 Earlsdown, Northbrook Avenue, Winchester, SO23 0JW (Case number: 20/01581/HOU)
	1 Earlsdown Committee Presentation

	12 Land Off New Road, Swanmore (Case number: 19/02421/FUL)
	New Road ctt presentation

	13 Straight Path Paddock, Pricketts Hill, Shedfield, Hampshire (Case number: 20/02243/FUL)
	straight path paddock committee presentation

	14 Greenwood Manor, Greenwood Lane, Durley, SO32 2AP (Case number: 21/00471/HOU)
	21.00471.HOU Greenwood Manor Preso

	15 Confirmation of TPO 2294 - Hockley Golf Club, Winchester Road, Twyford (PDC1183)
	PDC1183 - Hockley Golf couse Presentation V2


